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DEAR FELLOW
SHAREHOLDERS
2010 was very important year of transition and achievement for Chesapeake year in which we

initiated three very important strategic shifts from asset gathering to asset harvesting from focusing

exclusively on natural gas to balanced focus on natural gas and liquids and from having leveraged

balance sheet to one worthy of an investment grade rating

2010 also marked truly transformative year for oor industry We and

hancifol of oor peers eohanced oor capabil ties to fiod and procloce sq

nificant oew resoorce of oil aod natoral ga licioicls collectively dloidis in

onconveotional formations Chesapeake and these other companies combioecl

creativity iooovat 00 and technology to reinvent the way that oor oclostry

explores for aod orocloces oatoral oas and licluicls

Forthermore 2010 was the year wheo global energy companies more

folly recognized the importance of these developments and the tremendous

opportonitie that have emerged in the U.S Throogh wide variety of trans

actions indloding several led by Chesapeake the gloha energy ndostry made

it clear that the assets owned by Chesapeake and some of its peers are the most

attractive in the world This realizat on has already increased the value of high

duality unconventiona assets the U.S and time boo ead to gher

Home to three distinct forms stock prices tor the leading U.S onshore EP companies espec ally Chesapeake Simply put lie global energy

of hydrocarbons dry natural indu try is heating path to our door and we are welcoming it with open arms

gas natural gas liquids and Before we move ahead want to emphasi that even though 2010 was year of transition and achievement

oi the Eagle Ford Shale our stock price was essentially unchanged Nevertheless it was still very strong year for the company operation

in South Texas epitomizes
ally and fii ancially Here are the years highlight for your review

Chesapeakes shift to bal

anced focus on natural gas
Average daily natural gas and oil production increased 14% from 2.5 billion cubic feet of natural gas

and liquids
equivalent bcfe in 2009 to 2.8 bcfe in 2010

Proved natural gas and oil reserves increased 20% in 2010 from 14.3 trillion cubic feet of natural gas

equivalent tcte to 17.1 tcfe

Reserve replacement for 2010 reached 375% at drilling completion and net acquisition cost of only

$0.76 per thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent mcfe

Realized hedging gains were $2.1 billion

Revenues increased 22% to $9.4 billion

Adjusted ebitda increased 15% to $5.1 billion

Operating cash flow increased 5% to $4.5 billion and

Adjusted earnings per fully diluted share increased 16% to $2.95
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Chesapeakes Five-Year and Ten-Year Common Stock Performance

The cjraphs below compare the pcrforweoce of our common stock to the SOP 500 tock Index and group of peer companies for the pest ye end 10 years
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Over the past few year in aclch ion to catherine tile mdci trys best

assets Che apeake has also bu tile inrlustrys finest co ec ion ot oba

energy partners and energy stocl investor We have now entererl into

transartion with PXR BR State Total CNOOC and BHP fiton Col ec

tively we have so cI tI ese companies certain asset for total coos rler

at on of $20.5 billion tile term of cash and drill ng and completion

carries for which our net cost wa only $61 Ilion resulting in overall

valcie creation of $14.4 hi lion Whi these transact ens have been very

rewarding to onr buyers they have been trcily out tand nj for Chesapeake

providing is an attractive source of capita reduct Oil of risk guick

recovery of ocir easehold inve tment in new ay and iT cich greater

ab lity to capture large resource ha th decades of ghly profitab

dr II ng opportuni ie

In addition we are tI on U.S EP company that ha attracted

to ts stock owner hil roster sonae of the worlds leading governnaent

poi sored nvestors Temasek Ho ding Singapore China Investment

Corporat on Korea Investment Corporation ai Abci Dhahi Investment

Acithority ong with our largest shareholder Memphis Tennessee

based Socithe tern Asset Management t2 these sharel cleis aie

some of the worlds largest and me astu inve tors and who so

happen to manage some of the worlds largest pool of cap ta and have

very lono term vestment horizoi Their support is an important

ía idation of our strategy

Despite tI is all star neup of global partners and investors ome other

ulvestors have not yet tully recogn red the henef ts of our dustry

Ieadersh in acguiring unconventional natural gas and liguids as et

Whether vias our leveraged balance sheet dcirwg recent tough reces

sionary times ir heavy tocus on natural ga during me of persistent

market pessimisiaa about nat iral gas price or our large capital inve

ments in undeveloped Iguids rich easehold culdertaken to enab

Chesapeake to remain an indcistry leader 11 the years ahead it is clear

that cve were less popcilar in the stock market in 2010 than vie were

2009 wI en our stock price increased by SOo

We ant patecl that some market cupop arity in 2010 would

likely he the pr ce we wou pay as we positioned Chesapeake to he

the leader not only culconventional natciral gas hcit so

unconventional U.S licluids However now tI at we have argely com

pletecl the investments needed to accomplish th trans tion to port

to io balanced with guids the reboui dii our stock
pr ce coci he sharp

as nvestors hegii to focus more clearly oc Chesapeakes three way

transit on from an asset gatherer to an set harvester from ess natciral

gas expo ure to more iguids expo ure and from leveraged balance

sheet to one worthy of an investment grade rating

Accoid ngly in early ianciary 2011 vie announced our 25 25 Plan

two year plan designed to reduce ocir long term debt by 25c while

till growing the companys product ion by 25 We des gned this plan

to art ccilate very clearly the benefits of hecomu an set harvester
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vs an asset gatherer namely lower rlebt aod higher returns on capi

tal The market ha received th plan with favor to date as ocir stock

pr ce is ready up 30% io the tir
ciciarter

of 2011 lo additioo having

recently closed the sale of ocir Fayetteville Sha assets to BHP Billiton

and recently initiated tender otters tor repayment of at least $2.0 hi on

of onr long term deht we are ready to accomplishing the 25c

long term deht redciction portion of ocir 25/25 Plan Now we will toccis

on delivering the other part of the ecluation 25% growth prodciction

hy year end 2012

Beyond the next two years there will he many other benef ts of the

three way transition we hogan in 2010 In fact we are increasing con

fident that we can douhie our ca flow and net income hy year end

2015 By accomplishing these goals and also having our historic trading

multiples expand bit we are hopeful that we can achieve $00 stock

price by year end 2015 perhaps creating the need for 100/15 plan in

the processl early it would he an amhitious goa and to achieve it we

will need the worlds economy to continue growing China and other

emerging economies to continue their rapidly growing th rst for oil and

natura gas our new ays to meet expectation oil prices to remain

strong ai natural gas prices not to weaken from where they are today

However Chesapeakes growth from here on he very mechan ca

with our factories meaning both our md vidual we Is and our large

plays needing only four inputs for success land sc ence people and

cap tal We now have gathered enough of these four inputs so ttat our

factories can run harvest ic ode for decades to come whch hopefully

can ead to $100 stock price by year end 2015 Again this would he

very considerable ach evement hut your management team enjoys big

chal enges and we 00k forward to discus
ing

it urther with you in the

puaiters ahead

The very significant upward trajectory of value creation that Chesapeake

is on today is primar ly driven by the puality of our assets which feature

dom nant posit on 16 of the 20 most important mator unconvention

al natura gas and lipuids plays in the U.S the Barnett Haynesv lie

Boss er Marcel Eagle Ford Pearsall Niobrara and Utica hales

and the Gran te Wash eveland Tonkawa Missi sippian Bone Spring

Avalon Wolfcamp and Woltherry tight sards and tractured carbonates

Having only ssed the Bakken Shale play tI Wi lisfon Ba in havii

passed oi the Cana Shale play Ok ahoma and having sold out of

the Woodford and Faye teville shale plays in Ok ahoma acd Arkan as

for overall value creation of $5.4 hi on Chesapeakes unrivaled po

tion in the 16 other major U.S unconventional plays is remarkab and

unprecedented and should form the foundation of further substai al

value creat on for Chesapeakes shareho ders for decades to come

The gathering of these assets has been hard work for our employ

ees and management eam and during 2010 it stretched our balance

sheet and tested the patiei ce of ome of our shareholders What

clear now however is that we have created tremen

dous storehouse of value ard an abundance oppor

tunit es for hountifu harvests for years to come for our

shareholders

von the importai ce of the 16 inconvei tiona

plays have prov dod below brief summary of our pos

tion in each of them

Barnett Shale Discovered the 1990s the Barnett is the

granddaddy of shale ays Chesapeake acprared

ts rst assets in the Barnett in 2001 and 2005 we began

aggress vely leas ng in the core of the ay in ohnson and

Tarrant counties oday we own approximately 220000

net easehold acre on which we estimate we cou drill

up to 2300 future net wel addition to our 965 net

well currently producing We are irrently using 18 gs to

develop tI is inventory of drillsites and our gross operated

product on in the Barnett ecently set record of more

ti ai 1.3 bcfe per day

Our most importai developmer the Ban Shale

during 2010 was using the joint venture agreement on

25% of our assets ii the Barneft to Paris based Total

the fth largest oi company the world Total pa

The knowledge and experience Chesapeake gained in the Barnett Shale the granddaddy

of all IfS shale plays has been instrumental in the companys successful development

of all subsequent unconventional natural gas and liquids plays
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Several factors are emerging in the U.S that will drive increased

demand for natural gas which in turn could improve out year

natural gas prices

Growing momentum for CNG passenger and LNG long-haul

truck vehicles

Enormous cost savings are available to consumers and business

es that chose to use natural gas as an alternative transportation

fuel $1.39 pergallon forCNG in Oklahoma for example compared

to $37544.00 per gallon for gasoline and diesel

Growing industrial demand

With recent low prices for domestic natural gas U.S industries

that utilize natural gas as feedstock in their manufacturing pro

cesses have significant cost advantage compared with inter

national peers whose feedstock is indexed either to oil or global

natural gas prices

Continuing and accelerating shift from coal to natural gas for

U.S electrical power generation

To clean our environment dozens of aging coal-powered elec

tricity plants will be retired in the next decade and replaced

with the cleaner alternative of natural gas combination of

shifting power sources and higher utilization within existing

gas-fired power plants will likely increase natural gas demand by

10-iS bcf per day over the next decade

Conversion of U.S LNG import facilities to LNG export

facilities

With increasing demand for natural gas around the

world and the abundance of U.S natural gas reserves

producers will be able to tap into higher-margin markets

in Europe South America and Asia once export capa

bilities are available potentially beginning in 2015

Construction of U.S gas-to-liquids GTL plants

Converting natural gas to room temperature liquid

would allow U.S natural gas producers to sell products

based on world oil prices instead of domestic natural gas

prices Technological advancements continue to gain

traction and may makeGTL realistic possibility by2016

U.S natural gas producers are rapidly moving to

more liquids-rich production base

Due to the premium margins realized in the U.S when

producing liquids as compared to natural gas there is

meaningful shift of producers targeting liquids rich

drilling prospects This shift will ultimately help bring

U.S natural gas markets back into balance by reducing the rigs

and capital available for natural gas drilling

$2.25 hi ion rn cash and cirilhng carries for its 25c stake
ri

the

Barr ett and we are extremely proud to have Total as one at our

premier 10
nt ver tcrre partners

Haynesville Shale Tile Haynesvr le Sha Northwest Lauisr

ana and Ea exas is tile shale play ot wh ch we are most procici

to date hecause was discovered hy Che apeakes owr gao

scientr ts ar ci eng neers We cancicicteci our gea cientitrc rnves

gatran ot the Haynesvr le in 2005 06 ar ci tested acir theor es

ti rocigh ciril ing rn 2002 ii 2000 we farmed all nnavative joint

ventcrre agreement with our wel respected inclu try partner

Houston haseci arns Explarat on Pracicictian Company to

xvi ich we so ci
20c at our Haynesvrl and Bossier assets tar

appraxrmate $3.2 bil iac cash and dr ilrncj carrres

The Haynesvrlle Shale is now the nat ons largest pradcrc ng

natcrrai gas shale play havrng just recently passed the Bamnett

Sha rn product on rn ast years letter incorrectly mated

wau aVe until 014 tar tile Naynesv lie to reach thi achreve

rTent testamer to the plays enormous productrve paten

tia Ultimate recoveries tram tile Haynesvrte ca rid exceed 250

tcte Ike lfakrng it one at the Fve largest atura gas fields

the war Today we are producing tram more thac 260 net

weis the Haynesvklie or our 530000 cat leasehold acres

are currently dr ing wrth 35 gs and est ma we could drill

crp to 6300 additrana net wells in the years ahesci Ocrr grass

operated product an in tile Hayne yr recently set record at

early 16 hcte per day

Bossier Shale This sha

averires ahacrt one th rd

at our Hayr esvr le acre

age and tile rst at our

wa eeper nat rral ga

shale plays he reason is

ti at rr Louis arm eases

often restr ci the lessee

i.e the pradcrcer to only

hold ng tuture drrl ing

gilt clown through the

deepes tarmatran dr lied

Becau the Bass er lies

ahave tile HaynesvU

Li

One producing and one on the way the Texas Panhandle Granite

Wash otters high volumes ot natural gas accompaniedhy highly

valued liquids production as well
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horizontal vie Is drilled
ju to the Bossier may oot always hold Hayoes

yule ohts Therefore Chesaoeafre anrl other ororlurers have heei dril jog

aggressively to hold all ghts througl the Haynesville hetore the io tial

hree year term of typiral ex expires As resu there as oot heeo

rriurh drilling to the Bossier to date However oore our lease are held

hy production HBP by Haynesville dlril ing vie expert to be largely

romp ete vi th HBP rlrilling by year end 2011 anrl romplete finisherl hy

year eod 2012 we II begin developing the Bossier Shale more aggres

sive u2O13 In the Bo sier play we own 205000 net leasel old acre aod

estimate we could drill up to 2600 net wells io the year ahead

Generating the highest returns in the company plays like the Oklahoma Colony Granite

Wash inspire Chesapeake to find other liquids-rich opportunities

Marcellus Shale We first became aware of the Marcellus in 2005

when we were negotiat ng our $2.2 bill on arguis tion of Appalachias

econd largest natura gas producer Columbia Natural Resources

In 2007 we aggress ye accelerated our Marce lus leaseho arguisition

efforts and began to prepare for our first drilling activities By early 200B

we had determined the Narrellus mu he prospective over an area of

approximate 15 nil ion net acres approximate five times arger

than the prospective Hayi esv core area and 10 mes larger than the

Barnett core area

Af er argu ruig 1.6 illion net lea ehold acres xve entered into

to
nt vei ture agreement in late 2006 xv th Oslo based Statoi one of the

largest and im respected European ei orgy compai ies tI is trans

action we sold Statoil 32.5% of our Naice lus assets for 53.375 hi on

in rash arid di lung rai ries Today having sold 32.5 of our org ix 1.6

million net aseho acres xve have returned to own ng 1.7 ii illion net

easel acres in the ay and are the ndustrys leading easeho

owner largest proclurer and mos active developer We are produr ng

from moro than 100 net wells in the Narrell is on our 1.7 nrn lion net acres

are currently dri 1mg with gs and estimate xve dOLl drill up to 21000

acidit ona net we Is in the years ahead

Colony and Texas Panhandle Granite Wash These

liguici rirl ays generate tI companys ighest return

routinely more than 100% ar provided the in rat oi

for the company to nd other liguicis rich play 2010

The Granite Wash and other ay xvith liclu ds rich ga

pioduction stream provide the strongest emonom rs in

the ii du try today because they possess the best of both

vior ds high volume natural ga production ong vath

signifirai vo ui ies of high va ued ligu ds tI at dramatically increase

investmei returns

We are prod iruig from approxx nately 150 net Gran te Wash

xvel are currently dri ling xv th 16 rigs and estimate xve mu drill

up to 1700 additional net xvel on our 215000 net easehold acres

the years ahead Based on current NYNEX futures pr res for natu

ral gas and oil each Grar ite Wash viell should generate approxi

mate $11 million of presei va ue or up to an md srounted

total of $19.5 hi or for 11700 xvel making it ohviou wI finding

easing and developing more unror vei tim al lidluids rich plays xva

Chesapeakes number one priority for 2010 We viere very successful
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witi these new play efforts tile rrìo ootah of which are ciescriberl

the sec ioos heiow

Eagle Ford Shale This South Texas shaie is chstinctive from the other

shale plays riesrriheri ahove hecxuse
it ha three components ai oii

play wet oatLirai gas play and ciry natural gas play Ociring 2009 10

Chesapeake acgu reci approximate 600000 Eagie Ford net ieasei oiri

arres at of which were in the igu cls rich portions of the ay Our ioitia

wells were very successtu and vi iate 2010 vie sold 33.3% of our assets

in the play to Beipng based Ch ese National Offshore Ui Company

CNOOC for $2.2 Mion in cash and clrif no carries Th was CNOOCs

fir vestment in the U.S onshore EP industry and we are proud that

it
chose Chesapeake its first U.S onsi ore partner We are currently

drill ng th 16 rigs this play and expect to accelerate our drill ng to

4U
rigs hy year end 2013 We he ieve our 470000 net easehold acre

position could support tile clril ing of up to 5500 additional net we Is

in the years ahead

Pearsall Shale Th sha underlies most of our Eagle Ford acreage

and is the second eeper of our natural gas sha plays We have two

rigs
clecl catecl to testing this formation and our first few wells have

gnif cantly exceeded our expecta ions This format on ouncl ahout

3000 4000 feet deeper than the Eagle Ford and so for the play to

become competitive with our other natural gas shale ays we will need

natural gas prices
to strengthen from where they are today We he ieve

thi will likely occur in 2013 at the atest We believe our 350000 net

acre Pearsa leasehold posit on could support the drilling of up to 3000

addit onal net wel

Niobrara Shale The Niohrara is two Uasin play covering sub tan

tial port ons of both the Powder River Ba in of east central Wyom ng

and the Di Ba in of southeastern Wyoming and northeastern Colorado

Dciring 2006 10 Chesapeake acpu red approximately 600000 net lea

hold acres in these two ipu ds rich basin and in early 2011 we sold

33.3c of our assets in the play CNOOC for approximately $1.3 bil ion

Chesapeake discovery Louisianas Haynesville Shale recently passed the Barn ett Shale to be come the nations largest producing shale play The Haynesville

comes with an added attraction much of it is overlain by another prolific natural gas-producing formation the Bossier Shale
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in co and cli hog carrie This was CNOOCs second inves merit th

esaoeale or ci its second investment in the U.S onshore EP industry

We are currently dr incj with ive rigs in this play and expect to acce er

ate our rlrrllrncj to 15 rig hy year eon 2013 We he ieve 05 leaseho ci

positron coo ci suppor tile dr lung ot op to 7500 additional et wells

Cleveland Tonkawa and Mississippian Plays These three hrciurds rich

ploys ot the Anodarko Ba in should become gort cant contributors to

our grow liii the years ahead he Cleveland and onkawa plays ore

tight sandstor located in western Oklahoma and the eosterr Texa

Panhand and they prov de return that are some ot the very host

Natural gas and oH operations continue to grow and ex

pand across the country as vast new resources are un

iocked through the process of hydraulic fracturing or

fracking proven technology that has been used safely

and successfully in the completion of more than million

U.S wells since 1949

During the fracking process mixture of approximately

ggo3 water and sand combined with small amount of

chemical additives is pumped at high pressure into

targeted formation to create small fissures or fractures in

the surrounding rock or shale These fractures are

kept propped open by the sand to allow the natural

gas or oil to freely flow into wellbore

in our continuing efforts to educate the public and

alleviate common misconceptions about hydraulic

fracturing Chesapeake became one of the first

energy companies to disclose the additives used

in the process We are actively participating in

national publicly accessible web-based registry

developed by the Ground Water Protection Council

and the Interstate Oil and Gas Compact Commission

with support of the U.S Department of Energy The

registry allows for fracking additives to be reported

on well-by-well basis and offers public access to

that material on its website Chesapeake began

loading well completion data onto the registry on

February 152011 for wells where completion reports

have been filed with the appropriate state agencies

To view the listings and learn more about the fracking

process the additives used and measurestaken to protect

fresh ground water aquifers visit www.fracfocus.org

the company We have occiuired approximate 500000 net leasehold

acres prospective tor these plays and have dri led 75 net wells to date

We are current usxig eight rigs and hehreve our leasehold could sop

port the dr ing ot op to on additional 3700 net wells

The Miss ss pprao tractured carbonate primarily an oil play and

located on tI Aoadarko Basin she lot northern Oklahoma and southern

Kan as We hove occioired approxmate 000000 net leasehold acres

pro pective tor this ploy and hove drilled 40 net wells to dote We ore

rrreot using tour rigs arid believe our leasehold could support the

drilling ot op to an additior 015000 net wells Th is an area where we

anticipate hrcigrog orot venture partner ater in 2011 or in early 2012

Bone Spring Avalon Wolfcamp and Wolfberry Plays These tour

gords ch plays ot the Permian Basin should also become srgortrcaot

contributors to our growth in the years ahead To dote we ave acpoired

approximately 550000 net leasehold acres that we believe are prospec

tive tor tI ese ploys and hove drilled 155 net wells We are currently using

eight rigs and hehieve our leasehold could support the drill ng ot up to

an additional 4400 net xve Is

Utica Shale Chesapeake has gh hopes tor this emerging hale ploy

ui eastern Ohio especro ly because it would become the tourth large

unconver tronal oy along with the Hayne lie and Bos er shale

and the Mississippian carbonate that Chesapeake has discovered In

odidit on vie believe the ploy wil have three distinct components oil

prime example of Best Management Practices for traduce stimulation this

well in Bradford County Pennsylvania is now producing natural gas from

the Marcellus Shale closely regulated completion technique tracking is

necessary to allow natural gas or oil to freely flow into the welibore
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wet natciraE gas ai ci dry oaturai gas niiiar to tile cocopooei ts of the

Eag Ford Si We have made large corcmitment to this play aoci

ha ie acguireri approxima 1.2 mi 00 oet lea ehoici acres aoci expect

to increase th to alto much as 1.5 mu 101 oet easeho ci acres io tile

coming ooths We are ccirreot using ti ree gs to evaluate tile play

and hekeve ocir leasehold could cipport tile cirit og ot up to 12000 oet

svets si an area where we anticipate hr ogii io jon venture

partner ate io 2011 or early 2012

Great assets ca000t ex st thocit grea people so we take great pr cie

hiring training motivating rewarchng and retaining
what we regard

as the hest employees in tile incicistiy From ocir beginning 22 year ago

witi 10 emp oyees ill Oklahoma City to emp oyiog more than 10000

peop across iS states today Chesapeake has alway tocuseci on bu Ici

ing
rst ass man resource xv thin distinctive corporate cu ture lall

to Che apeake emp oyees and yoci svffl ote gei ci ne pride and great

enthusiasm about he ompany and the critical role that we ay cie iv

ering increa ng guantitie of ean and attorhahle Amer cai natura gas

anci valuah ai ci reliahie kciuicls to ei ergy consumers across tile coca try

Chesapeake employees are ci stinctive in other ways vie They

are much younger ti an the ciustry average with halt our almost

4000 Oi lahoma City haseci heaclguarter employees 33 yeais old

atmosphere of ta ity anci ei ergy at Chesapeake lportant ngreci

ents of distinctive culture hese attribcites along with vihrant

and attiact ye corporate heacipuarters campus low evel of hureaci

ciacy great sets anci iveil executed corporate strategy comb ne to

create our culture of succe ann innovation

Thi has
gei

eiateh extremely positive external feecihack as

Chesapeal sva recei tly recognized for the to irth coi seccit ye year

as one of ti FOR ONE 100 Best Compan es to Work For the U.S

Ii fact we moveci up to 32 overall ai ci in our incius
ry we are

very procici of having crea ed anci sustau ed wi at now considered

tile be ace to work all of tile U.S energy production inciustry

adcht on vie svere hoi oreci in December 2010 at the 12th Anncia

Platts Global Energy Axvarcis as finalists for CEO of the Year Commui ty

Development Program of the Year Deal of the year Energy Producer

of tile Year and the Ii istry eadership Awarci Chesapeake xvas one

of on two compan es selected as inalist in five or more categories

he company was so honoreci 2010 viith ticate of Recognition

for our military ieseive recrcxting efforts named 2010 Bes Oiver

Company by Engaleering Information Technology Maga ne and rec

ognizeci for Be Investor Relat ons Energy Sector and Be Inve tor

Re ons Web ite at the 2010 IN Magaz U.S Awards

Yoci may he aware that have been itspokei in attempt ng to per ciaUe

our countrys pokt ca leadership to recognize tha the cE covery of vast

resocir of unconvent oi al natural gas anU oi tile U.S us compiete

gaie changer for our cocxltry from an economic nat ooal security
and

environmenta per pective After two years of my he efforts and ti

efforts ot many others the incicustry most notably Boone PicI ensor younger Their enthcis and xvii ngnes to learn create an





Rig lights come on at twilight in the Permian Basin of Texas where crews drill around the clock in the liquids-rich Bone Spring play This is the newest in

series of energy booms that has enabled West Texas cities like Midland to prosper for almost gg years

am eased to
report

ti at we have apparently fina ly convinced

President Barack Obama and Concjressiooa eader lip to
recogi

ize that

the energy path Amer ca is 00 today is completely unsustainable There

appears to be growing recogi too ti at it is spectacularly claocjerous for

America to cootioue importing millioo harre of oil per clay aocl exportiog

more thao $1 hillioo per clay ui nat onal wealth to export countries

Americas unclimiiii hecl appetite for fore go oil has created tl larg

svealth transfer in the history of the world The po it cal leaclershgi

in Washington D.C ha not seemed overly concerned about thi issue

unti recently However after Presideo Dhamas recent speech calling

Reserve sstsivvei seat is cv cvtvtest by shy disvj vet reserve additives tram at svsrces by actast issvstartivs tsr ttse cvrre yvvstiesj yeriavi We cvicv ate sisdhr vrsi acqvi it vs cast par es te isy divisti sq tvtvi vtrdtiesj

ansi set prayed praperty arqai itiss cv ircsrred stormy ttse vi escivdes sertois rests pravar iy
relatesi to set vi yrvve tsraysrty acqoisit vv Rev ayics vi vi ejasyisy cat cv ts vvd deterred sees re at tv

cvryarvte acysi itivvs by totsi tsrvv reserve vdditivs veviod sq tssire
related rev sivss

tv

rev PARt tisascial prey ore as detised belays Please rater Iv tire tavestars svtiva at oar vvab ite at vvvvvv chk cver tar recasci istivas at rev AP tirsacial msa ares lv cvvrysrsbiv eve ist area or cv cvivted

isv cvrdavce vv Its qeaeralty catted accvaatiaq yriacip as

Adto ebitds is net incvrre lass betere interest aepea iacaiae taa eayea beaetit sad steyre st ye deylatian sad svsvrtiyatiaa aepersa vdto tad to renreve ttra ette certvii tears tirat manage

crest believe attect the campsrsbiiity at aperstiag resv

Ryarstivy cash lava cash presided by aperat nsa tivities betare ci srges in as ets cad hahi it

Adlo tad eoraiaqs yes tvty dilated share aet iscasse los yes share available to chesapeake coermaa stvckhytder assasaing ddvtiva vs vdto ted to sevseye tt ati sts at cesta itenrs that rrasaq vent

believe attect the comparability at oyessting resv

FORTtINE tOt Pest cvmpvaies to Work Por sted the msqsoive debsossy 2011 oe
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for oew energy futuie with greater na ciral gas age and ncreaseci

domestic oil orociuction as two of its onmary atti butes it is encouran no

to see oor politica eacler lip finally grasp that atura gas staocls alor

as tile only affordable salable and arnediately available alternat ye to

foreigo oi and that US 01 product on can be ocreased goificantly 10

tile years ahead

Tile events of ti past few monfi have unmistakably ririveo hoi le

file facf that it is ii sanity to rely on the ddle East to provide our ecoi

omys life ne of TI should he esi ecafy ohvious when one real zes

that dur ng tile next ig year Amer ca will Ike exi ort at least another

$4 trill on nationa wealth to oil exporters aroui tile world Clearly

our country mci demand from its leaders new and more usta nable

energy tnt ire

Advancing technology tor deaner operations solar panels at West Texas wellpower

telemetry systems that provide pumpers with real-time information on oil and water

tank levels to alarm them when levels near capacity preventing tank spills

good new however is ti at AiTerica can now secure new

energy fcitcire anks to Chesapeake and handful of other lead U.S

EP companie that have remvented the process of tulding natural gas

and dur ng the past tive year ciou so we have discovered tvace

he resources of natuia gas the U.S ti at Saudi Arabia po Os oil

Furtherrc ore tile same few compai ies ti at led tile unconventional

atura gas revolcitioi have
tu

the past two year also re oven ed

the way will we cai fu large new resocirces onshore in tile U.S

In tact hel eve the U.S can poss bly ncrease its prodciction of oi trom

the currei 5.8 million harre per day by 3U 5Uo during the next ig

years therei otentia ly reach ng the Presidents 2U2S goal of reduc ng

toreign oi irs ports by 33% iU years ear ier ti an hoped

Tile con hulation ot these vast new di coverie of unconvei onal

natciral cias and licicacis orovicies America with un uue fciture path

way owarci greater energy independence an mdc strial renaissance

econorn reiu zenation and greater national seccirity remain tu ly con

fident that tile naarketp ace understands tills and ti at zer roe the U.S

sv more tully embrace ai ci utilize clean attordab abundant American

natural ga and ncreased domestic ni product on as the best alterna

tives to bcirning environmenta ly ci al enged coa and expei sive ai

dangerous toreign oil

There now clear road ahead tocvard more scistainab afford

able dynamic and independei fciture it America embraces tile reman

ab gift ot eiergy abcinciance that Chesapeake has heipeci ckscover in

tile U.S Yoci have my coialmitment and the comm tmeilt ot more than

ioggo othei Che apeal emp oyees that every cia we aie workinj

hai ci to creat shaieho des vaicie and better tciture or ocir coiaamuni

tie ocir tates ai ci our counti throcigil tile continued ch covery and

development ot unconventional natural gas and cic ci

Best regaids

Aubrey McClendon

Cha rmai and Chiet Execcitive Officer

Apr 115 2U11



AMERICAS PREMIER

ENERGY RESOURCE BASE

Chesapeake is the second-largest producer of U.S natural gas and Top 15 producer of U.S oil and natural gas liquids The company has

built large resource base of high-quality U.S assets in the Barnett Haynesville Bossier Marcellus and Pearsall natural gas shale plays

and in the Granite Wash Cleveland Tonkawa Mississippian Bone Spring Avalon Wolfcamp Wolfberry Eagle Ford Niobrara and Utica

unconventional liquids plays In 2010 Chesapeake increased its focus on applying the geoscientific and horizontal drilling expertise

gained from developing unconventional natural gas shale plays to unconventional liquids rich plays Our goal is to reach balanced mix of

natural gas and liquids revenue as quickly as possible through organic drilling We invested approximately $4.7 billion in 2010 net of

divestitures primarily in liquids-rich acreage to provide the foundation for this shift toward more profitable plays

We own interests in approximately 46000 producing natural gas and oil wells and in 2010 we produced approximately 1.035 trillion

cubic feet of natural gas equivalent tcfe for an average of 2.B billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent bcfe per day At year end

2010 our proved reserves were 17.1 trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent of which 90% were natural gas and all were onshore in the

U.S We have also captured an inventory of up to 115000 unrisked net future drilling opportunities almost 50 years worth of drilling

opportunities on approximately 13.2 million net leasehold acres in the U.S The following highlights Chesapeakes ownership position

in our key operating areas

Natural Gas Shale Areas

Operating States
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NATURAL GAS SHALE AREAS

Barnett Shale Chesapeake the second
arges prociLicer of nature gas the most

ncfive dri ler and fi l9rgest naseho ci owner in ha Core and er sweet spots ot Tenant

nod iohnsoi co iet es In ai unry 2010 Cl 9peake completed toot yen Lire and solrl 25 otis

asset the Barnett to Total EP USA Inc wholly omnerl ibs rliary ot Pan based Total S.A

NYSE EPTP Total tor $2.25 II on cash anrl clrillincj rarries Durincj 010 approa

imately $480 in II on ot Chesapeakes dri Ia and cornplet on costs in the Barneff were

pa ci by Total Total viii fu nd 50 of our share of tofu re ci ri ng nd corn eti on osts nfi an

addifioi al $970 ni Ilion of ir costs ha in deei funded whicl we expect to occur by year end

2013 We ai ticipafe use an avernge of approxiwafely 18 operated rig in 20 ito further develop our

220000 net acres of Ban eff Shale nsehold of ml ch 205000 net nseholcl acres are locnfed the pr me

Core end ml areas Oi this acreaje me estimate we could dril up to 2300 net me Is ii years to come

Bossier Shale The Boss er Sha overlies abouf one third of our

Hayne vile Shale ncrenge We esfe nnfe we could ciri up to 2600 net sxe Is

on our Bossier Sha acreaje in the future to develop our 205000 net acres of Bossier

Shnle leasehold Beca se the Boss er es above fI Haynesvi le horizonfa wells

dril ed fusf to the Bossier may not may old Haynesville rights As result

Chasap ak and ofi er producers nm dril nj aggressi iely to old all ghfs

tI ro igh the Haynesvi before the mit al three
year term of typical

expires therefore not much Boss er ciri ling yet underway However once our

leases are HBP he hy prod cf on by Haynesvil dri no we plan to focus on

cleve or inn the Bossier Sha more nncrres ive beoinnrno mosf ikely in 2013

Haynesville Shale In enrly 008 Che apenke nnnounced ifs scovery of

lie Hayi esvrlle Shale mh his In nfed northwestern iana ai st Texas

reser ioir hat like svil barer ne one of tI frxo largest na urnl gas tie ds in the aloi

with lie Marcel us and 01 of the five largest ii lie world The Hay ne vii Sha is now the

nat ons largest producing shale piny kVe are the lanes leasehold owner roe

vudu cnd rruf dvt Lh1llt uf iuvi culL iu Huyi iu ity Wu

es mate thnf ne could drill up 6300 ne ne Is on our Hayness Sha ncreage

in the fu Lire and plai to ufili an avernge approx mafely 29 operate rig 20U to

further devaloç our 530000 net ncr of Haynesville Shale leasehold During 2011 me

ant pnfe spend no npprox irately $1 651 on or 32c of our to budget for explore ion ni ci

development arfi ut es in fire Hayne ri Shale UP rca ant rn reducing ir rig count hej nn rg

ix ci year as ne con plefe clri 110 ol irrf yes ho our easeholci fi rough esfab sh nj nit nI produc ion

Marcellus Shale Chesnpeake the ndusfry ead no laaseho on ner large produ er and

most active ne ie 01 erie the rcel Shale plny that pans froi nor are kVesf Virg nm across

ire
ci Pennsy vai rife so it barn New York The Marce lu orated in fi hrgl ast gas

on wing ngion of the U.S ai arafore rece ye ii best natural gas pri as in the on

We est ma ama con dri ip to 21000 at mel son ir Marcallus acreage in the fuf ire end

Ian to uf baa nn ns araga of approximate 32 oparnfrd rigs in 2011 to further develop our

1.7 nnillion nat ras of Marcallus Shale easahold During 2010 npprox mafaly $600

million of Chesapeakes dr 11mg costs fhe Marcel is mere pai by if nf van

fura pnrtnar based Stafoil NYSCSTO OSES Our ng 011 ai 12012 750

of Chesapeakes dri ng and
corrrp ef on osts in fi Marcellu up to $1 bi on vu

be pad by Wa expect flint ouer nm the Mama los Shale sxi become the largesf naf ira ga

ellin tire U.s an the second largest in on world

2010 Total Production

175 brfe _270o 17o

12/31/10 Proved Reserves

3060 brfe 11% l8

12/31/10 Net Leasehold Acres

220000 240o 20o

Redaction in predaction and

pieced reserees were caused

by ear blat eenture sale te Tetal

2010 Total Production

brfe NM NM

12/31/10 Proved Reserves

10 bcfe NM NM

12/31/10 Net Leasehold Acres0

205000 l4

2010 Total Production

240 brfe 182c 23c

12/31/10 Proved Reserves

3570 brte 95o 21%

12/31/10 Net Leasehold Acres

530000 2o 400

2010 Total Production

55 brfe 17500

12/31/10 Proved Reserves

860 brfe 231 500

12/31/10 Net Leasehold Acres

1670000 3c 13c
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The Anaclarko Basin is howe to toLir ot Chesapeakes liciracls ch ays

cvhich we ant cipate svi becowe signiticant contributors to our growth the
years

ahead

Chesapeake we one ot he rst tout lize modern horizontal drilling methods ci ci has assembled

ci ui rivaled easeho ci

posi ion in umerous horizontal liclu cls ch play in the hasir Cl esapeake

vi Il coo inue drilling wi tocus oi the Ornnite Wash where rates ot retorn are the highest in our

company and with an increasing torus on the Cleve and onkawa and Missi
sipp an icluids ch

unconventional plays We estimate we could ciril up to 11400 net wells oo our Anaclarko Basin

acreage the tuture and plan to ut lize nn average 31 operated rigs in 2011 to turti er develop

ir current 1.7 million en leasehold acre

As pert ot grow ng ewi hesis on increasing cccli atom ge iprecis

production Ci esapeake has bu the nciustrys secord largest len eholci posit on the Eag

Ford Shale plcy in South Texas In 2010 Chesapenke increased it easeho ci trom Bgggg et acres nt the

bege ning ot the year to core than 600000 et acres In November20 Cl esapeake corrple xci

$2 billion Eagle Ford Shale toint venture agreement snith Beij ng based CNOOC Limited

NY5ECEO whereby CNOOC acg erecl 33.3% interes ir Gggggg net leasehold acres in the Eagle

Ford She CNOOC
paid Chesnpeake approximately $1.12 bil ion cash nt ose and vi II pay 75

ot Chesapeakes share ot dr II ng and comCletion expenditures until ti $1.09 hi on carry oblijatioi

has been tundeci which Chesapeake expects to occur by year enh 2012 Our tocus has been in the met gas ai

prone portioi so ay We estimate me con ci dr ii to 55gg net wells oi our Eagle Ford acreage and plan

tout ze an average 23 opernteci rigs in 2011 to turtker develop our ea ehold posit on in ti Engle ord Shale Ii nxiclition

cxx believe that he Pearsn Shale should be prospect xx tor natura gas undernee approximate 750 ot ir ag Ford easehol

Chesapeake as built strong positioi ot approx

etely million et len ehold acms Pen an Ba in including

S60000 net leasel old ncre the Bone Spr ng Asalon Woltcarrp nd Wo therry

ui xoi ye ntional puids plays his area hn the potential to del ier signiticant

upside we move omard in re sing ir oil product on sul stant al the years

di IddLi Wd ddd ddvdlupdd mu tip vv ur zu ui pruje ir thi urec crc

we plan ut ze an average ot approx nm eigl operated rigs 2011 to turti er

develop our lea ehold in the Pxrmiei an Ox asvnre has and est mate we con dri

ip to 4400 ext wells

ChxsapxaTx the econd leriest eas hold owner in the obrara Shale

Froi
ti

rand Codell lays the Powder River and Oenver iuleshurg Oi ns ot Wyoming

and Co orado In February 2011 The apeakx completed $1.3 lion toe enture agreement with

CNOOC ml erxby CNOOC acpuirxd 333 interest Chesapeakes npproxima ely BOO000 net

leasehold acre in the Powder River ci dO ha ins CNOOC paid Che apeake npprox mate $S70 millioi

in cash at closing ai dxv lip an addit onal $697 million in carries by tunding 66.7o ot Chesapeake

si are ot dri lieg and comple ni expen lit ires svh ch

The apeakx expect to occur by year end 2014 We Ian

to it ize ci average ot approximate 11 rigs 2011 to

develop our current 535000 et enseho acres vi tic

our pnrtnxr end est inn
te that me cou trill up to 7500 we

Note Eigures do not add to company totals

Compared to last year

00 ot company total

Bossier Shale acreage overlaps with

Haynesville Shale acreage

NM Not meaningtul

2010 Total Production

145 bcte 4% 14%

12/31/10 Proved Reserves

2440 bxte 21 14c

12/31/10 Net Leasehold Acres

1420000 150 110

2010 Total Productien

bcte NM NM

12/31/10 Proved Reserves

110 bcle NM 10

12/31/10 Net Leasehold Acres

470000 488%

2010 Tetal Production

60 bcfe 200 60

12/31/10 Proved Reserves

770 bcte 4%

12/31/10 Net Leasehold Acres

1200000 440 90

2010 Total Production

bcfe NM NM

12/31/10 Proved Reserves

10 bcfe NM NM

12/31/10 Net Leasehold Acres

800000 1350 60
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CHESAPEAKE MANAGEMENT
PERSPECTIVES

What innovations and advancements have led to CHICs ability to produce liquids from

shales and other tight reservoirs

During the past five years Chesapeake and few other leaders in the independent EP industry have developed

expertise in exploiting shales and ether fight reservn formations targeting
natural gas through the comhinat on of

horizontal drill ng and advanced fracture stimulation terhniques This has allowed the commercialization of plays that

were previodisly rineconomic most notab yin shale formations Part ec our success in preducutg iqLeds from ght

reservoirs has come from the companys ahil ty to extend the technolog cal advances gained in the development of

tight natural gas formations to new formations Imown to contain substant al liclreds This led to our first licldxds rich

play discovery in the Colony Granite Wash in 2007 As we have increased our focus on Iiqdeds rich pays we have ben

efited from growing understanding and mapping of petrophysical properties unconvent onal formations as well

as an enhanced understanding of the geochemical nature of iquids rich reservoirs This has allowed Chesapeake to

hetter identify format ens most likely to generate licluids rich production including more than dozen new plays for

the company We have subsecluently improved the success of our licluids rich plays through the use of optima well

here lateral engths better placement of well laterals though advanced welihore steering techniclues and customized

fracture stimu at ion desiens for licluids rich olays that allow the comoany to achieve qreater stimulated rock volume

in low permeability reserve rs Finally the advancements Chesapeake has made in developing liquids rich plays have

been made possible through the use of our proprietary Reservoir Technology Center that has become the industrys most advanced shale core laboratory

It is often said that the energy industry has an aging work force that is fast approaching

retirement age How is Chesapeake addressing this

It no secret that there is shortage of experienced professionals the natural gas and oil industry The industry down

turn of the 1980s and l990s discouraged many from pursu ng energy careers In the following decades strong compe

fit ion from other indu trie lured away many of the best and brightest science and technology graduates and today

many experienced professionals who stayed in the industry through the downturn are approaching retirement age

As iesult one of our ndustrys greatest challenges over the past 10 years has been to develop new generation

of natural gas and oi profess onals who have the knowledge and experience required to meet the nations growing

energy needs

In 2000 Chesapeafre was one of the fir companies to recognize this trend and to understand how recruiting

and train ng new generation of energy professionals would impact the company fu ure uccess and its ahi ity to

compete the indu try At that me Che apeake formulated business trategy to addres future staff needs

Martha Burger
add decided to create vior cia college recruiting and intern program to recru tI most promi ing industry

senior Vice President

talent Today Che apeake hosts more than 150 interns every ummer its internship program many of whom go Human and corporate Resources

oi to become full time Chesapeake employees upon graduation In addition we have 350 students who receive

rhnlarcbip tI rnugl dha apaaka prngramc and our staff of rn logo rorriiitor has riovolopod strnnn rnlat nnchips th prnfossnrs donartmont hoarls

and career counselors at the more than 31 univer ities where we act ye recruit

As result of these effort young professionals in wide range of di diplines from scientists and engineers to land management and legal

spedialists are being groomed to take over the reins as they earn the business tI rough mentonng extensive raining deve oprrent opportunitie

and cha lenging work assignments They are generously rewarded with excellent compensation ai benefits as well as an ndustry eading xvorking

environment tI at encourages camaraderie and teamwork The succe of Chesapeakes strategy apparent the average age of the companys

geoscience land and eng neering departments has dropped from 49 in 2000 to 36 today In addition the average age of the companys 4000

Oklahoma City headquarters employees is 33 Even as some of Chesapeakes employees retire the company is wel equipped with seasoned work

force that prepared to support and lead the way in Chesapeakes continued groxvth

Steve Dixon

Executive Vice Presideut

Operutiuns cud Geouciences cud

ciiiet Operating Otticer
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What advantages does CHKs unique vertical integration strategy provide

Chesapeake has ho If large nventory of low risk oatora gas and hEIdi ci rich ays that we plan develop

aggressively over tI oext two decade As rescilt we know that ocir company will cons stently uti ice tremen

clocis and growing amount of oilfielcl services for this resoorce clevelopmenf This gh level of phoned drilling

acf vity will create value or file provider of oilfielcl serv ces ai cI Chesapeakes sfrafegy is fo capture POi 00

of fh valcie for oor hareho cler ra her han tiansfer it fo th rd party vei clors whose interests and iovestmeots

aie oof always aligned with ocirs To date Chesapeal has ovesteci io cli lung rigs rental fools svafer manage

ment eguipment frocking compressioi ecioipmeof miclstreaoa services and most recent pressure pumping and

fracture stimulation eguipment Chesapeakes act iv es reguire high level of aooiog and project coordination

that hest accompl shed throcigh vertical integration ai cI ownershil of the If elcI services we it lice This approach

creates mci fit ide of cost av ngs an aligi ment of interests operational synerg es greater capac ty of ecuoiprcect

creased safety and hettei coordinated ogistics In additioi CI esapeakes control of large port on of the oilfield

service egci pment it uti ice provides unicuue advantage to control the timing of easeholci development Simply

puc fdster uevelupicient of iv noises iiiaxiiii LC5 the piesent vdlue leeseliulu Ins lids ueen key advantage fur

Chesapeake over the past ree year as the company has monetized leasehold invest mei ts at prem um values hrough our joint venture

Will U.S natural gas prices reconnect with world natural gas prices

Natciral ga is prern cim prodcict and cleaner hcirning foe than coal or oil related proclcicts nclucling gasola

diesel and heath oi ge te his tact over the past two years natcira gas has received ow price in tI US

market relat ye to coa ai oil related products primari resu of temporary scirpl is of prod iction TI is

scirplus as beei pr ncipal caused hy high leve of drilkng activity as producers foc ised on holding hy produc

fioi HBP easehold nevi gh productive low cost natural gas sI ale plays In essence producer re vented

U.S ipoly ahead of reinventing of U.S demand We hehieve HBP incentiv zed drilling on natural gas play cvill

largely come to an end in 2g12 and U.S deirand svi oon so he reinvented to ow U.S natural gas prices

reconnect to
pr ce parity vatl world natciral gas pi ces that have risen to more than douhie U.S ia oral gas price

This
scirge in world natural ga prices ha heei response to $tUU pr ces and org ng gloha Iigcief ed

natural gas demand our vievi the arhitrage in value hetvieen competing fuel is imply too wide Cap tal

and ideas will flow toward pro ects that make the most of this
pr ce dispar ty Chesapeal and other compan es are

woi king to crea the ahili to expoi natural gas from the U.S Gulf Coast and other reg ons in the form of to

prenacina Pad tic Rim Eciropean and So ith American markets perhap as soon as 2015 This in tiaf ye vol also he

aided hy the vadeniog of the Panama Cana to accommodate arge NC vesse irthermore we he eve that the

current price sparity
hetweei atura gas and oil cvi increasaagly lead to gieater ise of nat ira gas in the U.S tran portation ystem Whether if

he compressed atoral gas UNU for mediuna and light duty vehicles for eavy duty vehicles or the commerciahiza ion of gas to liguids UT
natural gas retaaeries that supplement the U.S

diced
fuel supply stream we hehieve that the marketplace cv II increas guy uti ice and emhrace natciral

gas Chesapeake viork ng with industry puh ic pohicymakers and potei tial partners Oil each of these demand reinvention opportunities Natural

gas is clean affordah ahundant and American Why should/nt it trade at BTU premium in the years al ead

Why is an investment grade rating on its debt securities important to CHK

We he eve that Chesapeake will henefit in multip ways from an nvestment grade rat ng on our deht

sec rites cvhidl cve ope to achieve in 2012 or 2013 rst higher rating cvould ohviously lover the companys

horrocving costs over taaae In addition her less easily guantif ahle henef ts cv al acci cie to Chesapeake

Nirihnr dnht
ratuag

wni In mci It ocvnr costs oi long tnriaa firna transportation rootrant that wo nntnr into

oicler to mail ef ocir natural gas ai prodluctioi as cvel as fad hitate our alaility to enter into long teriaa con acts

to sell our natural gas uaroduction to eaternational tauyei the toriaa of An improved rating
will also enhance

Che apeakes ahihity to irflaer attract viorld cIa ei ergy companie to part cipate our toint venture projects

which protitah monetize port oi of ocir leasehold aavestments and so acceleiate the developmei of our

resource hase ally and perhaps most important we he ieve that reduced finan al leverage and an invest

ment grade rat ng vaIl lead to higher stock price and prov de further interest from cvorldcvide ecuuity investors

Jeff Fisher

seivor vice Presicient PmociLicuon

Jeff Mobley

servor vice Presicient

hivestor Reietions end Research

Nick DeIIOsso

Executive vice Presicient

end dhiet Einenciei Otticer



CHESAPEAKE3S COMMITMENTTO BEING GOOD NEIGHBOR
Through volunteer programs and responsible operations we strive to be the best neighbor

possible in
every one of our operating areas by investing in our communities
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INVESTING IN

OUR COMMUNITIES

Chesapeakes ense of civic comm tmeot provides hountifril harvest of

heoef ifs to ties large and mall We partner with groups aocl organizations

arross all of our operating areas to improve the commuo es our employ

ees rontracfors venrlors land anrl mineral owners call home We believe

the success of orir faLl ioess depend oo the sfrengtl goodwill and vitality

of fhose comnaun fie Mo important we helieve if is the responsibility

of every successful husines to share mcce with neighborc

In 2010 we gave more than $25 million to charitable organizations

aod prol acts acro our operaf og areas primar ly focusxig 00 communify

deve opment education health and macI ca and soc al service

WI Ia mrich of fI OS is fill struggling to recover from the economic re

cess on the positive mpacf of natural gas and oil operat ons has provided

valuable economic recovery sf mulus for states that are home fo exp ora

tion and development activities As the naf ons second largest producer

of na ural ga Top 15 producer or ipuids and niust active driler ui new

wells Chesapeakes arrival in new play stimu afes economic acfivify

augments personal income fI rough fobs and royalty payments gen

erafes sribsfantial fac revenue and sustains communities fI roughorit ts

operating areas

In addition to fhe general economic mpacf of our activities on local

economies fhe companys ax contribut on are ubstant In 2010

Che apeake paid approxima ely $675 million taxes mc uding ad valorem

severance sales employer and corporafe income and ranchise taxes These

taxes pay or ongoing government services ai also hu cI and mainfain

schools recreat 01 al faci fies and parks ai roads af time wI en sfafe

and local government are II feeling fhe pinch of recession We are proud

to supporf America economy with our growth while also helpu to profecf

the environment through the greater use of clean burn ng afural gas and

reduc ng the countrys dependence on expensive fore gn oil

Chesapeake so makes contributions that help improve lives and

economies in cifies vihere we oprate $25 mil ion 2010 alone or ex

ample fhis pa year we doi ated $200000 to establish the Chesapeake

Environmental and Recycling Center at Goodwill Industries of Central

Oklahoma The center II prov de an addif onal 80 job fo abled OkIa

homans as well help Goodw recycle 10 million pounds year which

epuates to one third of

the goods that ofher

wise would have been

clesfuaecl for Of lahoma Equipping the next generation West Virginia

City area andfills students hold their new laptops from

West yirgx vie lie ped Chesapeake as part of the companys

fruacl coi strricion of Discovering Tomorrows Leaders program

the Morganfown Market

Place permanent ste for the ci farmers marl ef creating more husi

ness opport inifie for local farmers

Che apeake also supports local chambers of commerce and city

corincil in al of its operaf ng area In the Haynesville Shale Ia year we

asvarded granfs to the Shelby County Sahine Parish and Coushatta Red

River chamber of commerce to help fund tourism bus ness communi

rations and chamber events In Texas we as isfed more thai 250 civic

professional and commrinity service organizaf ions throughout Johnson

Tarranr anu western hal as counties and punsored memberships in

35 local Texas chambers commerce By help ng local chambers and

husines es grow and fhr ye we are creating froi ger economies

We al hire locally whenever possible fo help stimulate lie local

economy and we provide framing when the local svork force snf yet

rfualif ed for the fobs we have opei kor example svhen Chesapeake

began operaf nag ui the Marcel us Shale of West
rg

and Pennsyl

vania fwding exper ended rig svorkers was cha lenge To meef that

need CI apeakes wI ly owned subsidiary Nomac Orilling hui

the 40000 square foof Ea tern Trau log Center and Housing Ear fy in

Bradford Coui fy near Sayre Pei nsylvania The campus opened 2010

and serves as housing fan ity and training grorind for 266 workers at

time Nomac and Chesapeake host regular job fa rs in the region and

fhe line of inferesfed candidates offen extend out fhe noon

We are also proud to he prepare tomorrows eader today In 2010

Chesapeake ipporfed un versifies schools academic chair scholarships

and other ednicafional programs with conf rib if ions total ng $5.4 mill on

Ii vesting in programs that promote technology and nnovafion

key to orir countrys succe Thafs why we gave $1.0 mil ion fo esfah sh

the Chesapeake Erergy dormitory for sfudenfs at the Oklahoma School for

Sr ence and Mafhemafic OSSM public fu finn free residenfia high

school located in Ok ahoma Cify for juniors and sei mr with exceptional

ab hifies The exfremely corn pet five school help nj frain fhe next gen

erafini of dienfisfs and mat hemaf rians

We so esfabhisl ed the Chesapeaf Energy Pre idenfial Scholars Pro

grai at the Oklahoma City On ver ify Meinders School of Bus ness making

$5.0 million romnaifmenf to he distrihuferl ovei he next ye years The

Chesaneake Scho ars Propraiaa will provide in $25000 per year in tuition

Chesapeakes $25 million

of charitable giving in 2010

Community Development

Education

Health and Medical

Social Services
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to so ected st den prrrsrrrng careers io rnance economic accorrntrng

marketing brrsioess adrnior trat on computer science and information

technology In aclckt on scholars II take part
in Cl apeal Presiclen

tral Leader hip Course taxi tateci by tacul members in coorci at or with

rlsignatrl ci ap.ak Iarlr rnarh roil riling 1h apak nnr

vice
pres

cler and CEO alur ii

In 2007 Chesapeake bond en cholarship program Texas with ao

rtral $1.23 million cootr butror ci alleng ng the crtres ot Fort Worth and Dal

Ia to match its tt within yeac The tre responded and matched tile grtt

so Chesapeake 2008 added another $1.25 no ron to the tuncl hrrr ging the

total to $3.75 million he Chesapeake Scholar hill Fund current tuncls the

co ot higl er ed ication tor 48 rllinority strrdents The fund provides each

student $20000 year tor np to tonr years at the schoo of their choice To

date more than $1.0 lion has been distributed to deserwng local students

Tu help ii sure te mining uf ilualitied geolugist enginrs land

men and energy lawyers tI next ger eratior we award sd oar hips

to students pursu ng energy related degrees We al help mentor them

ti rough Cl apeakes Peak Program rnior and senior love scholar hip

recrp ents are paired with Chesapeake employee mentors who help devel

op student Ii owledge and provide career adv ce There are currently 25

mentors ar 40 scholarship recipients partrc patrng the Peak Program

Our recruitir team so rated strategic mi itary recrriitment

ettort during the past vio years to hire tori aer mi itary personnel to

work in variety ot leader hip and crew posrtior ettort earned

dhesapeake an honor irom ci JoBs magazine when we were nameci

200 Top 100 Mr itary Friendly Emp oyer Chesapeake currently employs

37 men and women who formerly served as junior military cers and

more thai 100 tormer servicemen and serv cewomen viho joined the

company through program called Troops Roughr ecks

In adldrt on to our specrtrc scholar hip programs or time educational

donatior and recr ritment et orts 2010 vie gave more than $1.8 mi on

to fund igher educatror tor nearly 400 other tudent in 12 states through

orrr Che apeake Scholars program Chesapeakes scholarships he recr it

the best and brightest studer ts and provide edricat onal opportrrnitre in

communitie where we operate In Oklahoma City more than 400 em

ployees volunteer for up to an ho ira week Oil company time at torrr local

public choo Chesapeakes program has grown to become the largest

corporate mentoring program Ul Oklahoma

Chesapeake employees have been enrrchulg their hometonvns as volun

teers for many year We formalized ti ose ettorts 2009 by establrshrr

an ottrcial employee volunteer program tile H.E.L.P He ping Energize

Local Progress Ii tra rye where employees are invited to volunteer

each month for variety ot organizat or from tood pantries to an mal

he ters Through that program employees donated more than 28000

hours to tile communitie Ul 2009

Ii the summer of 2010 Chesapeake tool the H.F.L.P mr ia rye to

gher level thro gb the launch of Operation Blue From Memor al Day

through Labor Day each employee was given to ii hours ot company me

to complete tLe volunteer
project

ot their choice Our employees eager

accep ed the cha lenge and in three months more than 4900 employ

ees donated 30900 hours ot sexy ce to 519 organizat ons in more ti an

95 communit across the cnrrntry Operation Blrre is now an annual

volunteer prograna in which employees rob up tile sleeves ti com

mrinit es they cal home

Chesapeakes cor tr rhdrtrons take many forms financial and ecirr pment

donat on volunteer sm and scholarships Last year we made numerous

ill nd dnnatrnr uf lapiup rrnnditinnud mbmapnaku \Phii and

uhsrdized off ce space These contribritror prov de essen al operating

tools as nonprofit orgarar ations acro ti nation attemp to serve more

eople often with lower budgets in tough ecor Orllid Cmos

For example in Louisiana we donated 12 vehicles ii 2010 including

one to tile Panola Cob ego Oil and Natura Ca Technology Program which

teaches studer ts ahorrt tile natural gas rndu try and provides ti em ivith

hands on technical training Acros raaany ot tile company operating

areas weve donated computer to deserv ng stridents schools and

organizations through Ci apeakes Discover ng Tomorrows Leader

prugram 2010 the iuapany equipped 14 stride Its hi buptup end

donated 70 comp rter to sd oois Or upporting nonprofit organizations

Chesapeab partners with other companie and organizations to meet

basic practical needs in rncireci of commura ties An examp is ir

sponsorsh of the anndrab Bay of Caring at the Canus Len er of Harding

On versrfy White County Ar kan Our ng tile event approx naate

1200 unin ured or
rr

dlerinsdired residents rece vedi day of free medical

clenta and eye screenings

To ebp ddibt vate ara appreciation for he great oditdoors 2010

Chesapeake prov died $25000 to REAL Schoo Carden ort Worth

based organization that estahb shes garden at approximately 70 onver

income ementary schoo North Texas At errell bementary

School tudents parents teachers and volunteer from Chesapeake and

other groups worked together to prepare vegefab garder and flower

beds addition to teamwork ski Is and gardening stdrdlent learned

abodrt nutr tron and tool hoiaae food froraa the garden hodrnty

We drpported servicemen and ervicewonaen by part nerrng rv th tile

Shreveport Chapter of Operation Support Our Troops Inn Odrr dontrrhdrt on

helped off et the po fage to end naore than 100 care pad ages to troops

oversea Tiae sia pment was the largest in the
orgar

rzat ions Ia tory and

indbdrded Ci rrstmas aids games aradi nonperishable food teraa

By invest nag in the corllmdinit where we operate arad the people

whose yes we tounia we ensure stronger today and more hope

fri tnmnrrnw

Putting tood on the table Employees volunteer at the Regional Food Bank

ot Oklahoma as part ot Operation Blue
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DNVESTONG VN OUR WORLD
AND OUR PEOPLE

As we explore for and produce clean affordable abundant American

natura gas we provide an mportant solutioi to our nations energy

challei gos and its guest for ooorgy independence th at least 200

year supply of natural ga located ght hero io the U.S this versatile

fuel rao he used to oot only heat homes create electricity aod meet

Americas transportation needs hut also to fuel the countrys future

by creat og tubs and stimu ating local and national economies through

nvestment and taxes

At Chesapeake we realize that the way great product is produced is

as mportant as the product itself For example we have helped pioneer

the use of mult wel padsifes to drill up to 16 wells from ngle Inca

tion great reducing our land and road and overall env ronmental

footprint We use the latest hor zontal and direct onal drilling technology

pld weks dt sUfU disdnss rui
ii is louIs und bu nussus In

add finn we hui and maintain access roads and work to el minate soil

erosion near ours tes as wel as restore local vegetation

We implement advai red orlern
pro

ective measures known as Best

Management Practices BMP5 to help ensure energy development is con

clurfed an environmentally req on ib mannec Procedures are mp

mented throughout our operation to protect
freshwater agrnfers and

reduce environmental impacts BMP5 protect wi dlife air guality water and

andscapes as we work to develop vital needed domest energy source

Irnplemei fed fhrnughnuf the ei hre life cycle of well BMP5 can he

as simple as strategically acing berm or land harrier on locations

to ronfro suiface wa err muff Others involve cuffing edge operational

technologies uch itilizing the most advanced technipues offered in

drillii uids we cash ai cement design Regardles of complex

ity al BMP are based on the idea that tI environmental ootpr nt of

energy devo opment should be as small and temporary as possible

These practices are ronhnually evolving and further improving as

Chesapeake and the industry develop new innovative technigues and

approaches to hu mess

In addition to our BMP5 Chesapeake has al in tiated several

innovat ye internal programs focused on water recycling and greener

hydraulic fracturing processes

Created to meet the cha lenge of reducing ir water age Chesapeakes

Aqua Renew program es state of the art technology to recycle pro

duced water Since the

company prel nary
Aqua 1ev

reclamation project in

2006 our focus or wafer rouse and conservation has become company

widu oi douvur strotd ng from thu Buriiutt Sliolo of North boos to thu

Marrellus Shale of northern Pennsylvania

The Aqua Renew program has yet to find limit to how much

recycled water could be used thout compromi ing
well production

In fact our Marre lus Shale operations are treating and recycling virtu

ally 10000 of produced water more than 10 ml lion gallons per month

for reuse in our hydraulic rarturing operatini Proper conducted

modern fracking is ghly engineered controlled sophist rated and

safe procedure

With rh large volumes of recycled water the company is see

ng more than just environmental advantages We estimate that this

Green operations Chesapeakes Best Management Practices ensure our

operations are as environmentally friendly as possible while protecting

our employees neighbors and the areas where we operate



2010 ANNUAL REPORT 27

process saving tile compar an average of $12 mition per ywr the

Marce ins Sha alor

Chesapaaka Given F/CL prugram t/a iauodwd Oduher 2OO to

evaciate tile types of additives typicaty iseci 10 tile tracking piocess As

ao rnciustry ieachr program

Green Fran is ciecisive move .9 Frac
toward ar even greer er fici ri

system By reviewing at of the ngrechents typicaty useci earh track ng

operat on the program cientitres acichtrves that ran he removeci anci te ts

aiternatrves To date tile company has etmina ed 25c of the aciclrt yes

risen in track tlcacis in most of its shaie piays

Green Fran is aiso estahishing mpie gcacleknes for tile company

and its vendors to seiect tracking ingrechents that present minimal sks

peopie and the environment Ti ese guide ines sail also he risen to

learning from the best Our commitment to creating sale work en v/ron

ment continued to grow in 2010 with the founding of the Chesapeake SAFE

program Focused on developing sate behaviors promoting safety-conscious

culture and eliminating risk in all operating areas the program has trained

more than 4200 employees and consultants

ncrease pcihhc unclerstai cling of ti roce ar ci its wes ty Cl he

pmdrrctior of Amer cai nat ira gas

From state of ti art traw ng tar ties to exten ye health and wetness

programs Chesapeake provide employee with he ku they need to

ucceecl both the field ar ci at the office while creating well rounded

environment for employees and their tam es We are comm ttecl to the

safety and well heing of ir employees contractor and local populations

We provide nit al and retre her satety and env ronrner tal train

ng to ir era ployees and contractors Ii add tion to classroom and

har cls on trainu we uti ice on me er vironrrrental health and

afety tw ning focciseci on company pol cy and procedures for toll

Mc wtnon/ to tho managomont of air tiold ax a/c ho ranrio of

topics covered or rides 0cc upationa Safety and Health AcIm nistra

tion OSHA reciu red afety training such as hazard communrca

tion persona protective epuipment contired space and respiratory

protect or in additior to operat ons training sve also provide safe work

pradkes vehinc safety and speciarzed training for employeb and

contractors who perform pecif tasks rich as emergency response

Speciahzecl environmental trau ng also provided to address topics

srich as compliance waste management and sp ii prevention

In oio we condrrcted total of 2305 rnstrrrctor led training courses

and 57 web based trauling cocirses on safety and environmental pro

grams for emp oyees contractors vendors and vis tor

To frirther ocir training efforts and emphasize the mportanre

ot creating sate work environment the company established the

Chesapeake SAFE program in july 2010 Through workshop tra ning

cour es the program focuses on developing sate behaviors promot

log safety con ous crilture and reducing risk in all operating areas

By year end 2010 more ti an 4200 employees and consultants part ci

pated in 12t workshops 18 cities across the country

Chesapeakes commitment to employee health and weliness is also

evident at our 72000 puare toot tness center wh ch prov des Oklahoma

ty eadriciarter employees and tile tami es with on site access to

tate of tile art health equipment recreation league and group exerci

cia For eraaployees rvho work outside of our headpuarters we subsi

ci xc tam ly tness membersi ps and recreat onal ci try tees

To frirther promote healthy lifesty es he company wide ng Well

rograr provides nancial centives for employees cvi participate in

regular exercise education motivation and ntervention In 2010 more

ti an 5900 err ployees par crpatecl Chesapeakes Livulg Well program

witi more thai /OUo earning linancial awards

acldi or we ixrov
de discounted or free memberships to organi

tions ci as We gilt Watcher and cover the cost of most registration

tees for local races ar fitne events Throughout the year tile cornpany

also hosts nrimber of health related dlasse and programs including

our award winning Live Better Forever prograna dynamic new Your Life

Ma tei mental health initiative and Lrrnch and Learn seminar

From our exten ye reprxred safety tra ning to ocir award winning

health and weliness benefit Chesapeake ded rated to providing quality

rocoi irroc to ansi rro ho hoalth xnIl wol hoirg of oarh of our ompioyoo
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FROM PENNSYLVANIA TO NEW MEXICO
WE THANK EVERY MEMBER
OF TEAM CHESAPEAKE

We would like to thank each of Chesapeakes 10021 employees who brought unique combination of experience talent and

positive attitude to the company in 2010 Last year the company was honored for the fourth consecutive year with inclusion

in the FORTUNE 100 Best Companies to Work For list at 32 the highest-ranking company in the energy production industry
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TOWANDA PENNSYLVANIA Working 24 hours

day crews in the Maccellos Shale drill for natural gas

in this enormous play spanning the Appalachians from

West Wrginia through Pennsylvania
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BIG WELLS TEXAS In the heart of the Eagle Ford

Shale Chesapeakes vertical integration strategy allows

the company to rapidly accelerate its drilling activities
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Part

ITEM Business

Our Business

We are the second-largest producer of natural gas and top 20 producer of oil and natural gas liquids in

the U.S We own interests in approximately 46000 producing natural gas and oil wells that are currently

producing approximately 3.0 billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent bcfe per day 87% of which is natural

gas Our strategy is focused on discovering and developing unconventional natural gas and oil fields onshore

in the U.S primarily in the Barnett Shale in the Fort Worth Basin of north-central Texas the Haynesville and

Bossier Shales in northwestern Louisiana and East Texas the Fayetteville Shale in the Arkoma Basin of

central Arkansas and the Marcellus Shale in the northern Appalachian Basin of West Virginia and

Pennsylvania We also have substantial operations in the liquids-rich plays of the Eagle Ford Shale in South

Texas the Granite Wash Cleveland Tonkawa and Mississippian plays in the Anadarko Basin in western

Oklahoma and the Texas Panhandle the Niobrara Shale Frontier and Codell plays in the Powder River and

Denver Julesburg DJ Basins of Wyoming and Colorado and the Avalon Bone Spring Wolfcamp and

Wolfberry plays in the Permian and Delaware Basins of West Texas and southern New Mexico as well as

various other plays both conventional and unconventional in the Mid-Continent Williston Basin Appalachian

Basin South Texas Texas Gulf Coast and Ark-La-Tex regions of the U.S We have also vertically integrated

our operations and own substantial midstream compression drilling and oilfield service assets

We have been developing expertise in horizontal drilling technology since shortly after our inception in

1989 and focused almost exclusively on developing natural gas properties in the U.S from 2000 to 2008 We

were one of the first companies to recognize the potential of horizontal drilling in unconventional natural gas

reservoirs especially shales in the U.S dnring the early part of the prior decade Dnring the past five years

we have grown from the sixth-largest natural gas producer in the U.S to the second-largest natural gas

producer in large part as result of our success in finding and developing unconventional natural gas assets

In 2010 we announced that we were extending our strategy to apply the geoscientific and horizontal

drilling expertise we had developed in our unconventional natural gas plays to unconventional liquids-rich

reservoirs Our goal is to reach balanced mix of natural gas and liquids revenue as quickly as possible

through organic drilling In 2010 we invested approximately $4.7 billion net of divestitures primarily in liquids-

rich acreage to provide the foundation for this shift towards more profitable plays This transition is already

apparent in the mix of wells we are drilling In 2010 approximately 30% of our drilling and completion capital

expenditures were allocated to liquids-rich plays compared to 10% in 2009 and projected 50% in 2011 and

75% in 2012 Our production of oil and natural gas liquids was 50397 barrels bbls per day during 2010

56% increase over the average for 2009 as result of the increased development of our unconventional

liquids-rich plays As of December 31 2010 the company held approximately 4.3 million net leasehold acres in

unconventional liquids-rich plays

During 2010 our estimated proved reserves grew from 14.254 trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

tcfe to 17.096 tcfe of which 90% was natural gas 53% was proved developed and 100% was onshore in the

U.S We replaced our .035 tcfe of 2010 production with an estimated 3.877 tcfe of new proved reserves for

reserve replacement rate of 375% The 2010 proved reserve movement included 5.098 tcfe of extensions

0.006 tcfe of downward performance revisions and 0.189 tcfe of positive revisions resulting from an increase in

the twelve-month trailing average natural gas and oil prices between December 31 2009 and December 31

2010 During 2010 we acquired 0.089 tcfe of estimated proved reserves and divested 1.493 tcfe of estimated

proved reserves

Chesapeake continued the industrys most active drilling program in 2010 and drilled 1445 gross 938 net

operated wells and participated in another 1586 gross 211 net wells operated by other companies The

companys drilling success rate was 98% for both company-operated and non-operated wells Also during

2010 we invested $4.6 billion in operated wells using an average of 131 operated rigs and $815 million in

non-operated wells using an average of 123 non-operated rigs for total drilling and completion costs of $5.4

billion net of drilling and completion carries of $1.2 billion



Daily production for 2010 averaged 2.836 bcfe an increase of 355 million cubic feet of natural gas

equivalent mmcfe or 14% over the 2.481 bcfe of daily production for 2009 and consisted of 2.534 billion cubic

feet of natural gas bcf 89% on natural gas equivalent basis and 50397 bbls 11% on natural gas

equivalent basis This was our 21st consecutive year of sequential production growth

Industry Participation Agreements

During the past few years we have entered into five significant industry participation agreements

popularly referred to as joint ventures or JV5 that monetized portion of our investment in five of our

unconventional natural gas and oil plays and provided drilling and completion carries for our retained interests

The following table provides information about our industry participation agreements as of December 31 2010

Industry Cash

Participation Industry Participation Proceeds Total Drilling

Shale Agreement Agreement Received Drilling Carries

Play Partnera Date at Closing Carries Remaining

in millions

Haynesville and Bossier PXP July 2008 1650 1508b

Fayetteville BP September 2008 1100 800

Marcellus STO November 2008 1250 2125 1362
Barnett TOT January 2010 800 1450 889

EagleFord CNOOC November2010 1120 1080 1030

5920 6963 3281

Industry participation agreement partners include Plains Exploration Production Company PXP BP

America BP Statoil STO Total S.A TOT and CNOOC Limited CNOOC

In September 2009 PXP accelerated the payment of its remaining carries in exchange for an approximate

12% reduction to the remaining drilling carry obligations due to Chesapeake at that time

In these five industry participation agreements we received upfront cash payments of approximately $5.9

billion ad future drilling cost carries of almost $7.0 billion for total consideration of $12.9 billion compared to

our original cost of approximately $3.1 billion of the assets we sold Moreover Chesapeake retained an 80%

interest in the Haynesville and Bossier Shale properties 75% interest in the Fayetteville Shale properties

67.5% interest in the Marcellus Shale properties 75% interest in the Barnett Shale properties and 66.7%

interest in the Eagle Ford Shale properties Each of our industry participation partners has the right to

participate proportionately with us in any additional leasehold we acquire in our respective industry participation

areas On February 11 2011 we closed our sixth significant industry participation agreement as described

under Recent Developments Niohrara Industry Participation Agreement below

Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P

On August 2010 Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P NYSE CHKM which we and Global

Infrastructure Partners GIP New York-based private equity fund formed to own operate develop and

acquire midstream assets completed an initial public offering of common units representing limited partner

interests and received net proceeds of approximately $475 million In connection with the closing of the offering

and pursuant to the terms of our contribution agreement with GIP CHKM distributed to GIP the approximate

$62 million of net proceeds from the exercise of the offering over-allotment option and Chesapeake and GIP

contributed the interests of their midstream joint ventures operating subsidiary to CHKM Chesapeake and GIP

hold 42.3% and 40.0% respectively of all outstanding limited partner interests and Chesapeake and GIP each

have 50% interest in the general partner of CHKM CHKM makes quarterly distributions to its partners and at

the current annual rate of $1.35 per unit Chesapeake receives quarterly distributions of approximately $20

million in respect of its limited partner and general partner interests On December 21 2010 we sold our

Springridge natural gas gathering system and related facilities in the Haynesville Shale to CHKM for $500

million and entered into ten-year gathering and compression agreements with CHKM



Information About Us

Our principal executive offices are located at 6100 North Western Avenue Oklahoma City Oklahoma

73118 and our main telephone number at that location is 405 848-8000 We make available free of charge on

our website at www.chk.com our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-0 current reports

on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file

such material with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission From time to time we also post

announcements updates events investor information and presentations on our website in addition to copies

of all recent press releases References to us we and our in this report refer to Chesapeake Energy

Corporation together with its subsidiaries

Recent Developments

25/25 Plan

In January 2011 we updated our strategic and financial plan originally announced in May 2010 with our

25/25 Plan The 25/25 Plan details our intention to reduce our outstanding long-term indebtedness of $13.4

billion by 25% by the end of 2012 and to reduce our planned two-year net production growth rate to 25% from

the previous target range of 30% to 40% The reduction in our projected production growth rate will be

achieved by various asset monetizations that we plan to execute during the next two years including our

Fayetteville Shale and Niobrara Shale divestitures described below

Senior Notes Offering

On February 11 2011 we issued $1.0 billion of 6.125% Senior Notes due 2021 We used the net

proceeds of $977 million from the offering to repay indebtedness outstanding under our revolving bank credit

facility The offering is part of our 2011 liability management program which includes extending the maturity

profile of our outstanding indebtedness while also retiring approximately $2.0 to $3.0 billion of our shorter-dated

senior notes as part of our 25/25 Plan

Fayetteville Shale Frac Tech Holdings LLC and Chaparral Energy Inc Asset Monetizations

On February 21 2011 we entered into an agreement with BHP Billiton Petroleum wholly owned

subsidiary of BHP Billiton Limited NYSE BHP ASX BHP to sell all of our Fayetteville Shale assets

including approximately 487000 net acres of leasehold and producing natural gas properties and midstream

assets with approximately 420 miles of pipeline for $4.75 billion in cash before certain deductions and

standard closing adjustments In the Fayetteville Shale we are the second-largest producer of natural gas with

current net production of approximately 415 mmcfe per day Estimated proved reserves attributable to the

Fayetteville Shale as of December 31 2010 were 2.4 tcfe or approximately 14% of our total proved reserves

As part of the transaction we have agreed to provide essential services for up to one year for BHP Billiton for

an agreed-upon fee Closing of the transaction is subject to customary conditions including filings under the

Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 and with the Committee on Foreign Investment in the

United States Closing is expected to occur in the first half of 2011 In addition we have commenced efforts to

monetize our equity investments in Frac Tech Holdings LLC and Chaparral Energy Inc We own 25.8%

equity interest in Frac Tech and 20.0% equity interest in Chaparral These sates are subject to changes in

market conditions and other factors and there can be no assurance that we will complete either or both of

these transactions on timely basis or at all

Niobrara Industry Participation Agreement

On February 16 2011 we entered into an industry participation agreement with wholly owned U.S

subsidiary of CNOOC Limited CNOOC to develop our Niobrara Shale play in the DJ and Powder River Basins

in northeast Colorado and southeast Wyoming Under the terms of the industry participation agreement

CNOOC acquired 33.3% undivided interest in approximately 800000 net acres of our leasehold We

received $570 million in cash at closing and CNOOC has agreed to fund 66.7% of our share of drilling and

completion costs until an additional $697 million has been paid which we expect to occur by year-end 2014 In

addition CNOOC has the right to 33.3% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the area at

cost plus fee



Business Strategy

Since our inception in 1989 Chesapeakes goal has been to create value for investors by building one of

the largest onshore resource bases in the U.S by focusing our technical and land acquisition skills on

developing unconventional resource plays onshore in the U.S From 2000 through 2008 our focus was on

finding and developing natural gas resource plays In the past two years our focus has shifted to finding and

developing plays with oil and natural gas liquids NGL since oil and NGLs are more highly valued in the U.S

than natural gas and technological and knowledge advances have enabled us to pursue these new plays more

economically Key elements of this business strategy are further explained below

Grow Through the Drilibit We believe that our most distinctive characteristic is our commitment and ability

to grow production and reserves organically through the drillbit in areas with large unconventional

accumulations of natural gas oil and NGLs We are currently utilizing 157 operated drilling rigs and 106

non-operated drilling rigs to conduct the most active drilling program in the U.S We are active in most of the

nations major unconventional plays where we drill more horizontal wells than any other company in the

industry For many years we have been actively investing large amounts of capital in leasehold 3-D seismic

information and human resources to take full acfiiantage of our capacity to grow through the drillbit We are one

of the few large-cap independent natural gas and oil companies that have been able to consistently increase

production which we have successfully achieved for 21 consecutive years We believe the key elements of the

success and scale of our drilling programs have been our recognition earlier than most of our competitors that

new horizontal drilling and completion techniques would enable development of previously uneconomic natural

gas and oil reservoirs and that as consequence various shale and other unconventional formations could be

recognized and developed as potentially prolific reservoirs rather than just as source rocks for conventional

reservoirs In response to our early recognition of these trends we have proactively hired thousands of new

employees and have built what we believe is the largest combined inventory of onshore leasehold and 3-D

seismic in the U.S These are the building blocks of our successful large-scale drilling program and the

foundation of value creation for our company

Control Substantial Land and Drilling Location Inventories After we identified the trends discussed above

we initiated plan to build and maintain the largest inventory of onshore drilling opportunities in the U.S

Recognizing that better horizontal drilling and completion technologies when applied to various new

unconventional plays would likely create unique opportunity to capture decades worth of drilling

opportunities we embarked on an aggressive lease acquisition program which we have referred to as the gas
shale land grab of 2006 through 2008 and the unconventional oil land grab of 2009 and 2010 We believed

that the winner of these land grabs would enjoy competitive advantages for decades to come as other

companies would be locked out of the best new unconventional resource plays in the U.S We believe that we

have executed our land acquisition strategy with particular distinction At December 31 2010 we held

approximately 13.2 million net acres of onshore leasehold in the U.S and have identified approximately 38000

drilling opportunities on this leasehold We believe this extensive backlog of drilling more than ten years worth

at current drilling levels provides unmistakable evidence of our future growth capabilities We further believe

that the majority of the U.S.-based land acquisition phase is now complete and are forecasting to spend

significantly less on new leasehold in the coming periods as compared to recent years

Develop Proprietary Technological Advantages In addition to our industry-leading leasehold position we

have developed number of proprietary technological advantages First we have acquired what we believe is

the nations largest inventory of three-dimensional 3-D seismic information Possessing this 3-D seismic data

enables us to image reservoirs of natural gas and oil that might otherwise remain undiscovered and to drill our

horizontal wells more accurately inside the targeted formation and avoid various underground geohazards such

as faults and karsts In addition we have developed an industry-leading informatiuri-gathering program that

gives us insight into new plays and competitor activity As result of our initiatives we now produce

approximately 5% of the nations natural gas and oil drill approximately 9% of its wells and participate in

almost an equal number of wells drilled by others By gathering this information on real-time basis then

quickly assimilating and analyzing the information we are able to react quickly to opportunities that are created

through our drilling program and those of our competitors Furthermore we have established unique

state-of-the-art Reservoir Technology Center RTC in Oklahoma City The RTC enables us to more quickly

accurately and confidentially analyze core data from wells drilled through unconventional formations on

proprietary basis then identify new plays and leasing opportunities ahead of our competition and reduce the

likelihood of investing in plays that ultimately are not commercial It also allows us to design fracture stimulation

procedures that might work most productively in the unconventional formations that we target



Build Operating Focus and Scale We believe one of the keys to success in the U.S exploration and

production industry is to build significant operating scale in areas that share many similar geological and

operational characteristics Achieving such scale provides many benefits including superior geoscientific and

engineering information higher per unit revenues lower per unit operating costs greater rates of drilling

success higher returns from more easily integrated acquisitions and higher returns on drilling investments By

focusing most of our future activities in virtually all of the nations major unconventional resource plays and

avoiding investing offshore and internationally we will continue to achieve the significant benefits of focus and

scale

Focus on Low Costs and Vertical Integration By minimizing lease operating costs and general and

administrative expenses through focused activities vertical integration and increasing scale we have been

able to deliver attractive profit margins and financial returns through all phases of the commodity price cycle

We believe our low cost structure is the result of managements effective cost-control programs high-quality

asset base and extensive access to oilfield services and to natural gas processing and transportation

infrastructures that exist in our key operating areas In addition to control costs and service provider quality

we have made significant investments in our drilling rig compression and trucking service operations and in

our midstream gathering operations that create substantial benefits from vertical integration In 2011 and 2012

we also intend to make significant investments in building our capability to hydraulically fracture our wells As of

December 31 2010 we operated approximately 26000 of our 46000 wells which delivered approximately

80% of our daily production volume This large percentage of operated properties provides us with high

degree of operational flexibility and cost control

Mitigate Natural Gas and Oil Price Risk We have used and intend to continue using hedging programs to

mitigate the risks inherent in developing and producing natural gas and oil reserves commodities that are often

subject to significant price volatility We intend to use this volatility to our benefit by taking advantage of prices

when they reach levels that management believes are either unsustainable for the long term or provide

unusually high rates of return on our invested capital Assuming future NYMEX natural gas settlement prices

average $4.50 per mcf for 2011 and including the effect of the companys open derivatives as of February 22

2011 closed contracts and previously collected call premiums the company estimates its average natural gas

price will be $5.98 per mcf for 2011 This estimate does not include the effect of basis differentials and

gathering costs

Form Value-Creating Industny Participation Agreements Since 2008 the company has entered into six

significant industry participation agreements Through these agreements the company has collaborated with

other leading energy companies to accelerate the development of the companys properties in the Haynesville

and Bossier Shales the Fayetteville Shale the Marcellus Shale the Barnett Shale the Eagle Ford Shale and

the Niobrara Shale Including the Niobrara agreement which we entered into on February 16 2011 we have

sold leasehold and producing property assets with an original cost to us of approximately $3.4 billion to our

partners for $6.5 billion of total cash consideration and $7.7 billion of drilling cost carries while retaining

majority interest in each play The remaining drilling cost carries of approximately $4.0 billion including the

Niobrara industry participation agreement as of December 31 2010 will be extremely valuable in the years

ahead by enabling the company to develop reserves in these unconventional plays at greatly reduced costs

We are also considering opportunities for additional industry participation agreements to develop certain of our

other properties Additionally in 2009 we formed joint venture with GIP for certain of our midstream assets in

the Barnett Shale and Mid Continent We and GIP have since sold portion of the equity in this venture to the

public through master limited partnership Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P

Maintain an Entrepreneurial Culture Chesapeake was formed in 1989 with an initial capitalization of

$50000 and fewer than ten employees We completed our initial public offering of common stock in early 1993

and subsequent to those early corporate milestones our management team has guided the company through

various operational and industry challenges and opportunities and extremes of natural gas and oil prices to

create the nations second-largest producer of natural gas top 20 producer of oil and natural gas liquids the

most active driller of new wells and an employer of approximately 10000 people and an indirect employer of

tens of thousands more The company takes pride in its innovative and aggressive implementation of its

business strategy and strives to be as entrepreneurial today as it has been in its past We have maintained an

unusually fiat organizational structure as we have grown to help ensure that important information travels

rapidly through the company and decisions are made and implemented quickly



Improve our Balance Sheet Our 2011 strategic and financial plan calls for 25% reduction in our long-

term debt while growing net natural gas and oil production by 25% by the end of 2012 We believe this

reduction of our debt and continued growth in our asset base will lead to our long-term debt to reserves ratio

long-term debt net of cash divided by our estimated proved reserves decreasing to less than $0.50 per mcfe

at year-end 2012 compared to $0.73 per mcfe at year-end 2010 We believe the reduction in our debt will lower

our borrowing costs increase our financial flexibility and increase our stock market valuation Additionally we

believe our improved credit metrics described above will lead to more favorable debt rating by the major

ratings agencies

Operating Areas

Chesapeake focuses its exploration development acquisition and production efforts in the nine operating

areas described below

Mid-Continent principally the Anadarko Basin Chesapeakes Mid-Continent proved reserves of 4.867

tcfe represented 28% of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2010 During 2010 this area produced

316 bcfe or 31% of our 2010 production and we invested approximately $1.1 billion to drill 596 212 net wells

in the Mid-Continent For 2011 we anticipate spending approximately $1.7 billion or 33% of our total budget

for exploration and development activities in the Mid-Continent region with continuing focus on the Granite

Wash and an increasing focus on the Tonkawa Cleveland and Mississippian liquids-rich unconventional plays

Haynesville Shale including the Bossier Shale Chesapeakes Haynesville Shale proved reserves

represented 3.583 tcfe or 21% of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2010 During 2010 the

Haynesville Shale assets produced 239 bcfe or 23% of our total production and we invested approximately

$2.0 billion to drill 500 202 net wells in the Haynesville Shale For 2011 we anticipate spending approximately

$1.65 billion or 32% of our total budget for exploration and development activities in the Haynesville Shale

Barnett Shale Chesapeakes Barnett Shale proved reserves represented 3.063 tcfe or 18% of our total

proved reserves as of December 31 2010 During 2010 the Barnett Shale assets produced 175 bcfe or 17%

of our total production and we invested approximately $570 million to drill 503 287 net wells in the Barnett

Shale net of $483 million in drilling and completion cost carries paid by our industry participation partner Total

in 2010 For 2011 we anticipate spending approximately $350 million or 7% of our total budget for exploration

and development activities net of carries in the Barnett Shale Total is obligated to fund 60% of our share of

future drilling and completion costs until $1.45 billion has been paid which we expect to occur by year-end

2013 Of the $889 million drilling cost carry remaining at December 31 2010 we expect approximately $375

million will be utilized in 2011

Fayetteville Shale Chesapeakes Fayetteville Shale proved reserves represented 2.396 tcfe or 14% of

our total proved reserves as of December 31 2010 During 2010 the Fayetteville Shale assets produced 137

bcfe or 13% of our total production and we invested approximately $725 million to drill 775 157 net wells in

the Fayetteville Shale On February 21 2011 we entered into an agreement with wholly owned subsidiary of

BHP Billiton Limited to sell the assets for $4.75 billion before certain deductions and standard closing

adjustments

Permian and Delaware Basins Chesapeakes Permian and Delaware Basin proved reserves represented

774 bcfe or 4% of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2010 During 2010 the Permian assets

produced 61 bcfe or 6% of our total production and we invested approximately $396 million to drill 156 84
net wells in the Permian and Delaware Basins For 2011 we anticipate spending approximately $425 million

or 8% of our total budget for exploration and development activities in the Permian and Delaware Basins with

an increased focus on the Bone Spring Avalun Wolfcamp and Wulfberry liquids-rich unconventional plays

Marcel/us Shale Chesapeakes Marcellus Shale proved reserves represented 860 bcfe or 5% of our

total proved reserves as of December 31 2010 During 2010 the Marcellus Shale assets produced 53 bcfe or

5% of our total production and we invested approximately $380 million to drill 329 135 net wells in the

Marcellus Shale net of $601 million in drilling and completion cost carries paid by our industry participation

partner Statoil in 2010 For 2011 we anticipate spending approximately $325 million or 6% of our total

budget for exploration and development activities net of carries in the Marcellus Shale Statoil will pay 75% of

our drilling and completion costs in the play until $2.125 billion has been paid which we expect to occur by

year-end 2012 Of the $1.362 billion drilling cost carry remaining at December 31 2010 we expect

approximately $660 million will be utilized in 2011



Eagle Ford Shale Chesapeakes Eagle Ford Shale proved reserves represented 108 bcfe or 1% of our

total proved reserves as of December 31 2010 During 2010 the Eagle Ford Shale assets produced bcfe or

nominal amount of our total production and we invested approximately $243 million to drill 82 48 net wells

in the Eagle Ford Shale net of $67 million in drilling and completion cost carries paid by our industry

participation partner CNOOC in 2010 For 2011 we anticipate spending approximately $375 million or 7% of

our total budget for exploration and development activities net of carries in the Eagle Ford Shale CNOOC will

pay 75% of our drilling and completion costs in the play until $1.08 billion has been paid which we expect to

occur by year-end 2012 Of the $1 .030 billion drilling cost carry remaining at December 31 2010 we expect

approximately $775 million will be utilized in 2011

Rockies Williston Basin Chesapeakes Rocky Mountains/Williston Basin proved reserves of bcfe

represented nominal amount of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2010 During 2010 this area

produced bcfe or nominal amount of our 2010 production and we invested approximately $77 million to

drill 32 13 net wells in the Rocky Mountains/Williston Basin For 2011 we anticipate spending approximately

$225 million or 4% of our total budget for exploration and development activities net of carries in the Rocky

Mountains/Williston Basin CNOOC will pay 67% of our drilling and completion costs in the play until $697

million has been paid which we expect to occur by year-end 2014 Of the $697 million of drilling cost carry

remaining we expect approximately $150 million will be utilized in 2011

Other Chesapeakes other proved reserves represented .438 tcfe or 9% of our total proved reserves as

of December 31 2010 During 2010 assets categorized as other produced 51 bcfe or 5% of our total

production and we invested approximately $69 million to drill 58 11 net wells in our other assets For 2011

we anticipate spending approximately $125 million or 2% of our total budget for exploration and development

activities in this area

Well Data

At December 31 2010 we had interests in approximately 45800 gross 22600 net productive wells

including properties in which we held an overriding royalty interest of which 38900 gross 20600 net were

classified as primarily natural gas productive wells and 6900 gross 2000 net were classified as primarily oil

productive wells Chesapeake operates approximately 25750 of its 45800 productive wells During 2010 we

drilled 445 gross 938 net wells and participated in another 586 gross 211 net wells operated by other

companies We operate approximately 80% of our current daily production volumes



Drilling Activity

The following table sets forth the wells we drilled or participated in during the periods indicated In the

table gross refers to the total wells in which we had working interest and net refers to gross wells

multiplied by our working interest

2010 2009 2008

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Development

Productive 2721 99 1031 99 1971 98 875 99 3479 99 1650 99

Dry 301 121 332 401 131
Total 2751 100% 1043 100% 2004 100% 883 100% 3519 100% 1663 100%

Exploratory

Productive 265 95 99 93 196 97 115 96 142 90 63 90

Dry 155 77 63 54 1510 710

Total 280 100% 106 100% 202 100% 120 100% 157 100% 70 100%

The following table shows the wells we drilled or participated in by area

2010 2009 2008

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Wells Wells Wells Wells Wells Wells

Mid-Continent 596 212 386 144 1515 542

Haynesville/Bossier Shale 500 202 337 163 81 42

Barnett Shale 503 287 417 339 776 600

Fayetteville Shale 775 157 774 209 814 220

Permian and Delaware Basins 156 84 93 42 165 95

Marcellus Shale 329 135 149 74 32 23

Eagle Ford Shale 82 48

Rockies/Williston Basin 32 13

Other 58 11 50 32 293 211

Total 3031 1149 2206 1003 3676 1733

At December 31 2010 we had 221 86 net wells in process



Production Sales Prices and Expenses

The following table sets forth information regarding the production volumes natural gas and oil sales

average sales prices received other operating income and expenses for the periods indicated

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net Productiona
Natural gas bcf 924.g 834.8 775.4

Oil mmbblb 18.4 11.8 11.2

Natural gas equivalent bcfe 1035.2 905.5 842.7

Natural Gas and Oil Sales in millions

Natural gas sales 316g 2635 6003
Natural gas derivatives realized gains losses 1982 2313 267

Natural gas derivatives unrealized gains losses 425 492 521

Total natural gas sales 5576 4456 6791

Oil salesb 1079 656 1066
Oil derivatives realized gains losses 74 33 275
Oil derivatives unrealized gains losses 1082 96 276

Total oil sales 71 593 1067

Total natural gas and oil sales 5647 5049 7858

Average Sales Price excluding gains losses on derivativesa

Natural gas per mcf 3.43 3.16 7.74

Oil per bbl 58.67 55.60 95.04

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe 4.10 3.63 8.39

Average Sales Price excluding unrealized gains losses on

derivatives

Natural gas per mci 5.57 5.93 8.09

Oil per bbl 62.71 58.38 70.48

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe 6.09 6.22 8.38

Other Operating lncomec per mcfe
Marketing gathering and compression net margin 0.12 0.16 0.11

Service operations net margin 0.03 0.01 0.04

Expenses per mcfe
Production expensess 0.86 0.97 1.05

Production taxes 0.15 0.12 0.34

General and administrative expenses 0.44 0.38 0.45

Natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and amortization 1.35 1.51 2.34

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 0.21 0.27 0.21

Interest expensed 0.08 0.22 0.22

Our production prices and production expenses are disclosed by region under Results of Operations in

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Includes NGLs

Includes revenue and operating costs and excludes depreciation and amortization of other assets

Includes the effects of realized gains or losses from interest rate derivatives but excludes the effects of

unrealized gains or losses and is net of amounts capitalized



Natural Gas and Oil Reserves

The tables below set forth information as of December 31 2010 with respect to our estimated proved

reserves the associated estimated future net revenue and present value discounted at an annual rate of 10%
of estimated future net revenue before and after future income taxes standardized measure at such date

Neither the pre-tax present value of estimated future net revenue nor the after-tax standardized measure is

intended to represent the current market value of the estimated natural gas and oil reserves we own All of our

estimated natural gas and oil reserves are located within the United States

December 31 2010

Natural Gas Oil

bcf mmbbla Total bcfeb

Proved developed 8246 149.3 9143

Proved undeveloped 7209 124.1 7953

Total proved 15455 273.4 17096

Proved Proved

Developed Undeveloped Total Proved

in millions

Estimated future net revenuec 23322 14308 37630

Present value of estimated future net revenuec 11423 3723 15146

Standardized measurecXd 13183

Natural Present

Gas Percent of Value

Natural Oil Equivalent Proved in

Gas bcf mmbbla bcfe$b Reserves millions

Mid-Continent 3704 193.7 4867 28% 6588

Haynesville/Bossier Shale 3583 3583 21 2408

Barnett Shale 2995 11.2 3063 18 1299

Fayetteville Shale 2396 2396 14 1457

Permian and Delaware Basins 515 43.1 774 1058

Marcellus Shale 801 10.0 860 1497

Eagle Ford Shale 58 8.2 108 245

Rockies/Williston Basin 0.8 15

Other 1400 6.4 1438 579

Total 15455 273.4 17096 100% 15146c

Includes NGLs

Natural gas equivalent based on six mcf of natural gas to one barrel of oil

Estimated future net revenue represents the estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the

production of proved reserves net of estimated production and future development costs using prices and

costs under existing economic conditions at December 31 2010 For the purpose of determining prices

we used the unweighted arithmetic average of the prices on the first day of each month within the

12-month period ended December 31 2010 The prices used in our reserve reports were $4.38 per mcf of

natural gas and $79.42 per barrel of oil before price differential adjustments These prices should not be

interpreted as prediction of future prices nor do they reflect the value of our commodity hedges in place

at December 31 2010 The amounts shown do not give effect to non-property related expenses such as

corporate general and administrative expenses and debt service or to depreciation depletion and

amortization The present value of estimated future net revenue differs from the standardized measure

only because the former does not include the effects of estimated future income tax expenses $2.0 billion

as of December 31 2010

Management uses future net revenue which is calculated without deducting estimated future income tax

expenses and the present value thereof as one measure of the value of the companys current proved

reserves and to compare relative values among peer companies We also understand that securities

analysts and rating agencies use this measure in similarways While future net revenue and present value
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are based on prices costs and discount factors which are consistent from company to company the

standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is dependent on the unique tax situation of each

individual company

Additional information on the standardized measure is presented in Note 10 of the notes to our

consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report

As of December 31 2010 our reserve estimates included 7.953 tcfe of reserves classified as proved

undeveloped PUD compared to 5.923 tcfe as of December 31 2009 Presented below is summary of

changes in our proved undeveloped reserves for 2010

Total

bcfe

Proved undeveloped reserves beginning of period 5923

Extensions discoveries and other additions 3210

Revisions of previous estimates 365
Developed 603
Sale of reserves-in-place 233
Purchase of reserves-in-place 21

Proved undeveloped reserves end of period 7953

As of December 31 2010 there were no PUDs that had remained undeveloped for five years or more We

invested approximately $789 million net of drilling cost carries in 2010 to convert 603 bcfe of PUD5 to proved

developed reserves In 2011 we estimate that we wilt invest approximately $1.9 billion net of drilling cost

carries for PUD conversion

The future net revenue attributable to our estimated proved undeveloped reserves of $14.308 billion at

December 31 2010 and the $3.723 billion present value thereof has been calculated assuming that we wilt

expend approximately $10.7 billion to develop these reserves Net of drilling cost carries we have projected to

incur$1.9 billion in 2011 $1.4 billion in 2012 $2.1 billion in 2013 and $5.3 billion in 2014 and beyond although

the amount and timing of these expenditures will depend on number of factors including actual drilling

results service costs product prices and the availability of capital Chesapeakes developmental drilling

schedules are subject to revision and reprioritization throughout the year resulting from unknowable factors

such as the relative success in an individual developmental drilling prospect leading to an additional drilling

opportunity rig availability title issues or delays and the effect that acquisitions may have on prioritizing

developmental drilling plans

The SECs modernized rules for reporting oil and gas reserves which became effective December 31

2009 allow the booking of proved undeveloped reserves at locations greater distances from producing wells

than immediate offsets All proved reserves are required to meet reasonable certainty standards thus

locations more than direct offsets to producing wells must be shown to be underlain by the productive

formation Reasonable certainty also requires that the formation is continuous between the producing wells and

the PUD locations and that the PUDs are economically viable We booked PUDs more than directly offsetting

producing wells in three resource plays the Barnett Shale the Fayetteville Shale and the Haynesville Shale In

all other areas we restricted PUD locations to immediate offsets to producing wells Within the Barnett

Fayetteville and Haynesville Shale plays we used both public and proprietary geologic data to establish

continuity of the formation and its producing properties This included seismic data and interpretations 2-D
3-D and micro seismic open hole log information both vertical and horizontally collected and petrophysical

analysis of the log data mud logs gas sample analysis drill cutting samples measurements of total organic

content thermal maturity sidewall cores whole cores and data measured from our internal core analysis

facility After the geologic area was shown to be continuous statistical analysis of existing producing wells was

conducted to generate an area of reasonable certainty at distances from established production Undrilled

locations within this proved area could be booked as PUD5 However due to other factors and requirements of

the modernized rules numerous locations within the proved area of these three statistically evaluated plays

have not yet been booked as PUDs
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Our annual net decline rate on producing properties is projected to be 30% from 2011 to 2012 19% from

2012 to 2013 14% from 2013 to 2014 12% from 2014 to 2015 and 10% from 2015 to 2016 Of our 9.143 tcfe

of proved developed reserves as of December 31 2010 950 bcfe were non-producing

Chesapeakes ownership interest used in calculating proved reserves and the associated estimated future

net revenue was determined after giving effect to the assumed maximum participation by other parties to our

farmout and participation agreements The prices used in calculating the estimated future net revenue

attributable to proved reserves do not reflect market prices for natural gas and oil production sold subsequent

to December 31 2010 There can be no assurance that all of the estimated proved reserves will be produced

and sold at the assumed prices

The companys estimated proved reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash

flows of the proved reserves at December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 and the changes in quantities and

standardized measure of such reserves for each of the three years then ended are shown in Note 10 of the

notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report No estimates of proved reserves

comparable to those included herein have been included in reports to any federal agency other than the SEC

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and in projecting

future rates of production and timing of development expenditures including many factors beyond

Chesapeakes control The reserve data represent only estimates Reserve engineering is subjective process

of estimating underground accumulations of natural gas and oil that cannot be measured in an exact way and

the accuracy of any reserve estimate is function of the quality of available data and of engineering and

geological interpretation and judgment As result estimates made by different engineers often vary In

addition results of drilling testing and production subsequent to the date of an estimate may justify revision of

such estimates and such revisions may be material Accordingly reserve estimates are often different from the

actual quantities of natural gas and oil that are ultimately recovered Furthermore the estimated future net

revenue from proved reserves and the associated present value are based upon certain assumptions including

prices future production levels and costs that may not prove correct Future prices and costs may be materially

higher or lower than the prices and costs as of the date of any estimate

Reserves Price Sensitivity

An increase or decrease in price of $0.10 per mcf for natural gas and $1.00 per barrel for oil would result in

corresponding change in the December 31 2010 present value of estimated future net revenue of our proved

reserves of approximately $600 million and $90 million respectively The estimated future net revenue used in

this analysis does not include the effects of future income taxes or hedging

Chesapeakes management uses forward-looking market-based data in developing its drilling plans

assessing its capital expenditure needs and projecting future cash flows We believe that using the 10-year

average future NYMEX strip prices yields better indication of the likely economic producibility of proved

reserves than the trailing average 12-month price required by the SECs reserve rules or period-end spot

price as used under the SEC rules before December 31 2009 Reserve volumes represent estimated

production to be sold in the future Futures prices such as the 10-year average NYMEX strip prices represent

an unbiased consensus estimate by market participants about the likely prices to be received for our future

production We hedge substantial amounts of future production based on futures prices While historical data

such as the trailing 12-month average price required by the SECs reporting rule facilitate comparisons of

proved reserves from company to company and may be helpful in discerning trends such as price-related

effects on end-user demand the price at which we can sell our production in the future is by far the major

determinant of the likely economic producibility of our reserves 12-month average price adjusts slowly to

falling or rising prices further detracting from its usefulness as predictor of the prices at which future

production will actually be sold
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The table below compares our estimated proved reserves and associated present value discounted at an

annual rate of 10% of estimated future revenue before income tax using the 2010 12-month average prices of

$4.38 per mcf and $79.42 per bbl before price differential adjustments reflected in our reported reserve

estimates and the 10-year average future NYMEX strip prices as of December 31 2010 which were $5.67 per

mcf and $93.53 per barrel before price differential adjustments There is no change to our cost or other

assumptions hetween this higher price scenario and those used in the estimation of our reported reserves

December 31 2010

Gas Oil Total Present Value

bcf mmbbla bcfe in millions

2010 12-month average prices

SECb 15455 273 17096 15146

10-year average future NYMEX strip

prices as of December 31 2010c 15946 276 17605 21715

Includes NGLs

Volumes represent proved reserves as defined in Rule 4-10a22 of Regulation S-X

Volumes do not represent proved reserves as defined in Rule 4-10a22 of Regulation S-X

Reserves Estimation

Chesapeakes Reservoir Engineering Department prepared approximately 22% of the proved reserves

estimates by volume disclosed in this report based upon review of production histories and other geologic

economic ownership and engineering data we developed The estimates were not based on any single

significant assumption due to the diverse nature of the reserves and there is no significant concentration of

proved reserve volume or value in any one well or field The department currently has total of 97 full-time

employees consisting of 58 degreed engineers 10 serving in management capacities 37 engineering

technicians with minimum of four-year degree in mathematics economics finance or other business

science field and administrative persons Twelve of our engineers are registered professional engineers with

various state board certifications The department collectively has approximately 1400 years of engineering

industry experience Chesapeake maintains continuous education program for engineers and technicians on

new technologies and industry advancements and also offers refresher training on basic skill sets

Chesapeake maintains internal controls such as the following to ensure the reliability of reserves

estimations

No employees compensation is tied to the amount of reserves booked

We follow comprehensive SEC-compliant internal policies to determine and report proved reserves

Reserves estimates are made by experienced reservoir engineers or under their direct supervision

The Reservoir Engineering Department reviews all the companys reported proved reserves at the

close of each quarter

Each quarter Reservoir Engineering Department managers the Vice President of Reservoir

Engineering the Senior Vice President of Production and the Chief Operating Officer review all

significant reserves changes and all new proved undeveloped reserves additions

The Reservoir Engineering Department reports independently of any of our operating divisions

Chesapeakes Vice President of Reservoir Engineering is the technical person primarily responsible for

overseeing the preparation of the companys reserve estimates His qualifications include the following

35 years of practical experience in petroleum engineering with 32 years of this experience being in the

estimation and evaluation of reserves

certified professional engineer in the state of Oklahoma

Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering

member in good standing of the Society of Petroleum Engineers
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We engaged four third-party engineering firms to prepare portions of our reserves estimates comprising

approximately 78% of our estimated proved reserves by volume at year-end 2010 The portion of our

estimated proved reserves prepared by each of our third-party engineering firms as of December 31 2010 is

presented below

Prepared

by Volume Principal Properties

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc 58% Barnett Shale

Fayetteville Shale

Haynesville Shale

Mid-Continent portions

Permian and Delaware Basins

Ark-La-Tex portions

Lee Keeling and Associates Inc 7% Mid-Continent

South Texas/ Texas Gulf Coast portions

Eagle Ford Shale

Data and Consulting Services Division of

Schlumberger Technology Corporation ... 7% Marcellus Shale

Other Appalachian Basin

Ryder Scott Company L.P 6% Mid-Continent portions

Copies of the reports issued by the engineering firms are filed with this report as Exhibits 99.1 g9.4 The

qualifications of the technical person at each of these firms primarily responsible for overseeing his firms

preparation of the companys reserve estimates are set forth below

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc

over 28 years of practical experience in petroleum engineering and in the estimation and evaluation of

reserves

registered professional engineer in the state of Texas

Bachelor of Science Degree in Petroleum Engineering

Lee Keeling and Associates Inc

over 45 years of practical experience in petroleum engineering and in the estimation and evaluation of

reserves

certified professional engineer in the state of Oklahoma

Bachelor of Science Degree in Petroleum Engineering

Data and Consulting Services Division of Schiumberger Technology Corporation

over 20 years of practical experience in petroleum geology and in the estimation and evaluation of

reserves

registered professional geologist license in the commonwealth of Pennsylvania

certified petroleum geologist of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists

Bachelor of Science Degree in Geological Sciences

Ryder Scott Company L.P

over 30 years of practical experience in the estimation and evaluation of reserves

registered professional engineer in the state of Texas

Bachelor of Science Degree in Electrical Engineering

member in good standing of the Society of Petroleum Engineers and the Society of Petroleum

Evaluation Engineers
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Mid-Continent

Haynesville/

Bossier

Shale

Barnett Shale

Fayetteville

Shale

Permian and

Delaware

Basins

Marcellus

Shale

Eagle Ford

Shale

Rockies Williston

Basin

Other

Total

4739
691

181

5613

6953
243

7196

Includes $383 million of capitalized internal costs and $24 million of related capitalized interest

Includes $687 million of related capitalized interest

Exploration and Development Acquisition and Divestiture Activities

The following table sets forth historical cost information regarding our exploration and development

acquisition and divestiture activities during the periods indicated

December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Development and exploration costs

Development drillinga

Exploratory drilling

Geological and geophysical costsbc

Asset retirement obligation and other

Acquisition costs

Unproved propertiesd

Proved properties

Deferred income taxes

Proceeds from divestitures

Unproved properties

Proved properties

Total

2729
651

162

3540

2793
61

2854

5185
612

314

10

6121

8250
355

13

8618

5302
2433

7735

7004

1524 1265
2876 461

________

4400 1726
________

8409 4668 _______

Includes capitalized internal costs of $367 million $337 million and $326 million respectively

Includes capitalized internal costs of $16 million $22 million and $26 million respectively

Includes $24 million $29 million and $25 million of related capitalized interest respectively

Includes $687 million $598 million and $561 million of related capitalized interest respectively

Our development costs included $789 million $621 million and $1.5 billion in 2010 2009 and 2008

respebtively related to properties carried as proved undeveloped locations in the prior years reserve reports

summary of our exploration and development acquisition and divestiture activities in 2010 by operating

area is as follows

Acquisition Acquisition Sales Sales

Gross Exploration of of of of

Wells Net Wells and Unproved Proved Unproved Proved

Drilled Drilled Developmenta Propertiesb Properties Properties Properties Total

in millions

596 212$ 1121$ 547$ 90$ 1758

202

287

2032
570

411

216

725 74

156

329

84

135

396

380

41

1114

500 66 57 2448
503 38 1938 1190

775 157 799

82 48 243 1863 73

32 13 77 912 997

58 11 69 1775 301 1545

3031 1149 5613 6953 243 1524$ 2876$ 8409

396

1029

560 125

1100

73 1077
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Acreage

We actively acquire new leases most of which have three-to-five year term Managing lease expirations

to ensure that we do not experience unintended material expirations is an important part of our business Our

leasehold management efforts include scheduling our drilling to establish production in paying quantities in

order to hold leases by production timely exercising our contractual rights to pay delay rentals to extend the

terms of leases we value planning leasehold asset sales and industry participation transactions to high-grade

our lease inventory or to raise capital for additional development and letting some low-value leases expire We

maintain very large drilling program that is rigorously scheduled to lock in our acreage with the highest

prospective value The fact that we control substantial rig
fleet and other service operations gives us high

degree of confidence that we will be able to execute our drilling plans We have determined that the amount of

undeveloped leasehold that we reasonably believe will be abandoned or allowed to expire at the end of the

lease term is immaterial to our operations

The following table sets forth as of December 31 2010 the gross and net leasehold acres of both

developed and undeveloped natural gas and oil leases which we hold Gross acres are the total number of

acres in which we own working interest Net acres refer to gross acres multiplied by our fractional working

interest Acreage numbers do not include our options to acquire additional acreage which have not been

exercised

Developed Undeveloped Total

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Acres Acres Acres Acres Acres Acres

in thousands

Mid-Continent 4469 2252 2720 1627 7189 3879

Haynesville/Bossier Shale 375 269 405 258 780 527

BarnettShale 235 132 166 85 401 217

FayettevilleShale 414 188 955 413 1369 601

Permian and Delaware

Basins 364 212 1567 992 1931 1204

Marcellus Shale 408 211 2972 1460 3380 1671

Eagle Ford Shale 45 25 852 440 897 465

Rockies/Williston Basin 41 19 1456 832 1497 851

Other 2182 1736 3437 2062 5619 3798

Total 8533 5044 14530 8169 23063 13213

Marketing Gathering and Compression

Marketing

Chesapeake Energy Marketing Inc one of our wholly owned subsidiaries provides natural gas and oil

marketing services including commodity price structuring contract administration and nomination services for

Chesapeake its partners and other producers We attempt to enhance the value of our natural gas and oil

production by aggregating volumes to be sold to various intermediary markets end markets and pipelines This

aggregation allows us to attract larger more creditworthy customers that in turn assist in maximizing the prices

received for our production

Our oil production is generally sold under market sensitive or spot price contracts The revenue we receive

from the sale of natural gas liquids is included in oil sales

Our natural gas production is sold to purchasers under percentage-of-proceeds contracts

percentage-of-index contracts or spot price contracts By the terms of the percentage-of-proceeds contracts

we receive percentage of the resale price received by the purchaser after transportation and processing of

our natural gas Under percentage-of-index contracts the price per mmbtu we receive for our natural gas is

tied to indexes published in loside FERC or Gas Daily Although exact percentages vary daily as of February

2011 approximately 80% of our natural gas production was sold under short-term contracts at market-sensitive

prices No customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenues excluding gains losses on derivatives in

2010

16



Our marketing activities along with our midstream gathering and compression activities discussed below

constitute reportable segment under accounting guidance for disclosure about segments of an enterprise and

related information See Note 16 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item of this report

Midstream Gathering Operations

Chesapeake invests in gathering systems and processing facilities to complement our natural gas

operations in regions where we have significant production and additional infrastructure is required By doing

so we are better able to manage the value received for and the costs of gathering treating and processing

natural gas These systems are designed primarily to gather company production for delivery into major

intrastate or interstate pipelines In addition our midstream business provides services to third-party

customers Chesapeake generates revenues from its gathering treating and compression activities through

fixed-rate fee structures The company also processes portion of its natural gas at various third-party plants

Our midstream assets are held and operated by our wholly owned subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream

Development L.P CMD and its subsidiaries In September 2009 we formed joint venture with GIP to own

and operate natural gas midstream assets As part of the transaction we contributed certain natural gas

gathering systems that had been held by CMD and its subsidiaries to new entity Chesapeake Midstream

Partners L.L.C CMP and GIP purchased 50% interest in CMP for $588 million in cash The assets we

contributed to the joint venture were substantially all of our midstream assets in the Barnett Shale and also the

majority of our non-shale midstream assets in the Arkoma Anadarko Delaware and Permian Basins

Together these assets constituted approximately 57% of our total midstream assets as of September 30

2009

On August 2010 Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P NYSE CHKM which we and GIP formed to

own operate develop and acquire midstream assets completed an initial public offering of 24437500

common units including 3187500 common units issued pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters over-

allotment option on August 2010 representing limited partner interests and received net offering proceeds of

approximately $475 million at an initial offering price of $21.00 per unit In connection with the closing of the

offering and pursuant to the terms of our contribution agreement with GIP CHKM distributed to GIP the

approximate $62 million of net proceeds from the exercise of the over-allotment option In connection with the

closing of the offering Chesapeake and GIP contributed the interests of the midstream joint ventures operating

subsidiary to CHKM CHKM is continuing the business that had been conducted by the joint venture Common

units owned by public security holders represent 17.7% of all outstanding limited partner interests and

Chesapeake and GIP hold 42.3% and 40.0% respectively of all outstanding limited partner interests The

limited partners collectively have 98.0% interest in CHKM and the general partner which is owned and

controlled 50/50 by Chesapeake and GIP has 2.0% interest in CHKM

Subsidiaries of CMD continue to operate our midstream assets outside of CHKM The CMD systems are

located in Oklahoma Texas Colorado New Mexico New York Ohio Louisiana Arkansas Pennsylvania

Wyoming and West Virginia and consist of approximately 1750 miles of gathering pipelines servicing over

1150 natural gas wells These include natural gas gathering assets in the Fayetteville Shale Marcellus Shale

and other areas in Appalachia Compared to the Barnett Shale and Mid-Continent areas where the CHKM

midstream assets are located these are less developed areas and will require significant build-out capital

expenditures As described in Recent Developments in February 2011 we agreed to sell the CMD midstream

assets in the Fayetteville Shale in transaction expected to close in the first half of 2011 source of liquidity

for CMDs business is the $300 million revolving credit facility described under Liquidity and Capital Resources

in Item below On December 21 2010 CMD sold its Springridge natural gas gathering system and related

facilities in the Haynesville Shale to CHKM for $500 million In connection with this transaction CHKM and

certain Chesapeake subsidiaries entered into ten-year gathering and compression agreements covering

upstream assets within an area of dedication around the existing pipeline system The gathering and

compression agreements are similar to the previously existing gathering agreement between Chesapeake and

CHKM and include minimum volume commitment and periodic rate redetermination

Compression

Since 2003 Chesapeake has expanded its compression business Our wholly owned subsidiary MidCon

Compression L.L.C operates wellhead and system compressors to facilitate the transportation of natural gas

primarily produced from Chesapeake-operated wells In series of transactions since 2007 MidCon sold
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significant portion of its compressor fleet consisting of 2234 compressors for $517 million and entered into

master lease agreement These transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks

Service Operations

Drilling

Securing available rigs is an integral part of the exploration process and therefore owning our own drilling

company is strategic advantage for Chesapeake In 2001 Chesapeake formed its wholly owned drilling

subsidiary now Nomac Drilling L.L.C with an investment of $26 million to build and refurbish five drilling rigs

As of December 31 2010 Chesapeake had invested approximately $1.1 billion to build or acquire 105 drilling

rigs which are utilized primarily to drill Chesapeake-operated wells In series of transactions since 2006 our

drilling subsidiaries sold 86 rigs for $717 million and subsequently leased back the rigs through 2018 These

transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks The drilling rigs have depth ratings between

3000 and 25000 feet and range in drilling horsepower from 450 to 2000 These drilling rigs are currently

operating in Oklahoma Texas Arkansas Louisiana and Appalachia Nomac Drilling L.L.C is the fifth largest

drilling rig contractor in the U.S

Trucking

In 2006 Chesapeake expanded its service operations by acquiring two privately-owned oilfield trucking

service companies We now own one of the largest oilfield and heavy haul transportation companies in the

industry Our trucking business is utilized primarily to transport drilling rigs for both Chesapeake and third

parties Through this ownership we are better able to manage the movement of our rigs As of December 31

2010 our fleet included 208 trucks and 22 cranes which mainly service the Mid-Continent Barnett Shale and

Appalachian regions

Seasonal Nature of Business

Generally the demand for natural gas decreases during the summer months and increases during the

winter months Seasonal anomalies such as mild winters or hot summers can lessen or intensify this

fluctuation In addition pipelines utilities local distribution companies and industrial users utilize natural gas

storage facilities and purchase some of their anticipated winter requirements during the summer This can

lessen seasonal demand fluctuations World weather and resultant prices for liquified natural gas LNG can

also affect deliveries of competing LNG into this country from abroad affecting the price of domestically

produced natural gas

Competition

We compete with both major integrated and other independent natural gas and oil companies in acquiring

desirable leasehold acreage producing properties and the equipment and expertise necessary to explore

develop and operate our properties and market our production Some of our competitors may have larger

financial and other resources than ours The natural gas and oil industry also faces competition from alternative

fuel sources including other fossil fuels such as coal and imported LNG Competitive conditions may be

affected by future legislation and regulations as the U.S develops new energy and climate-related policies In

addition some of our larger competitors may have competitive advantage when responding to factors that

affect demand for natural gas and oil production such as changing prices domestic and foreign political

conditions weather conditions the price and availability of alternative fuels the proximity and capacity of gas

pipelines and other transportation facilities and overall economic conditions We believe that our technological

expertise our exploration land drilling and production capabilities and the experience of our management

generally enable us to compete effectively

Hedging Activities

We utilize hedging strategies to hedge the price of portion of our future natural gas and oil production

and to manage interest rate exposure See Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market

Risk

Regulation

GeneraL All of our operations are conducted onshore in the United States The U.S natural gas and oil

industry is regulated at the federal state and local levels and some of the laws rules and regulations that
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govern our operations carry substantial penalties for noncompliance These regulatory burdens increase our

cost of doing business and consequently affect our profitability

Regulation of Natural Gas and Oil Operations Our exploration and production operations are subject to

various types of regulation at the U.S federal state and local levels Such regulation includes requirements for

permits to drill and to conduct other operations and for provision of financial assurances such as bonds

covering drilling and well operations Other activities subject to regulation include but are not limited to

the location of wells

the method of drilling and completing wells

the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled

the plugging and abandoning of wells

the disposal of fluids used or other wastes generated in connection with operations

the marketing transportation and reporting of production and

the valuation and payment of royalties

Our operations are also subject to various conservation regulations These include the regulation of the

size of drilling and spacing units regarding the density of wells that may be drilled in particular area and the

unitization or pooling of natural gas and oil properties In this regard some states such as Oklahoma allow the

forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate exploration while other states such as Texas and New

Mexico rely on voluntary pooling of lands and leases In areas where pooling is voluntary it may be more

difficult to form units and therefore more difficult to fully develop project if the operator owns less than 100%

of the leasehold In addition state conservation laws establish maximum rates of production from natural gas

and oil wells generally prohibit the venting or flaring of natural gas and impose certain requirements regarding

the ratability of production The effect of these regulations is to limit the amount of natural gas and oil we can

produce and to limit the number of wells and the locations at which we can drill

Chesapeake operates number of natural gas gathering systems The U.S Department of Transportation

and certain state agencies regulate the safety and operating aspects of the transportation and storage activities

of these facilities There is currently no price regulation of the companys sales of natural gas oil and natural

gas liquids although governmental agencies may elect in the future to regulate certain sales

We do not anticipate that compliance with existing laws and regulations governing exploration production

and natural gas gathering will have material adverse effect upon our capital expenditures earnings or

competitive position

Environmental Health and Safety Regulation The business operations of the company and its ownership

and operation of natural gas and oil interests are subject to various federal state and local environmental

health and safety laws and regulations pertaining to the release emission or discharge of materials into the

environment the generation storage transportation handling and disposal of materials including solid and

hazardous wastes the safety of employees or otherwise relating to pollution preservation remediation or

protection of human health and safety natural resources wildlife or the environment We must take into

account the cost of complying with environmental regulations in planning designing constructing drilling

operating and abandoning wells and related surface facilities In most instances the regulatory frameworks

relate to the handling of drilling and production materials the disposal of drilling and production wastes and the

protection of water and air In addition our operations may require us to obtain permits for among other things

air emissions

the construction and operation of underground injection wells to dispose of produced saltwater and

other non-hazardous oilfield wastes and

the construction and operation of surface pits to contain drilling muds and other non-hazardous fluids

associated with drilling operations

Federal state and local laws may require us to remove or remediate previously disposed wastes including

wastes disposed of or released by us or prior owners or operators in accordance with current laws or

otherwise to suspend or cease operations at contaminated areas or to perform remedial well plugging

operations or response actions to reduce the risk of future contamination Federal laws including the
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Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act or CERCLA and analogous state

laws impose joint and several liability without regard to fault or legality of the original conduct on classes of

persons who are considered responsible for releases of hazardous substance into the environment These

persons include the owner or operator of the site where the release occurred and persons that disposed of or

arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances at the site CERCLA and analogous state laws also

authorize the U.S Environmental Protection Agency EPA state environmental agencies and in some cases

third parties to take action to prevent or respond to threats to human health or the environment and to seek to

recover from responsible classes of persons the costs of such actions

Other federal and state laws in particular the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act regulate

hazardous and non-hazardous wastes Under longstanding legal framework certain wastes generated by our

natural gas and oil operations are not subject to federal regulations governing hazardous wastes though they

may be regulated under other federal and state laws These wastes may in the future be designated as

hazardous wastes and may thus become subject to more rigorous and costly compliance and disposal

requirements

Vast quantities of natural gas and oil deposits exist in deep shale and other formations It is customary in

our industry to recover natural gas and oil from these deep shale formations through the use of hydraulic

fracturing combined with sophisticated horizontal drilling Hydraulic fracturing is the process of creating or

expanding cracks or fractures in formations underground where water sand and other additives are pumped
under high pressure into shale formation These formations are generally geologically separated and isolated

from fresh ground water supplies by protective rock layers Our well construction practices include installation

of multiple layers of protective steel casing surrounded by cement that are specifically designed and installed to

protect freshwater aquifers by preventing the migration of fracturing fluids into aquifers Legislative and

regulatory efforts at the federal level and in some states have sought to render permitting and compliance

requirements more stringent for hydraulic fracturing If passed into law such efforts could have an adverse

effect on our operations

Federal and state occupational safety and health laws require us to organize and maintain information

about hazardous materials used released or produced in our operations Certain portions of this information

must be provided to employees state and local governmental authorities and local citizens We are also

subject to the requirements and reporting set forth in federal workplace standards

We have made and will continue to make expenditures to comply with environmental health and safety

regulations and requirements These are necessary business costs in the natural gas and oil industry Although

we are not fully insured against all environmental health and safety risks and our insurance does not cover

any penalties or fines that may be issued by governmental authority we maintain insurance coverage which

we believe is customary in the industry Moreover it is possible that other developments such as stricter and

more comprehensive environmental health and safety laws and regulations as well as claims for damages to

property or persons resulting from company operations could result in substantial costs and liabilities

including civil and criminal penalties to Chesapeake We believe that we are in material compliance with

existing environmental health and safety regulations We believe that the cost of maintaining compliance with

these existing regulations will not have material adverse effect on our business financial position and results

of operation but new or more stringent regulations could increase the cost of doing business

Climate Change Various state governments and regional organizations comprising state governments are

considering enacting new legislation and promulgating new regulations governing or restricting the emission of

greenhouse gases from stationary sources such as our equipment and operations At the federal level the

EPA has already made findings and issued regulations that require us to establish and report an inventory of

greenhouse gas emissions and that could lead to the imposition of restrictions on greenhouse gas emissions

from stationary sources such as ours Legislative and regulatory proposals for restricting greenhouse gas

emissions or otherwise addressing climate change could require us to incur additional operating costs and

could adversely affect demand for the natural gas and oil that we sell The potential increase in our operating

costs could include new or increased costs to obtain permits operate and maintain our equipment and

facilities install new emission controls on our equipment and facilities acquire allowances to authorize our

greenhouse gas emissions pay taxes related to our greenhouse gas emissions and administer and manage

greenhouse gas emissions program Moreover incentives to conserve energy or use alternative energy

sources could reduce demand for natural gas and oil
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Title to Properties

Our title to properties is subject to royalty overriding royalty carried net profits -working and other similar

interests and contractual arrangements customary in the natural gas and oil industry to liens for current taxes

not yet due and to other encumbrances As is customary in the industry in the case of undeveloped properties

only cursory investigation of record title is made at the time of acquisition Drilling title opinions are usually

prepared before commencement of drilling operations We believe we have satisfactory title to substantially all

of our active properties in accordance with standards generally accepted in the natural gas and oil industry

Nevertheless we are involved in title disputes from time to time which result in litigation

Operating Hazards and Insurance

The natural gas and oil business involves variety of operating risks including the risk of fire explosions

blow-outs pipe failure abnormally pressured formations and environmental hazards such as oil spills natural

gas leaks ruptures or discharges of toxic gases If any of these should occur Chesapeake could incur legal

defense costs and could suffer substantial losses due to injury or loss of life severe damage to or destruction

of property natural resources and equipment pollution or other environmental damage clean-up

responsibilities regulatory investigation and penalties and suspension of operations Our horizontal and deep

drilling activities involve greater risk of mechanical problems than vertical and shallow drilling operations

Chesapeake maintains $75 million control of well policy that insures against certain sudden and

accidental risks associated with drilling completing and operating our wells There is no assurance that this

insurance will be adequate to cover all losses or exposure to liability Chesapeake also carries $400 million

comprehensive general liability umbrella policy and $130 million pollution liability policy We provide workers

compensation insurance coverage to employees in all states in which we operate While we believe these

policies are customary in the industry they do not provide complete coverage against all operating risks In

addition our insurance does not cover penalties or fines that may be assessed by governmental authority

loss not fully covered by insurance could have material adverse effect on our financial position results of

operations and cash flows The insurance coverage that we maintain may not be sufficient to cover every claim

made against us in the future

Facilities

Chesapeake owns an office complex in Oklahoma City and we continue to construct additional buildings in

Oklahoma City and in our operating areas as needed to accommodate our ongoing growth We also own or

lease various field or administrative offices in the areas in which we conduct operations

Employees

Chesapeake had approximately 10000 employees as of December 31 2010

Glossary of Natural Gas and Oil Terms

The terms defined in this section are used throughout this Form 10-K

Bcf Billion cubic feet

Bcfe Billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Bbl One stock tank barrel or 42 U.S gallons liquid volume used herein in reference to crude oil or other

liquid hydrocarbons

Bbtu One billion British thermal units

Btu British thermal unit which is the heat required to raise the temperature of one-pound mass of water

from 58.5 to 59.5 degrees Fahrenheit

Commercia/ Well Commercially Productive Well natural gas and oil well which produces natural gas

and oil in sufficient quantities such that proceeds from the sale of such production exceed production expenses

and taxes
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Conventional Reserves Natural gas and oil occurring as discrete accumulations in structural and

stratigraphic traps

Developed Acreage The number of acres which are allocated or assignable to producing wells or wells

capable of production

Development WelL well drilled within the proved area of an oil or natural gas reservoir to the depth of

stratigraphic horizon known to be productive

Drilling Carry Obligation An obligation of one party to pay certain well costs attributable to another party

Dry Hole Dry Well well found to be incapable of producing either oil or natural gas in sufficient

quantities to justify completion as natural gas or oil well

Exploratory WelL well drilled to find new field or to find new reservoir in field previously found to be

productive of natural gas or oil in another reservoir

Farmout An assignment of an interest in drilling location and related acreage conditional upon the

drilling of well on that location

Formation succession of sedimentary beds that were deposited under the same general geologic

conditions

Full-Cost Pool The full-cost pool consists of all costs associated with property acquisition exploration and

development activities for company using the full-cost method of accounting Additionally any internal costs

that can be directly identified with acquisition exploration and development activities are included Any costs

related to production general corporate overhead or similar activities are not included

Gross Acres or Gross Wells The total acres or wells as the case may be in which working interest is

owned

Horizontal Wells Wells which are drilled at angles greater than 70 degrees from vertical

In fill Drilling Drilling wells between established producing wells on lease drilling program to reduce

the spacing between wells in order to increase production and/or recovery of in-place hydrocarbons from the

lease

Karst An area of irregular limestone in which erosion has produced fissures sinkholes underground

streams and caverns

Mbbl One thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons

Mbtu One thousand btus

Mcf One thousand cubic feet

Mcfe One thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Mmbbl One million barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons

Mmbtu One million btus

Mmcf One million cubic feet

Mmcfe One million cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Natural Gas Liquids NGL Those hydrocarbons in natural gas that are separated from the gas as liquids

through the process of absorption condensation adsorption or other methods in gas processing or cycling

plants Natural gas liquids primarily include ethane propane butane isobutene pentane hexane and natural

gasoline

Net Acres or Net Wells The sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres or gross wells

NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange

Play term applied to portion of the exploration and production cycle following the identification by

geologists and geophysicists of areas with potential natural gas and oil reserves
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Present Value or PV-1O When used with respect to natural gas and oil reserves present value or PV-10

means the estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the production of proved reserves net of

estimated production and future development costs using prices calculated as the average natural gas and oil

price during the preceding 12-month period prior to the end of the current reporting period determined as the

unweighted arithmetic average of prices on the first day of each month within the 12-month period and costs in

effect at the determination date without giving effect to non-property related expenses such as general and

administrative expenses debt service and future income tax expense or to depreciation depletion and

amortization discounted using an annual discount rate of 10%

Price DifferentiaL The difference in the price of natural gas or oil received at the sales point and the

New York Mercantile Exchange NYMEX

Productive Well well that is not dry well Productive wells include producing wells and wells that are

mechanically capable of production

Proved Developed Reserves Proved reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing

wells with existing equipment and operating methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively

minor compared to the cost of new well

Proved Properties Properties with proved reserves

Proved Reserves Proved natural gas and oil reserves are those quantities of natural gas and oil which

by analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically

producible from given date forward from known reservoirs and under existing economic conditions

operating methods and government regulations prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to

operate expire unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain regardless of whether

deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation The project to extract the hydrocarbons must

have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within

reasonable time The area of reservoir considered as proved includes the area indentified by drilling and

limited by fluid contacts if any and adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can with reasonable

certainty be judged to be continuous with it and to contain economically producible natural gas or oil on the

basis bf available geoscience and engineering data In the absence of information on fluid contacts proved

quantities in reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons LKH as seen in well penetration

unless geoscience engineering or performance data and reliable technology establishes lower contact with

reasonable certainty Where direct observation from well penetrations has defined highest known oil HKO
elevation and the potential exists for an associated gas cap proved oil reserves may be assigned in the

structurally higher portions of the reservoir only if geoscience engineering or performance data and reliable

technology establish the higher contact with reasonable certainty Reserves which can be produced

economically through application of improved recovery techniques including but not limited to fluid injection

are included in the proved classification when successful testing by pilot project in an area of the reservoir

with properties no more favorable than in the reservoir as whole the operation of an installed program in the

reservoir or an analogous reservoir or other evidence using reliable technology establishes the reasonable

certainty of the engineering analysis on which the project or program was based and the project has been

approved for development by all necessary parties and entities including governmental entities Existing

economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from reservoir is to be

determined The price shall be the average price during the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the

period covered by the report determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month

price for each month within such period unless prices are defined by contractual arrangements excluding

escalations based upon future conditions

Proved Undeveloped Location site on which development well can be drilled consistent with spacing

rules for purposes of recovering proved undeveloped reserves

Proved Undeveloped Reserves Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on

undrilled acreage or from existing wells where relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion

Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limited to those directly offsetting development spacing areas that are

reasonably certain of production when drilled unless evidence using reliable technology exists that establishes

reasonable certainty of economic producibility at greater distances Undrilled locations can be classified as

having proved undeveloped reserves only if development plan has been adopted indicating that they are
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scheduled to be drilled within five years unless the specific circumstances justify longer time Estimates for

proved undeveloped reserves are not attributed to any acreage for which an application of fluid injection or

other improved recovery technique is contemplated unless such techniques have been proved effective by

actual projects in the same reservoir or an analogous reservoir or by other evidence using reliable technology

establishing reasonable certainty

Reserve Replacement Calculated by dividing the sum of reserve additions from all sources revisions

extensions discoveries and other additions and acquisitions by the actual production for the corresponding

period The values for these reserve additions are derived directly from the proved reserves table located in

Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements In calculating reserve replacement we do not

use unproved reserve quantities or proved reserve additions attributable to less than wholly owned

consolidated entities or investments accounted for using the equity method Management uses the reserve

replacement ratio as an indicator of the companys ability to replenish annual production volumes and grow its

reserves thereby providing some information on the sources of future production It should be noted that the

reserve replacement ratio is statistical indicator that has limitations As an annual measure the ratio is limited

because it typically varies widely based on the extent and timing of new discoveries and property acquisitions

Its predictive and comparative value is also limited for the same reasons In addition since the ratio does not

imbed the cost or timing of future production of new reserves it cannot be used as measure of value

creation

Royalty Interest An interest in natural gas and oil property entitling the owner to share of oil or natural

gas production free of costs of production

Seismic An exploration method of sending energy waves or sound waves into the earth and recording the

wave reflections to indicate the type size shape and depth of subsurface rock formation 3-D seismic provides

three-dimensional pictures

Shale Fine-grained sedimentary rock composed mostly of consolidated clay or mud Shale is the most

frequently occurring sedimentary rock

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows The discounted future net cash flows

relating to proved reserves based on the prices used in estimating the proved reserves year-end costs and

statutory tax rates adjusted for permanent differences and 10-percent annual discount rate

Tcf One trillion cubic feet

Tcfe One trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Unconventional Reserves Natural gas and oil occurring in regionally pervasive accumulations with low

matrix permeability and close association with source rocks

Undeveloped Acreage Acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to point that would

permit the production of economic quantities of natural gas and oil regardless of whether such acreage

contains proved reserves

Unproved Properties Properties with no proved reserves

VPP As we use the term volumetric production payment represents limited-term overriding royalty

interest in natural gas and oil reserves that entitles the purchaser to receive scheduled production volumes

over period of time from specific lease interests ii is free and clear of all associated future production costs

and capital expenditures iii is nonrecourse to the seller i.e the purchasers only recourse is to the reserves

acquired iv transfers title of the reserves to the purchaser and allows the seller to retain the remaining

reserves if any after the scheduled production volumes have been delivered

Working Interest The operating interest which gives the owner the right to drill produce and conduct

operating activities on the property and share of production
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ITEM IA Risk Factors

Natural gas and oil prices fluctuate widely and lower prices for an extended period of time are

likely to have material adverse effect on our business

Our revenues operating results profitability and ability to grow depend primarily upon the prices we

receive for the natural gas and oil we sell We require substantial expenditures to replace reserves sustain

production and fund our business plans Lower natural gas or oil prices can negatively affect the amount of

cash flow available for capital expenditures and our ability to borrow money or raise additional capital and as

result could have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations and reserves In

addition lower prices may result in ceiling test write-downs of our natural gas and oil properties We urge you

to read the risk factors below for more detailed description of each of these risks

Historically the markets for natural gas and oil have been volatile and they are likely to continue to be

volatile Wide fluctuations in natural gas and oil prices may result from relatively minor changes in the supply of

and demand for natural gas and oil market uncertainty and other factors that are beyond our control including

domestic and worldwide supplies of natural gas oil and natural gas liquids including U.S inventories

of natural gas and oil reserves

weather conditions

changes in the level of consumer demand

the price and availability of alternative fuels

the availability proximity and capacity of pipelines other transportation facilities and processing

facilities

the level and effect of trading in commodity futures markets including by commodity price speculators

and others

the price and level of foreign imports

the nature and extent of domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes

the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and

maintain oil price and production controls

political instability or armed conflict in oil and natural gas producing regions and

overall domestic and global economic conditions

These factors and the volatility of the energy markets make it extremely difficult to predict future natural

gas and oil price movements with any certainty Further the prices of natural gas and oil do not necessarily

move in tandem Because approximately 90% of our reserves at December 31 2010 were natural gas

reserves we are more affected by movements in natural gas prices

Our level of indebtedness may limit our financial flexibility

As of December 31 2010 we had long-term indebtedness of approximately $12.6 billion and our net

indebtedness represented 45% of our total book capitalization which we define as the sum of total

Chesapeake stockholders equity and total current and long-term debt less cash We had $3.706 billion of

outstanding borrowings drawn under our revolving bank credit facilities at December 31 2010

Our level of indebtedness affects our operations in several ways including the following

portion of our cash flows from operating activities must be used to service our indebtedness and is

not available for other purposes

we may be at competitive disadvantage as compared to similarcompanies that have less debt

the covenants contained in the agreements governing our outstanding indebtedness and future

indebtedness may limit our ability to borrow additional funds pay dividends and make certain

investments and may also affect our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the economy
and in our industry
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the midstream revolving bank credit facility restricts the payment of dividends or distributions to

Chesapeake

additional financing in the future for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions general

corporate or other purposes may have higher costs and more restrictive covenants and

lowering in the credit ratings of our debt may negatively affect the cost terms conditions and

availability of future financing and lower ratings will increase the interest rate we pay on our corporate

revolving bank credit facility

The borrowing base of our corporate revolving bank credit facility is subject to periodic redetermination and

is based in part on natural gas and oil prices lowering of our borrowing base because of lower natural gas

and oil prices or for other reasons could require us to repay indebtedness in excess of the borrowing base or

we might need to further secure the lenders with additional collateral We may incur additional debt including

secured indebtedness in order to develop our properties and make future acquisitions higher level of

indebtedness increases the risk that we may default on our obligations Our ability to meet our debt obligations

and to reduce our level of indebtedness depends on our future performance General economic conditions

natural gas and oil prices and financial business and other factors affect our operations and our future

performance Many of these factors are beyond our control Factors that will affect our ability to raise cash

through an offering of our capital stock or refinancing of our debt include financial market conditions the

value of our assets and our performance at the time we need capital In addition our failure to comply with the

financial and other restrictive covenants relating to our indebtedness could result in default under that

indebtedness which could adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations

Declines in the prices of natural gas and oil could result in write-down of our asset carrying values

We utilize the full-cost method of accounting for costs related to our natural gas and oil properties Under

this method all such costs for both productive and nonproductive properties are capitalized and amortized on

an aggregate basis over the estimated lives of the properties using the unit of production method However

these capitalized costs are subject to ceiling test which limits such pooled costs to the aggregate of the

present value of future net revenues attributable to proved natural gas and oil reserves discounted at 10% plus

the lower of cost or market value of unproved properties The full-cost ceiling is evaluated at the end of each

quarter using the unweighted arithmetic average of the prices on the first day of each month within the

12-month period ending in the quarter adjusted for the impact of derivatives accounted for as cash flow

hedges We are required to write down the carrying value of our natural gas and oil assets if capitalized costs

exceed the ceiling limit and such write-downs can be material For example our financial statements for the

year ended December 31 2009 reflect an impairment of approximately $6.9 billion net of income tax of our

natural gas and oil properties The risk that we will be required to write down the carrying value of our natural

gas and oil properties increases when natural gas and oil prices are low or volatile We may experience ceiling

test write-downs or other impairments in the future

Significant capital expenditures are required to replace our reserves

Our exploration development and acquisition activities require substantial capital expenditures

Historically we have funded our capital expenditures through combination of cash flows from operations our

corporate revolving bank credit facility debt and equity issuances and asset monetizations Future cash flows

are subject to number of variables such as the level of production from existing wells prices of natural gas

and oil our success in developing and producing new reserves the orderly functioning of credit and capital

markets and our ability to complete additional planned asset monetization transactions If revenues were to

decrease as result of lower natural gas and oil prices or decreased production and our access to capital

were limited we would have reduced ability to replace our reserves If our cash flow from operations is not

sufficient to fund our capital expenditure budget we may not be able to access additional bank debt debt or

equity or other methods of financing on an economic basis to meet these requirements

If we are not able to replace reserves we may not be able to sustain production

Our future success depends largely upon our ability to find develop or acquire additional natural gas and

oil reserves that are economically recoverable Unless we replace the reserves we produce through successful

development exploration or acquisition activities our proved reserves and production will decline over time In

addition approximately 47% of our total estimated proved reserves by volume at December 31 2010 were

undeveloped By their nature estimates of proved undeveloped reserves are less certain Recovery of such

26



reserves wilt require significant capital expenditures and successful drilling operations Our reserve estimates

at December 31 2010 reflected decline in the production rate on producing properties of approximately 30%

in 2011 and 19% in 2012 Thus our future natural gas and oil reserves and production and therefore our cash

flow and income are highly dependent on our success in efficiently developing and exploiting our current

reserves and economically finding or acquiring additional recoverable reserves

The actual quantities and present value of our proved reserves may prove to be lower than we

have estimated

This report contains estimates of our proved reserves and the estimated future net revenues from our

proved reserves These estimates are based upon various assumptions including assumptions required by the

SEC relating to natural gas and oil prices drilling and operating expenses capital expenditures taxes and

availability of funds The process of estimating natural gas and oil reserves is complex The process involves

significant decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of available geological geophysical engineering and

economic data for each reservoir Therefore these estimates are inherently imprecise

Actual future production natural gas and oil prices revenues taxes development expenditures operating

expenses and quantities of recoverable natural gas and oil reserves most likely will vary from these estimates

Such variations may be significant and could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of our

proved reserves In addition we may adjust estimates of proved reserves to reflect production history results

of exploration and development drilling prevailing natural gas and oil prices and other factors many of which

are beyond our control Our properties may also be susceptible to hydrocarbon drainage from production by

operators on adjacent properties

At December 31 2010 approximately 47% of our estimated proved reserves by volume were

undeveloped These reserve estimates reflect our plans to make significant capital expenditures to convert our

proved undeveloped reserves into proved developed reserves including approximately $10.6 billion during the

five years ending in 2015 You should be aware that the estimated development costs may not be accurate

development may not occur as scheduled and results may not be as estimated If we choose not to develop

PUD5 or if we are not otherwise able to successfully develop them we will be required to remove the

associated volumes from our reported proved reserves In addition under the SECs reserve reporting rules

because PUD5 generally may be booked only if they relate to wells scheduled to be drilled within five years of

the date of booking we may be required to write off any PUDs that are not developed within this five-year time

frame

You should not assume that the present values included in this report represent the current market value

of our estimated natural gas and oil reserves In accordance with SEC requirements the estimates of our

present values are based on prices and costs as of the date of the estimates The price on the date of estimate

is calculated as the average natural gas and oil price during the 12 months ending in the current reporting

period determined as the unweighted arithmetic average of prices on the first day of each month within the

12-month period The December 31 2010 present value is based on $4.38 per mcf of natural gas and $79.42

per barrel of oil before price differential adjustments Actual future prices and costs may be materially higher or

lower than the prices and costs as of the date of an estimate

Any changes in consumption by natural gas and oil purchasers or in governmental regulations or taxation

will also affect the actual future net cash flows from our production

The timing of both the production and the expenses from the development and production of natural gas

and oil properties will affect both the timing of actual future net cash flows from our proved reserves and their

present value In addition the 10% discount factor which is required by the SEC to be used in calculating

discounted future net cash flows for reporting purposes is not necessarily the most accurate discount factor

The effective interest rate at various times and the risks associated with our business or the natural gas and oil

industry in general will affect the accuracy of the 10% discount factor

Our development and exploratory drilling efforts and our well operations may not be profitable or

achieve our targeted returns

We acquire significant amounts of unproved property in order to further our development efforts

Development and exploratory drilling and production activities are subject to many risks including the risk that

no commercially productive reservoirs will be discovered We acquire unproved properties and lease

undeveloped acreage that we believe will enhance our growth potential and increase our earnings over time
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However we cannot assure you that all prospects will be economically viable or that we will not abandon our

initial investments Additionally there can be no assurance that unproved property acquired by us or

undeveloped acreage leased by us will be profitably developed that new wells drilled by us in prospects that

we pursue will be productive or that we will recover all or any portion of our investment in such unproved

property or wells

Drilling for natural gas and oil may involve unprofitable efforts not only from dry wells but also from wells

that are productive but do not produce sufficient commercial quantities to cover the drilling operating and other

costs The cost of drilling completing and operating well is often uncertain and many factors can adversely

affect the economics of well or property Drilling operations may be curtailed delayed or canceled as result

of unexpected drilling conditions equipment failures or accidents shortages of equipment or personnel

environmental issues and for other reasons In addition wells that are profitable may not meet our internal

return targets which are dependent upon the current and future market prices for natural gas and crude oil

costs associated with producing natural gas and oil and our ability to add reserves at an acceptable cost We

rely to significant extent on seismic data and other advanced technologies in identifying unproved property

prospects and in conducting our exploration activities The seismic data and other technologies we use do not

allow us to know conclusively prior to acquisition of unproved property or drilling well whether natural gas or

oil is present or may be produced economically The use of seismic data and other technologies also requires

greater pre-drilling expenditures than traditional drilling strategies Drilling results in our newer natural gas and

liquids-rich unconventional plays may be more uncertain than in unconventional plays that are more developed

and have longer established production histories and we can provide no assurance that drilling and completion

techniques that have proven to be successful in other unconventional formations to maximize recoveries will be

ultimately successful when used in new unconventional formations

Certain of our undeveloped leasehold assets are subject to leases that will expire over the next

several years unless production is established on units containing the acreage

Leases on natural gas and oil properties typically have term of three to five years after which they expire

unless prior to expiration well is drilled and production of hydrocarbons in paying quantities is established If

our leases expire and we are unable to renew the leases we will lose our right to develop the related

properties While we seek to actively manage our leasehold inventory using our drilling rig
fleet and service

operatiobs to drill sufficient wells to hold the leasehold that we believe is material to our operations our drilling

plans for these areas are subject to change based upon various factors including drilling results natural gas

and oil prices the availability and cost of capital drilling and production costs availability of drilling services

and equipment gathering system and pipeline transportation constraints and regulatory approvals

Our hedging activities may reduce the realized prices we receive for our natural gas and oil sales

require us to provide collateral for hedging liabilities and involve risk that our counterparties may be

unable to satisfy their obligations to us

In order to manage our exposure to price volatility in marketing our natural gas and oil we enter into

natural gas and oil price risk management arrangements for portion of our expected production Commodity

price derivatives may limit the prices we actually realize and therefore reduce natural gas and oil revenues in

the future Our commodity hedging activities will impact our earnings in various ways including recognition of

certain mark-to-market gains and losses on derivative instruments The fair value of our natural gas and oil

derivative instruments can fluctuate significantly between periods In addition our commodity price risk

management transactions may expose us to the risk of financial loss in certain circumstances including

instances in which our production is less than expected

Derivative transactions involve the risk that counterparties which are generally financial institutions may

be unable to satisfy their obligations to us Although the counterparties to our multi-counterparty secured hedge

facility are required to secure their hedging obligations to us under certain scenarios if any of our

counterparties were to default on its obligations to us under the hedging contracts or seek bankruptcy

protection it could have an adverse effect on our ability to fund our planned activities and could result in

larger percentage of our future production being subject to commodity price changes The risk of counterparty

default is heightened in poor economic environment

substantial portion of our natural gas and oil derivative contracts are with the 12 counterparties in our

multi-counterparty hedging facility Our obligations under the facility are secured by natural gas and oil proved

reserves the value of which must cover the fair value of the transactions outstanding under the facility by at
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least .65 times Under certain circumstances such as spike in volatility measures without corresponding

change in commodity prices the collateral value could fall below the coverage designated and we would be

required to post additional reserve collateral to our hedge facility If we did not have-sufficient unencumbered

natural gas and oil properties available to cover the shortfall we would be required to post cash or letters of

credit with the counterparties Future collateral requirements are dependent to great extent on natural gas

and oil prices

Natural gas and oil drilling and producing operations can be hazardous and may expose us to

liabilities including environmental liabilities

Natural gas and oil operations are subject to many risks including well blowouts cratering and explosions

pipe failures fires formations with abnormal pressures uncontrollable flows of natural gas oil brine or well

fluids and other environmental hazards and risks Our drilling operations involve risks from high pressures and

from mechanical difficulties such as stuck pipes collapsed casings and separated cables Some of these risks

or hazards could materially and adversely affect our revenues and expenses by reducing or shutting in

production from wells or otherwise negatively impacting the projected economic performance of our prospects

If any of these risks occurs we could sustain substantial losses as result of

injury or loss of life

severe damage to or destruction of property natural resources or equipment

pollution or other environmental damage

clean-up responsibilities

regulatory investigations and administrative civil and criminal penalties and

injunctions resulting in limitation or suspension of operations

There is inherent risk of incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities in our operations due to our

generation handling and disposal of materials including wastes and petroleum hydrocarbons We may incur

joint and several strict
liability

under applicable U.S federal and state environmental laws in connection with

releases of petroleum hydrocarbons and other hazardous substances at on under or from our leased or

owned properties some of which have been used for natural gas and oil exploration and production activities

for number of years often by third parties not under our control For our non-operated properties we are

dependent on the operator for operational and regulatory compliance While we may maintain insurance

against some but not all of the risks described above our insurance may not be adequate to cover casualty

losses or liabilities and our insurance does not cover penalties or fines that may be assessed by

governmental authority Also in the future we may not be able to obtain insurance at premium levels that justify

its purchase

Potential legislative and regulatory actions could increase our costs reduce our revenue and cash

flow from natural gas and oil sales reduce our liquidity or otherwise alter the way we conduct our

business

The activities of exploration and production companies operating in the United States are subject to

extensive regulation at the federal state and local levels Changes to existing laws and regulations or new laws

and regulations such as those described below could if adopted have an adverse effect on our business

Federal Taxation of Producers of Natural Gas and Oil

Federal budget proposals would potentially increase and accelerate the payment of federal income taxes

of producers of natural gas and oil Proposals that would significantly affect us would repeal the expensing of

intangible drilling costs the percentage depletion allowance and lengthen the amortization period of geological

and geophysical expenses These changes if enacted will make it more costly for us to explore for and

develop our natural gas and oil resources

OTC Derivatives Regulation

In July 2010 the U.S Congress enacted the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection

Act the Dodd-Frank Act which contains measures aimed at increasing the transparency and stability of the

over-the-counter OTC derivative markets and preventing excessive speculation We maintain an active price

and basis protection hedging program related to the natural gas and oil we produce to manage the risk of low
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commodity prices and to predict with greater certainty the cash flow from our hedged production We have

used the OTC market exclusively for our natural gas and oil derivative contracts The Dodd-Frank Act and the

rules and regulations promulgated thereunder could reduce trading positions in the energy futures markets

Such changes could materially reduce our hedging opportunities and negatively affect our revenues and cash

flow during periods of low commodity prices

Hydraulic Fracturing

Hydraulic fracturing is used in completing greater than 90% of all natural gas and oil wells drilled today in

the United States Certain environmental and other groups have suggested that additional federal state and

local laws and regulations may be needed to more closely regulate the hydraulic fracturing process We cannot

predict whether any such federal state or local laws or regulations will be enacted and if so what actions any

such laws or regulations would require or prohibit If additional levels of regulation or permitting requirements

were imposed through the adoption of new laws and regulations our business and operations could be subject

to delays increased operating and compliance costs and process prohibitions

Climate Change

Various state governments and regional organizations comprising state governments are considering

enacting new legislation and promulgating new regulations governing or restricting the emission of greenhouse

gases from stationary sources such as our equipment and operations At the federal level the EPA has already

made findings and issued regulations that require us to establish and report an inventory of greenhouse gas

emissions and that could lead to the imposition of restrictions on greenhouse gas emissions from stationary

sources such as ours Legislative and regulatory proposals for restricting greenhouse gas emissions or

otherwise addressing climate change could require us to incur additional operating costs and could adversely

affect demand for the natural gas and oil that we sell The potential increase in our operating costs could

include new or increased costs to obtain permits operate and maintain our equipment and facilities install new

emission controls on our equipment and facilities acquire allowances to authorize our greenhouse gas

emissions pay taxes related to our greenhouse gas emissions and administer and manage greenhouse gas

emissions program Moreover incentives to conserve energy or use alternative energy sources could reduce

demand for natural gas and oil

The decline in genera economic business and industry conditions since 2008 and the current

economic uncertainty may have material adverse effect on our results of operations liquidity and

financial condition

Since 2008 concerns over sovereign debt levels energy costs geopolitical issues the availability and

cost of credit the U.S mortgage market and declining real estate market in the United States have

contributed to increased economic uncertainty and diminished expectations for the global economy

These factors combined with volatile natural gas and oil prices the decline in business and consumer

confidence and high unemployment precipitated an economic slowdown and recession Concerns about

global economic growth have had significant adverse impact on global financial markets and commodity

prices If the economic climate in the United States or abroad deteriorates further demand for petroleum

products could continue to diminish and prices for natural gas and oil could decrease which could adversely

impact our results of operations liquidity and financial condition

Our cash flow from operations our revolving bank credit facilities and cash on hand historically have not

been sufficient to fund all of our expenditures and we have relied on the capital markets and asset

monetization transactions to provide us with additional capital Poor economic conditions may negatively affect

our ability to access the capital markets at time when we would like or need to raise capital

the number of participants in our proposed asset monetization transactions or the values we are able

to realize in those transactions making them uneconomic or harder or impossible to consummate

the collectability of our trade receivables and could cause our commodity hedging arrangements to be

ineffective if our counterparties are unable to perform their obligations or seek bankruptcy protection

or

the ability of our industry participation partners to meet their obligations to fund portion of our drilling

costs under our industry participation agreements
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Our operations may be adversely affected by ollfield services shortages pipeline and gathering

system capacity constraints and various transportation interruptions

From time to time we experience delays in drilling and completing our natural gas and oil wells Because

of the large scale of our operations there may not be available drilling rigs of the type we require in certain

areas of our operations Additionally there is currently shortage of hydraulic fracturing capacity especially in

the unconventional U.S natural gas and oil plays where hydraulic fracturing is necessary for the successful

development of wells In developing plays the demand for equipment such as pipe and compressors can

exceed the supply and it is challenging to attract and retain qualified oilfield workers Delays in developing our

natural gas and oil assets for these and other reasons could negatively affect our revenues and cash flow

In certain natural gas shale plays the capacity of gathering systems and transportation pipelines is

insufficient to accommodate potential production from existing and new wells Capital constraints could limit the

construction of new pipelines and gathering systems by third parties and we may experience delays in building

intrastate gathering systems necessary to transport our natural gas to interstate pipelines Until this new

capacity is available we may experience delays in producing and selling our natural gas In such event we

might have to shut in our wells awaiting pipeline connection or capacity and/or sell natural gas production at

significantly lower prices than those quoted on NYMEX or than we currently project which would adversely

affect our results of operations

portion of our natural gas and oil production in any region may be interrupted or shut in from time to

time for numerous reasons including as result of weather conditions accidents loss of pipeline or gathering

system access field labor issues or strikes or we might voluntarily curtail production in response to market

conditions If substantial amount of our production is interrupted at the same time it could temporarily

adversely affect our cash flow

ITEM Unresolved Staff Comments

None

ITEM Properties

Information regarding our properties is included in Item and in Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included in Item of this report

ITEM Legal Proceedings

Litigation

On February 25 2009 putative class action was filed in the U.S District Court for the Southern District

of New York against the company and certain of its officers and directors along with certain underwriters of the

companys July 2008 common stock offering Following the appointment of lead plaintiff and counsel the

plaintiff filed an amended complaint on September 11 2009 alleging that the registration statement for the

offering contained material misstatements and omissions and seeking damages under Sections 11 12 and 15

of the Securities Act of 1933 of an unspecified amount and rescission The action was transferred to the U.S

District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma on October 13 2009 The defendants motion to dismiss

was denied on September 2010 derivative action was also filed in the District Court of Oklahoma County

Oklahoma on March 10 2009 against the companys directors and certain of its officers alleging breaches of

fiduciary duties relating to the disclosure matters alleged in the securities case The derivative action is stayed

pursuant to stipulation

On March 26 2009 shareholder filed petition in the District Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma

seeking to compel inspection of company books and records relating to compensation of the companys CEO
On August 20 2009 the court denied the inspection demand dismissed the petition and entered judgment in

favor of Chesapeake The shareholder is appealing the courts ruling in the Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals

Three derivative actions were filed in the District Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma on April 28 May
and May 20 2009 against the companys directors alleging breaches of fiduciary duties relating to

compensation of the companys CEO and alleged insider trading among other things and seeking unspecified

damages equitable relief and disgorgement These three derivative actions were consolidated and
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Consolidated Derivative Shareholder Petition was filed on June 23 2009 Chesapeake is named as nominal

defendant Chesapeakes motion to dismiss was granted on February 28 2010 and plaintiffs were given leave

to amend Plaintiffs chose not to amend and on April 2010 at plaintiffs request the court entered an order

certifying that the February 28 2010 dismissal was final appealable order Plaintiffs are appealing the

dismissal in the Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals

We are currently unable to assess the probability of loss or estimate range of potential loss associated

with the foregoing cases It is inherently difficult to predict the outcome of any litigation and these proceedings

are at an early stage

Chesapeake is also involved in various other lawsuits and disputes incidental to its business operations

including commercial disputes personal injury claims claims for underpayment of royalties property damage

claims and contract actions With regard to the latter several mineral or leasehold owners have filed lawsuits

against us seeking specific performance to require us to acquire their oil and natural gas interests and pay

acreage bonus payments damages based on breach of contract and/or in certain cases punitive damages

based on alleged fraud The company believes that it has substantial defenses to the claims made in these

purchase and sale cases The company records an associated liability when loss is probable and the amount

is reasonably estimable Although the outcome of litigation cannot be predicted with certainty management is

of the opinion that no pending or threatened lawsuit or dispute incidental to its business operations is likely to

have material adverse effect on the companys consolidated financial position results of operations or cash

flows The final resolution of such matters could exceed amounts accrued however and actual results could

differ materially from managements estimates

There are pending against us enforcement actions initiated in the 2010 fourth quarter and 2011 first

quarter by the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection related to alleged methane migration into

the groundwater and residential water wells and by the U.S Environmental Protection Agency related to our

compliance with Clean Water Act permitting requirements in West Virginia We have responded to all pending

orders and are actively cooperating with the relevant agencies While we cannot predict with certainty whether

these actions will result in fines or penalties if fines or penalties are imposed we reasonably believe that each

of these actions would result in monetary sanctions exceeding $100000

ITEM Reserved
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Part II

ITEM Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock and Dividends

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CHK The following table

sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported

by the New York Stock Exchange and the amount of cash dividends declared per share

Common Stock
Dividend

High Low Declared

Year ended December 31 2010

Fourth Quarter 26.15

Third Quarter 22.65

Second Quarter 25.36

First Quarter 28.97

Year ended December 31 2009

Fourth Quarter 30.00

Third Quarter 29.49

Second Quarter 24.66

First Quarter 20.13

At February 24 2011 there were approximately 2050 holders of record of our common stock and

approximately 398250 beneficial owners

While we expect to continue to pay dividends on our common stock the payment of future cash dividends

is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon among other things our financial

condition our funds from operations the level of our capital and development expenditures our future

business prospects contractual restrictions and other factors considered relevant by the Board of Directors

In addition our corporate revolving bank credit facility contains restriction on our ability to declare and

pay cash dividends on our common or preferred stock if an event of default has occurred The certificates of

designation for our preferred stock prohibit payment of cash dividends on our common stock unless we have

declared and paid or set apart for payment full accumulated dividends on the preferred stock

Purchases of Common Stock

The following table presents information about repurchases of our common stock during the three months

ended December 31 2010

Total Number Average
of Shares Price Paid

Period Purchaseda Per Sharea

October 2010 through October 31
2010

November 2010 through November 30
2010

December 2010 through December 31
2010

Total

206562 21.90

8331 21.37

12909 25.92

227802 23.06

Represents the deemed surrender to the company of 4389 shares of common stock to pay the exercise

price and withholding taxes in connection with the exercise of employee stock options and the surrender to

the company of 223413 shares of common stock to pay withholding taxes in connection with the vesting

of employee restricted stock

0.075

0.075

0.075

0.075

21.12

20.04

20.75

22.37

22.06

16.92

16.43

13.27

0.075

0.075

0.075

0.075

Total

Number of

Shares

Purchased
as Part of

Publicly

Announced
Plans or

Programs

Maximum
Number of

Shares That

May Yet Be
Purchased

Under the

Plans or

Programsb
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We make matching contributions to our 401k plan and deferred compensation plan using Chesapeake

common stock which is held in treasury or is purchased by the respective plan trustees in the open market

The plans contain no limitation on the number of shares that may be purchased for the purposes of the

company contributions There are no other repurchase plans or programs currently authorized by the

Board of Directors

ITEM Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data of Chesapeake for the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 and 2006 The data are derived from our audited consolidated financial

statements revised to reflect the reclassification of certain items The table should be read in conjunction with

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated

financial statements including the notes appearing in Items and of this report

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

in millions except per share dataSTATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA
REVENUES

Natural gas and oil sales

Marketing gathering and compression sales

Service operations revenue

5647 5049 7858

3479 2463 3598

240 190 173

5624

2040

136

5619

1577

130

Total revenues 9366 7702 11629 7800 7326

OPERATING COSTS
Production expenses

Production taxes

893

157

876

107

889

284

640

216

490

176

General and administrative expenses

Marketing gathering and compression

expenses

Service operations expense

Natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and

dmortization

453

3352

208

1394

349

2316

182

1371

377

3505

143

1970

243

1969

94

1835

139

1522

68

1359

Depreciation and amortization of other

assets 220 244 174 153 103

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties ..

Gains losses on sales of other property and

equipment

Other impairments

Restructuring costs

Employee retirement expense

137
21

11000

38

130

34

2800

30

55

Total Operating Costs 6561 16647 10172 5150 3912

INCOME LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 2805 8945 1457 2650 3414

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest expense

Earnings losses from equity investees

Losses on redemptions or exchanges of

debt

Impairment of investments

Gain on sale of investments

19
227

129
16

113
39

40
162

271
38

180

401

83

316
10

117

Other income 16 11 27 15 16

Total Other Income Expense 79 343 466 303 173

INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES .. 2884 9288 991 2347 3241

INCOME TAX EXPENSE BENEFIT
Current income taxes 423 29

Deferred income taxes 1110 3487 36 863 1242

Total Income Tax Expense Benefit 1110 3483 387 892 1247
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Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

in millions exceptper share data
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

continued
NET INCOME LOSS 1774 5.805 604 1455 1994

Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling

interest
_________

25
NET INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO

CHESAPEAKE 1774 5830 604 1455 1994

Preferred stock dividends 111 23 33 94 89
Loss on conversion/exchange of preferred

stock 67 128 10

NET INCOME LOSS AVAILABLE TO

COMMON STOCKHOLDERS 1663 5853 504 1233 1895

EARNINGS LOSS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic 2.63 9.57 0.94 2.70 4.76

Assuming dilution 2.51 9.57 0.93 2.63 4.33

CASH DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON
SHARE 0.30 0.30 0.2925 0.2625 0.23

CASH FLOW DATA
Cash provided by operating activities 5117 4356 5357 4974 4843

Cash used in investing activities 8503 5462 9965 7964 8942

Cash provided by used in financing activities 3181 336 6356 2988 4042

BALANCE SHEET DATA AT END OF PERIOD
Total assets 37179 29914 38593 30764 24413

Long-term debt net of current maturities 12640 12295 13175 10178 7187

Total equity 15264 12341 17017 12624 11366
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ITEM Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Financial Data

Includes NGLs

924.9

18.4

1035.2

3169

1982
425

5576

1079
74

1082
71

5647

3.43

58.67

4.10

5.57

62.71

6.09

99

14
66

19

1149
22617

834.8

11.8

905.5

2635
2313

492
4456

656

33

96
593

5049

3.16

55.60

3.63

5.93

58.38

6.22

227

23
91

113

1003
22919

Includes revenue and operating costs and excludes depreciation and amortization of other assets

775.4

11.2

842.7

6003

267

521

6791

1066

275
276

1067

7858

7.74

95.04

8.39

192

85

271

1733

22813

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the production volumes natural gas and oil

sales average sales prices received other operating income and expenses for the periods indicated

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net Production

Natural gas bcO
Oil mmbbla
Natural gas equivalent bcfe

Natural Gas and Oil Sales in millions

Natural gas sales

Natural gas derivatives realized gains losses
Natural gas derivatives unrealized gains losses

Total natural gas sales

Oil salesa

Oil derivatives realized gains losses
Oil derivatives unrealized gains losses

Total oil sales

Total natural gas and oil sales

Average Sales Price excluding gains losses on derivatives

Natural gas per mcf
Oil per bbl

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe

Average Sales Price excluding unrealized gains losses on

derivatives

Natural gas per mcf 8.09

Oil per bbl 70.48

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe 8.38

Other Operating lncomeb in millions

Marketing gathering and compression net margin 127 147 93

Service operations net margin 32 30

Other Operating lncomeb per mcfe
Marketing gathering and compression net margin 0.12 0.16 0.11

Service operations net margin 0.03 0.01 0.04

Expenses per mcfe
Production expenses 0.86 0.97 1.05

Production taxes 0.15 0.12 0.34

General and administrative expenses 0.44 0.38 0.45

Natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and amortization 1.35 .51 2.34

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 0.21 0.27 0.21

Interest expensec 0.08 0.22 0.22

Interest Expense in millions

Interest expensec
Interest rate derivatives realized gains losses

Interest rate derivatives unrealized gains losses

Total interest expense

Net Wells Drilled

Net Producing Wells as of the End of Period
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Includes the effects of realized gains losses from interest rate derivatives but excludes the effects of

unrealized gains losses and is net of amounts capitalized

We manage our business as three separate operational segments exploration and production marketing

gathering and compression and service operations which is comprised of our wholly owned drilling and

trucking operations We refer you to Note 16 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements appearing in

Item of this report which summarizes by segment our net income and capital expenditures for 2010 2009

and 2008 and our assets as of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Executive Summary

We are the second-largest producer of natural gas and top 20 producer of oil and natural gas liquids in

the U.S We own interests in approximately 46000 producing natural gas and oil wells that are currently

producing approximately 3.0 bcfe per day 87% of which is natural gas Our strategy is focused on discovering

and developing unconventional natural gas and oil fields onshore in the U.S primarily in the Barnett Shale in

the Fort Worth Basin of north-central Texas the Haynesville and Bossier Shales in northwestern Louisiana and

East Texas the Fayetteville Shale in the Arkoma Basin of central Arkansas and the Marcellus Shale in the

northern Appalachian Basin of West Virginia and Pennsylvania We also have substantial operations in the

liquids-rich plays of the Eagle Ford Shale in South Texas the Granite Wash Cleveland Tonkawa and

Mississippian plays in the Anadarko Basin in western Oklahoma and the Texas Panhandle the Niobrara Shale

Frontier and Codell plays in the Powder River and DJ Basins of Wyoming and Colorado and the Avalon Bone

Spring Wolfcamp and Wolfberry plays in the Permian and Delaware Basins of West Texas and southern New

Mexico as well as various other plays both conventional and unconventional in the Mid-Continent Williston

Basin Appalachian Basin South Texas Texas Gulf Coast and Ark-La-Tex regions of the U.S We have also

vertically integrated our operations and own substantial midstream compression drilling and oilfield service

assets As described below we have agreed to sell our Fayetteville Shale assets in transaction expected to

close in the first half of 2011

Chesapeake began 2010 with estimated proved reserves of 14.254 tcfe and ended the year with 17.096

tcfe an increase of 2.842 tcfe or 20% During 2010 we replaced 1.035 tcfe of production with an estimated

3.877 tcfe of new proved reserves for reserve replacement rate of 375% The 2010 proved reserve

movement included 5.098 tcfe of extensions 0.006 tcfe of downward performance revisions and 0.189 tcfe of

positive revisions resulting from an increase in the twelve-month trailing average natural gas and oil prices

between December 31 2009 and December 31 2010 During 2010 we acquired 0.089 tcfe of estimated

proved reserves and divested 1.493 tcfe of estimated proved reserves

Chesapeake continued the industrys most active drilling program in 2010 and drilled 1445 gross 938 net

operated wells and participated in another 1586 gross 211 net wells operated by other companies The

companys drilling success rate was 98% for both company-operated and non-operated wells Also during

2010 we invested $4.6 billion in operated wells using an average of 131 operated rigs and $815 million in

non-operated wells using an average of 123 non-operated rigs for total drilling and completion costs of $5.4

billion net of drilling and completion cost carries of $1 .2 billion

Our average daily production for 2010 of 2.836 bcfe consisted of 2.534 bcf 89% on natural gas

equivalent basis and 50397 bbls 11% on natural gas equivalent basis and was an increase of 355 mmcfe

or 14% over the 2.481 bcfe of daily production for 2009 Total production for 2010 was 1035 tcfe an increase

of 129.7 bcfe or 14% over 2009 total production of 905.5 bcfe This was our 21st consecutive year of

sequential production growth

Since 2000 Chesapeake has built the largest combined inventories of onshore leasehold 13.3 million net

acres and 3-D seismic 27.9 million acres in the U.S This position includes the largest inventory of U.S

natural gas shale play leasehold 2.5 million net acres as well as the largest combined leasehold position in

two of the three largest new unconventional liquids-rich plays in the U.S the Eagle Ford Shale and the

Niobrara Shale We are currently using 157 operated rigs to further develop our inventory of approximately

37800 net drillsites

Implementing Our Strategy

In recognition of the value gap between oil and natural gas prices during the past two years Chesapeake

has directed significant portion of its technological geo-scientific leasehold acquisition and drilling expertise
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to identifying securing and commercializing new unconventional liquids-rich plays This planned transition will

result in more balanced portfolio between natural gas and liquids To date we have built leasehold positions

and established production in multiple unconventional liquids-rich plays on approximately 4.1 million net

leasehold acres In 2010 we invested approximately $4.7 billion net of divestitures primarily in liquids-rich

acreage and we allocated approximately 30% of our $5.4 billion drilling and completion capital expenditures to

these plays compared to 10% in 2009 Our production of oil and natural gas liquids was 50397 bbls per day

during 2010 56% increase over the average for 2009 as result of the increased development of our

unconventional liquids-rich plays We are projecting that the portion of drilling and completion capital

expenditures allocated to liquids development will reach 50% in 2011 and 75% in 2012 and we expect to

increase our oil and natural gas liquids production through our drilling activities to more than 150000 bbls per

day or 20%-25% of total production by year-end 2012

This shift to greater emphasis on liquids production is continuation of our general business strategy

outlined in Item Business Our goal is to create value for investors by focusing on developing unconventional

resource plays onshore in the U.S We do so by

Crowing through the drillbit We are the most active driller in the U.S have our own fleet of 105

drilling rigs and are currently using 157 operated rigs Our integrated marketing gathering

compression and trucking services operations support our drilling activities so that we are able to

manage the development of our leasehold efficiently and strategically

Controlling substantial land and drilling location inventories and building regional scale We have

been first movers in capturing both natural gas and liquids-rich unconventional leasehold and

resources During 2010 we invested heavily in large number of highly competitive liquids-rich

unconventional plays in order to accelerate our transition to increased liquids production We now

have achieved many of our leasehold acquisition goals and are becoming significant seller of

leasehold through new industry participation agreements and the pending sale of our Fayetteville

Shale assets

Developing proprietary technological advantages We support the scale of our operations with what

we believe is the nations largest inventory of 3-D seismic information and our state-of-the-art

Reservoir Technology Center or RTC The RTC provides us substantial competitive advantage

enabling us among other things to more quickly accurately and confidentially analyze core data from

wells drilled through unconventional formations on proprietary basis and then identify new plays and

leasing opportunities ahead of our competition and reduce the likelihood of investing in plays that

ultimately are not commercial Our 3-D seismic data permits us to image reservoirs of natural gas and

oil that might otherwise remain undiscovered and to drill our horizontal wells more accurately inside

the targeted formation

Focusing on low costs We minimize lease operating costs and general and administrative expenses

through focused activities vertical integration and increasing scale As of December 31 2010 our

operated wells accounted for approximately 80% of our daily production volume providing us with

high degree of operational flexibility and cost control

Mitigating natural gas and oil price risk We actively seek to manage our exposure to adverse market

prices for natural gas and oil through our hedging program Hedging allows us to predict with greater

certainty the effective prices we will receive for our hedged natural gas and oil production Our realized

cash hedging gains for 2010 were $2.056 billion and since January 2001 have been $6.478 billion

Using industry participation agreements Through industry participation property sales we have

recouped substantially all of our lease acquisition costs in six of our significant unconventional

operating areas and we hold leasehold in new plays which we believe will be best developed through

future industry participation agreements In addition drilling cost carries allow us to accelerate the

development of new plays at reduced cost to us We pioneered the industry participation model of

unconventional natural gas and oil development and many other EP companies have followed with

their own industry participation agreements in the past two years

Our strategic and financial plan for 2011-2012 announced on January 62011 as our 25/25 Plan calls

for 25% reduction in our outstanding long-term debt while growing net natural gas and oil production by 25%

by the end of 2012 We expect to achieve the reduction in debt through asset monetizations Among the

several benefits of lower debt are lower borrowing costs and we believe improved credit metrics will lead to

more favorable debt rating by the major ratings agencies
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Our goat of 25% reduction in debt by year-end 2012 is part of our
liability management plan begun in

2010 During 2010 we issued in private placements 2.6 million shares of two series of our 5.75% Cumulative

Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $2.562 billion We

used the net proceeds of these preferred stock offerings to redeem in whole $1 .934 billion in principal amount

of four series of our outstanding senior notes Additionally through tender offers followed by redemptions we

purchased $1 .5 billion aggregate principal amount of three additional series of senior notes We funded the

purchase of the notes tendered and redeemed with proceeds from $2.0 billion public offering of two series of

senior notes We retired all series of our outstanding senior notes that were issued under our more restrictive

indentures Excess funds from our offerings were used to repay borrowings outstanding under our corporate

revolving bank credit facility

During 2011 we plan to take steps to extend the maturity profile of our outstanding indebtedness at

advantageous rates On February 112011 the company issued $1.0 billion principal amount of 6.125% Senior

Notes due 2021 in registered public offering We applied the net proceeds of $977 million from the offering to

our revolving bank credit facility balance and plan to use proceeds from asset sales to retire at least $2.0 $3.0

billion of our shorter-dated senior notes and also to reduce borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility

Asset monetizations were also key elements of our strategic and financial plan in 2010 and early 2011 as

described below

Indust.y Participation Agreements

In 2010 Chesapeake completed its fourth and fifth significant industry participation agreements in

unconventional natural gas and oil plays In January 2010 Total EP USA Inc wholly owned subsidiary of

Total S.A Total purchased 25% undivided interest in 270000 net acres of our Barnett Shale leasehold

along with 840 bcfe of estimated proved reserves for approximately $800 million in cash plus $78 million of

drilling and completion carries due from the effective date of the transaction to the closing date Total agreed

to fund 60% of our share of future drilling and completion expenditures in the Barnett Shale until it has paid

total of $1.45 billion in drilling and completion carries which we expect to occur by year-end 2013 In

November 2010 wholly owned subsidiary of CNOOC Limited CNOOC purchased 33.3% undivided

interest in 600000 net acres of our Eagle Ford Shale leasehold along with 18.2 bcfe of estimated proved

reserves for approximately $1.12 billion in cash In addition CNOOC agreed to fund 75% of our share of

drilling and completion costs in the Eagle Ford Shale until an additional $1 .08 billion has been paid which we

expect to occur by year-end 2012 All proceeds from these transactions are reflected as reduction of natural

gas and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized Both Total and CNOOC have the right to participate

proportionately with us in any additional leasehold we acquire in the Barnett Shale and the Eagle Ford Shale

respectively at cost plus fee

The following table provides information about our remaining industry participation agreement drilling and

completion carries as of December 31 2010

Shale Industry Participation

Play Agreement Partner Date

Marcellus Statoil November 2008

Barnett Total January2010

Eagle Ford CNOOC November 2010

Carries

Remaining

in millions

1362

889

1030

3281

On February 16 2011 we entered into an industry participation agreement with wholly owned U.S

subsidiary of CNOOC Limited CNOOC to develop our Niobrara Shale play in the DJ and Powder River Basins

in northeast Colorado and southeast Wyoming Under the terms of the industry participation agreement

CNOOC acquired 33.3% undivided interest in approximately 800000 net acres of our leasehold We
received $570 million in cash at closing and CNOOC has agreed to fund 66.7% of our share of drilling and

completion costs until an additional $697 million has been paid which we expect to occur by year-end 2014 In

addition CNOOC has the right to 33.3% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the area at

cost plus fee
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The drilling and completion carries in our industry participation agreements create significant cost

advantage that allows us to continue to lower finding costs During 2010 and 2009 our drilling and completion

costs included the benefit of approximately $1.151 billion and $1154 billion respectively of drilling and

completion carries Our drilling and completion costs for 2011 through 2014 will continue to be partially offset

by the use of our remaining drilling and completion carries associated with our industry participation

agreements

Volumetric Production Payments

We completed three volumetric production payments VPPs in 2010 bringing the total of such

transactions to eight The companys sixth VPP was completed in February 2010 for proceeds of approximately

$180 million or $3.95 per mcfe In June 2010 we completed our seventh VPP for proceeds of approximately

$335 million or $8.73 per mcfe In September 2010 we completed our eighth VPP for proceeds of

approximately $1.15 billion or $2.93 per mcfe The cash proceeds from these transactions are reflected as

reduction of natural gas and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized

Other Asset Sales

In 2010 we sold non-core proved and unproved properties for proceeds of approximately $355 million

During 2010 as part of our industry participation agreements with Total Statoil and PXP we sold interests in

additional leasehold in the Barneff Marcellus and Haynesville Shale plays for proceeds of approximately $440

million that had an estimated original cost to us of $220 million The cash proceeds from these transactions are

reflected as reduction of natural gas and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized

Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P IPO and Asset Sale

On August 2010 Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P NYSE CHKM which we and GIP formed to

own operate develop and acquire midstream assets completed an initial public offering of common units

representing limited partner interests and received net proceeds of approximately $475 million In connection

with the closing of the offering and pursuant to the terms of our contribution agreement with GIP CHKM
distributed to GIP the approximate $62 million of net proceeds from the exercise of the offering over-allotment

option and Chesapeake and GIP contributed the interests of their midstream joint venture operating subsidiary

to CHKM Chesapeake and GIP hold 42.3% and 40.0% respectively of all outstanding limited partner

interests and Chesapeake and GIP each have 50% interest in the general partner of CHKM CHKM makes

quarterly distributions to its partners and at the current annual rate of $1.35 per unit Chesapeake receives

quarterly distributions of approximately $20 million in respect of its limited partner and general partner interests

In 2010 we received cash distributions of $88 million from CHKM and its predecessor joint venture

We account for our investment in CHKM under the equity method During 2010 we recorded positive

equity method adjustments of $89 million for our share of CHKMs income and recorded accretion adjustments

of $14 million for our share of equity in excess of cost As result of CHKMs initial public offering we

recognized $90 million gain on our investment which represented our proportionate share of the excess of

offering proceeds over the carrying value of our investment in CHKM and is reported in earnings losses from

equity investees on our consolidated statements of operations

On December 21 2010 we sold our Springridge natural gas gathering system and related facilities in the

Haynesville Shale to CHKM for $500 million and entered into ten-year gathering and compression agreements

with CHKM Additional information on the transaction is included in Item under Marketing Gathering and

Compression Midstream Gathering Operations

Pending and Planned Asset Sales

Fayetteville Shale On February 21 2011 we entered into purchase and sale agreement with wholly

owned subsidiary of BHP Billiton to sell all of our Fayetteville Shale assets including approximately 487000
net acres of leasehold and producing natural gas properties and midstream assets with approximately 420

miles of pipeline for $4.75 billion in cash before certain deductions and standard closing adjustments In the

Fayetteville Shale our current net production is approximately 415 mmcfe per day Estimated proved reserves

attributable to the Fayetteville Shale as of December 31 2010 were 2.4 tcfe or approximately 14% of our total

proved reserves As part of the transaction we have agreed to provide essential services for up to one year for

BHP Billitons Fayetteville Shale properties for an agreed-upon fee Closing of the transaction is subject to
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customary conditions including filings under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 and

with the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States Closing is expected to occur in the first half of

2011

Frac Tech Holdings LLC and Chaparral Energy Inc Asset Sales We plan to sell our 25.8% equity

interest in Frac Tech Holdings LLC and our 20% equity interest in Chaparral Energy Inc Each of the

foregoing proposed transactions is subject to changes in market conditions and other factors and there can be

no assurance that we will complete any or all of these transactions on timely basis or at all

Other During 2011 the company expects to enter into additional asset monetizations including industry

participation agreements in liquids-rich plays new VPPs certain midstream assets sales and various other

smaller planned sales

Capital Expenditures

Our exploration development and acquisition activities require us to make substantial capital

expenditures Our current budgeted drilling and completion capital expenditures net of drilling and completion

carries are $5.0 -$5.4 billion in 2011 and $5.4- $5.8 billion in 2012 We anticipate funding all or substantially

all budgeted drilling and completion capital expenditures using cash flow from operations in 2011 and 2012

We plan to fund our leasehold acquisition capital expenditures together with other capital expenditure

requirements with combination of revolving bank credit facility borrowings and proceeds from asset

monetizations As of December 31 2010 we had made commitments to acquire additional proved and

unproved properties in various transactions during the next twelve months for approximately $350 million

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Funds

Cash flow from operations is significant source of liquidity we use to fund capital expenditures pay

dividends and repay debt Cash provided by operating activities was $5117 billion in 2010 compared to

$4.356 billion in 2009 and $5.357 billion in 2008 Changes in cash flow from operations are largely due to the

same factors that affect our net income excluding various non-cash items such as impairments of assets

depreciation depletion and amortization deferred income taxes and changes in our derivative instruments

See the discussion below under Results of Operations

Changes in market prices for natural gas and oil directly impact the level of our cash flow from operations

To mitigate the risk of declines in natural gas and oil prices and to provide more predictable future cash flow

from operations we have entered into various derivative instruments Assuming future NYMEX natural gas

settlement prices average $4.50 per mcf for 2011 and including the effect of the companys open derivatives as

of February 22 2011 closed contracts and previously collected call premiums the company estimates its

average natural gas price will be $5.98 per mcf for 2011 This estimate does not include the effect of basis

differentials and gathering costs Our natural gas and oil derivatives as of December 31 2010 are detailed in

Item 7A of this report Depending on changes in natural gas and oil futures markets and managements view of

underlying natural gas and oil supply and demand trends we may increase or decrease our current hedging

positions

Our $4.0 billion corporate revolving bank credit facility our $300 million midstream revolving bank credit

facility and cash and cash equivalents are other sources of liquidity We use the credit facilities and cash on

hand to fund daily operating activities and capital expenditures as needed We borrowed $15117 billion and

repaid $13.303 billion in 2010 we borrowed $7.761 billion and repaid $9.758 billion in 2009 and we borrowed

$13.291 billion and repaid $11.307 billion in 2008 from our revolving bank credit facilities Our corporate facility

is secured by natural gas and oil proved reserves significant portion of our natural gas and oil reserves are

currently unencumbered and therefore available to be pledged as additional collateral if needed to respond to

borrowing base and collateral redeterminations our lenders might make in the future Accordingly we believe

our borrowing capacity under this facility will not be reduced as result of any such future redeterminations

Our midstream facility is secured by substantially all of our wholly owned midstream assets and is not subject

to periodic borrowing base redeterminations Our revolving bank credit facilities are described below under

Bank Credit Facilities
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Total Net

Proceeds Proceeds

Convertible preferred stock 2600 2562

Senior notes 2000 1967

Contingent convertible senior

notes

Common stock

Natural gas and oil property monetizations

CNOOC Eagle Ford industry participation agreementa

TOT Barnett industry participation agreementb
STO Marcellus industry participation agreementc

PXP Haynesville industry participation agreementd

BP Fayefteville industry participation agreemente
BP Mid-Continent divestiture

Volumetric production payments

Other divestitures

1170

1361

1250

1722

1299

1688

1579

403

7941

2010 included $50 million of drilling carries As of December 31 2010 $1030 billion of drilling carry

obligations remained outstanding

2010 included $561 million of drilling carries As of December 31 2010 $889 million of drilling carry

obligations remained outstanding

2010 and 2009 proceeds were in the form of drilling carries As of December 31 2010 $1 .362 billion of

drilling carry obligations remained outstanding

2009 and 2008 included $390 million and $72 million of drilling carries respectively 2009 also included

$1.1 billion acceleration of future drilling carries

2009 and 2008 included $601 million and $199 million of drilling carries respectively

In December 2010 our wholly owned midstream subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream Development L.P

sold its Springridge natural gas gathering system and related facilities in the Haynesville Shale to CHKM for

$500 million

In September 2009 we received $588 million from the sale of noncontrolling interest in our midstream

joint venture agreement with GIP

In June 2009 we received net proceeds of $54 million from the mortgage financing of our regional Barnett

Shale headquarters building in Fort Worth Texas The interest-only loan has five-year term at floating rate

of prime plus 275 basis points At our option we may prepay the loan in full without penalty beginning in year

four

In April 2009 we financed 113 real estate surface assets in the Barnett Shale area in and around Fort

Worth Texas for net proceeds of approximately $145 million and entered into master lease agreement under

which we agreed to lease the assets for 40 years for approximately $15 million to $27 million annually This

lease transaction was recorded as financing lease

In 2010 2009 and 2008 we received $621 million and $109 million and paid $167 million respectively for

settlements of derivatives which were classified as cash flows from financing activities

The following table reflects the proceeds from sales of securities we issued in 2010 2009 and 2008 in

millions

2010 2009 2008

Total Net Total

Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds

1425 1346 800

1380

2698

Total 4600 4529 1425 1346 4878

Net

Proceeds

787

1349

2598

4734

The following table reflects proceeds we received from our significant natural gas and oil asset

monetizations in 2010 2009 and 2008 in millions

2010 2009 2008

601 162

1490

601

1622

750

Total 5504

408

418

3079
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In 2010 we received cash distributions of $88 million from CHKM and its predecessor In addition we

received cash distributions of $58 million from our equity investee Frac Tech Holdings LLC These cash

distributions were accounted for as return on investment and reflected as cash flowsirom operating activities

Our primary use of funds is for capital expenditures related to exploration development and acquisition of

natural gas and oil properties We refer you to the table under Investing Activities below which sets forth the

components of our natural gas and oil investing activities and our other investing activities for 2010 2009 and

2008 We retain significant degree of control over the timing of our capital expenditures which permits us to

defer or accelerate certain capital expenditures if necessary to address any potential liquidity issues In

addition changes in drilling and field operating costs drilling results that alter planned development schedules

acquisitions or other factors could cause us to revise our drilling program which is largely discretionary

On June 21 2010 we redeemed in whole for an aggregate redemption price of approximately $1366

billion plus accrued interest approximately $364 million in principal amount of our outstanding 7.50% Senior

Notes due 2013 $300 million in principal amount of our 7.50% Senior Notes due 2014 and approximately $670

million in principal amount of our 6.875% Senior Notes due 2016 Associated with these redemptions we

recognized loss of $69 million in 2010

On July 22 2010 we redeemed in whole for redemption price of approximately $619 million plus

accrued interest $600 million in principal amount of our 6.375% Senior Notes due 2015 Associated with the

redemption we recognized loss of $19 million in 2010

On August 30 2010 we completed tender offers to purchase for cash $245 million of 7.00% Senior Notes

due 2014 $567 million of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 and $582 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due 2018

On September 16 2010 we redeemed the remaining $55 million of 7.00% Senior Notes due 2014 $33 million

of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 and $18 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due 2018 based on the redemption

provisions in the indentures Associated with the August 2010 tender offers and redemptions we recognized

loss of $40 million in 2010

We paid dividends on our common stock of $189 million $181 million and $148 million in 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively The Board of Directors increased the quarterly dividend of common stock from $0.0675 to

$0.075 per share beginning with the dividend paid in July 2008 We paid dividends on our preferred stock of

$92 million $23 million and $35 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The increase in 2010 was due to

the issuance of 2.6 million shares of preferred stock and the decrease from 2008 to 2009 was result of

conversions and exchanges of preferred stock into common stock during 2008 and 2009

Credit Risk

Derivative instruments that enable us to hedge portion of our exposure to natural gas and oil prices and

interest rate volatility expose us to credit risk from our counterparties To mitigate this risk we enter into

derivative contracts only with investment-grade rated counterparties deemed by management to be competent

and competitive market makers and we attempt to limit our exposure to non-performance by any single

counterparty During the more than 15 years we have engaged in hedging activities we have experienced

counterparty default only once Lehman Brothers in September 2008 and the total loss recorded in that

instance was immaterial On December 31 2010 our commodity and interest rate derivative instruments were

spread among 14 counterparties Our multi-counterparty secured hedging facility includes 12 of our

counterparties which are required to secure their natural gas and oil hedging obligations in excess of defined

thresholds We use this facility for all of our commodity hedging

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of natural gas and oil $821 million at

December 31 2010 and exploration and production companies which own interests in properties we operate

$977 million at December 31 2010 This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall

exposure to credit risk either positively or negatively in that our customers and joint working interest owners

may be similarly affected by changes in economic industry or other conditions We generally require letters of

credit or parent guarantees for receivables from parties which are judged to have sub-standard credit unless

the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated During 2010 and 2008 we recognized nominal amounts of bad debt

expense related to potentially uncollectible receivables During 2009 we recognized $13 million of bad debt

expense related to potentially uncollectible receivables
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Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $8.503 billion in 2010 compared to $5462 billion in 2009 and $9965

billion in 2008 The majority of the increase in investing activities in 2010 was the result of our increased

acquisition of unproved properties primarily in liquids-rich areas and exploration and development activities

Our investing activities in 2008 reflected our increasing focus on acquiring unproved properties in developing

natural gas shale plays converting our resource inventory into production redeploying our capital by selling

natural gas and oil properties with lower rates of return and increasing our investment in properties with higher

return potential Investing activities in 2009 were at reduced rate in response to low natural gas price

environment lower demand and the benefit of our drilling cost carries Natural gas and oil investing activities

increased in 2010 as we pursued our strategy to acquire and develop liquids-rich properties In each of 2010

2009 and 2008 we also invested in drilling rigs gathering systems compressors and other property and

equipment to support our natural gas and oil exploration development and production activities The following

table details our cash used in provided by investing activities during 2010 2009 and 2008 in millions

2010 2009 2008

Natural Gas and Oil Investing Activities

Acquisitions of natural gas and oil proved properties 243 372

Acquisition of natural gas and oil unproved properties 6015 1666 7660

Exploration and development of natural gas and oil properties 5061 3410 5789

Geological and geophysical costsa 181 162 315

Interest capitalized on unproved properties 687 598 561

Deposits for acquisitions of proved and unproved properties 43 12

Proceeds from divestitures of proved and unproved properties 4292 1926 7670
Total natural gas and oil investing activities 7938 3915 7039

Other Investing Activities

Additions to other property and equipment 1326 1683 3073
Additions to investments 134 40 74

Proceeds from sales of other assets 883 176 219
Other 12

Total.other investing activities 565 1547 2926

Total cash used in investing activities 8503 5462 9965

Including related capitalized interest

Bank Credit Facilities

We utilize two revolving bank credit facilities described below as sources of liquidity

Corporate Midstream

Credit Facilitya Credit Facilityb

in millions

Borrowing capacity 4000 300

Maturity date December 2015 July 2015

Facility structure Senior secured revolving Senior secured revolving

Amount outstanding as of December 31 2010 3612 94

Letters of credit outstanding as of December31 2010 13

Borrower is Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C

Borrower is Chesapeake Midstream Operating L.L.C wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake

Midstream Development L.P

Our credit facilities do not contain material adverse change or adequate assurance covenants Although

the applicable interest rates under our corporate credit facility fluctuate slightly based on our long-term senior

unsecured credit ratings neither of our credit facilities contains provisions which would trigger an acceleration

of amounts due under the facilities or requirement to post additional collateral in the event of downgrade of

our credit ratings
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Corporate Credit Facility Our $4.0 billion syndicated revolving bank credit facility is used for general

corporate purposes Borrowings under the facility are secured by natural gas and oil proved reserves and bear

interest at our option at either the greater of the reference rate of Union Bank N.A or the federal funds

effective rate plus 0.50% both of which are subject to margin that varies from 0.50% to .25% per annum

according to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings or ii the Eurodollar rate which is based on the

London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR plus margin that varies from 1.50% to 2.25% per annum according

to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings The collateral value and borrowing base are redetermined

periodically The unused portion of the facility is subject to commitment fee of 0.50% per annum Interest is

payable quarterly or if LIBOR applies it may be payable at more frequent intervals

The credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit our ability to

incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans and create liens and require us to maintain an

indebtedness to total capitalization ratio and an indebtedness to EBITDA ratio in each case as defined in the

agreement We were in compliance with all covenants under the agreement at December 31 2010 If we

should fail to perform our obligations under these and other covenants the revolving credit commitment could

be terminated and any outstanding borrowings under the facility could be declared immediately due and

payable Such acceleration if involving principal amount of $50 million or more would constitute an event of

default under our senior note indentures which could in turn result in the acceleration of significant portion of

our senior note indebtedness The credit facility agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other

indebtedness of Chesapeake and its restricted subsidiaries with an outstanding principal amount in excess of

$125 million

The facility is fully and unconditionally guaranteed on joint and several basis by Chesapeake and

certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries

Midstream Credit Facility Our $300 million midstream syndicated revolving bank credit facility is used to

fund capital expenditures to build natural gas gathering and other systems for our drilling program and for

general corporate purposes associated with our midstream operations Borrowings under the midstream credit

facility are secured by all of the assets of the wholly owned subsidiaries the restricted subsidiaries of

Chesapeake Midstream Development L.P CMD itself wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake and bear

interest at our option at either the greater of the reference rate of Wells Fargo Bank National Association

the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50% and the one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% all of which are subject to

margin that varies from 1.75% to 2.25% per annum according to the most recent leverage ratio described

below or ii the Eurodollar rate which is based on the LIBOR plus margin that varies from 2.75% to

3.25% per annum according to the most recent leverage ratio The unused portion of the facility is subject to

commitment fee of 0.50% per annum Interest is payable quarterly or if LIBOR applies it may be payable at

more frequent intervals

The midstream credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit

the ability of CMD and its restricted subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans

and create liens The agreement requires maintenance of leverage ratio based on the ratio of indebtedness

to EBITDA and an interest coverage ratio based on the ratio of EBITDA to interest expense in each case as

defined in the agreement The leverage ratio increases during any three-quarter period beginning in the

quarter in which CMD makes material disposition of assets to our master limited partnership midstream

affiliate Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P As of December 21 2010 the leverage ratio increased for

three-fiscal-quarter period beginning October 2010 due to the sale of the Springridge gathering system as it

was classified as material disposition of assets We were in compliance with all covenants under the

agreement at December 31 2010 If CMD or its restricted subsidiaries should fail to perform their obligations

under these and other covenants the revolving credit commitment could be terminated and any outstanding

borrowings under the facility could be declared immediately due and payable The midstream credit facility

agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness of CMD and its restricted

subsidiaries may have with an outstanding principal amount in excess of $15 million

Hedging Facility

We have multi-counterparty hedge facility with 12 counterparties that have committed to provide

approximately 5.6 tcfe of hedging capacity and an aggregate mark-to-market capacity of $15.0 billion under the

terms of the facility In February 2011 we amended the agreement for the hedge facility primarily to allow us to

protect our natural gas liquids production from price volatility and to allow for greater flexibility when hedging
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our anticipated production As of December 31 2010 we had hedged total of 2.9 tcfe of our future production

under the facility The multi-counterparty facility allows us to enter into cash-settled natural gas oil and natural

gas liquids price and basis derivatives with the counterparties Our obligations under the multi-counterparty

facility are secured by proved reserves the value of which must cover the fair value of the transactions

outstanding under the facility by at least 1.65 times and guarantees by our subsidiaries that also guarantee our

corporate revolving bank credit facility and indentures The counterparties obligations under the facility must be

secured by cash or short-term U.S Treasury instruments to the extent that any mark-to-market amounts they

owe to Chesapeake exceed defined thresholds The maximum volume-based hedging capacity under the

facility is governed by the expected production of the pledged reserve collateral and volume-based hedging

limits are applied separately to price and basis hedges In addition there are volume-based sub-limits for

natural gas and oil hedges Chesapeake has significant flexibility with regard to releases and/or substitutions of

pledged reserves provided that certain collateral coverage and other requirements are met The facility does

not have maturity date Counterparties to the agreement have the right to cease entering into hedges with the

company on prospective basis as long as obligations associated with any existing transactions in the facility

continue to be satisfied in accordance with the terms of the agreement

Senior Note Obligations

In addition to outstanding borrowings under our revolving bank credit facilities discussed above as of

December 31 2010 senior notes represented approximately $8.9 billion of our total debt and consisted of the

following in millions

7.625% senior notes due 2013 500

9.5% senior notes due 2015 1425

6.25% euro-denominated senior notes due 2017a 796

6.5% senior notes due 2017 1100
6.875% senior notes due 2018 600

7.25% senior notes due 2018 800

6.625% senior notes due 2020 1400

6.875% senior notes due 2020 500

2.75% contingent convertible senior notes due 2035b 451

2.5% contingent convertible senior notes due 2037b 1378
2.25% contingent convertible senior notes due 2038b 752

Discount on senior notesc 777
Interest rate derivativesd

8934

The principal amount shown is based on the dollar/euro exchange rate of $1.3269 to 1.00 as of

December 31 2010 See Note of our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report

for information on our related foreign currency derivatives

The holders of our contingent convertible senior notes may require us to repurchase in cash all or

portion of their notes at 100% of the principal amount of the notes on any of four dates that are five ten

fifteen and twenty years before the maturity date The notes are convertible at the holders option prior to

maturity under certain circumstances into cash and if applicable shares of our common stock using net

share settlement process One such triggering circumstance is when the price of our common stock

exceeds threshold amount during specified period in fiscal quarter Convertibility based on common

stock price is measured quarter by quarter In the fourth quarter of 2010 the price of our common stock

was below the threshold level for each series of the contingent convertible senior notes during the

specified period and as result the holders do not have the option to convert their notes into cash and

common stock in the first quarter of 2011 under this provision The notes are also convertible at the

holders option during specified five-day periods if the trading price of the notes is below certain levels

determined by reference to the trading price of our common stock In general upon conversion of

contingent convertible senior note the holder will receive cash equal to the principal amount of the note

and common stock for the notes conversion value in excess of such principal amount We will pay

contingent interest on the convertible senior notes after they have been outstanding at least ten years

under certain conditions We may redeem the convertible senior notes once they have been outstanding

for ten years at redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the notes payable in cash The
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optional repurchase dates the common stock price conversion threshold amounts and the ending date of

the first six-month period contingent interest may be payable for the contingent convertible senior notes

are as follows

Contingent Common Stock Contingent Interest

Convertible Price Conversion First Payable

Senior Notes Repurchase Dates Thresholds if applicable

2.75% due 2035 November 15 2015 2020 2025 2030 48.62 May 14 2016

2.5% due 2037 May 15 2017 2022 2027 2032 64.26 November 14 2017

2.25% due 2038 December 15 2018 2023 2028 2033 107.36 June 14 2019

Included in this discount is $711 million at December 31 2010 associated with the equity component of

our contingent convertible senior notes This discount is amortized based on an effective yield method

See Note of our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for discussion related

to these instruments

Our senior notes are unsecured senior obligations of Chesapeake and rank equally in right of payment

with all of our other existing and future senior indebtedness and rank senior in right of payment to all of our

future subordinated indebtedness Our senior note obligations are guaranteed by certain of our wholly owned

subsidiaries excluding CMD and its subsidiaries See Note 17 of the consolidated financial statements

included in Item of this report for condensed consolidating financial information regarding our guarantor and

non-guarantor subsidiaries We may redeem the senior notes other than the contingent convertible senior

notes at any time at specified make-whole or redemption prices Our senior notes are governed by indentures

containing covenants that may limit our ability and our subsidiaries ability to incur certain secured

indebtedness enter into sale/leaseback transactions and consolidate merge or transfer assets

Conversions and Exchanges of Contingent Convertible Senior Notes and Preferred Stock

In 2010 2009 and 2008 holders of certain of our contingent convertible senior notes exchanged their

notes for shares of common stock in privately negotiated exchanges as summarized below

Contingent Convertible Number of Common
Year Senior Notes Principal Amount Shares

in millions in thousands
2010 2.25% due 2038 11 299

2009 2.25% due 2038 364 10210

2008 2.75% due 2035 239 8841

2.50% due 2037 272 8417
2.25% due 2038 254 6655

765 23913

In 2010 2009 and 2008 shares of our cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for or

converted into shares of common stock as summarized below

Year of Cumulative Number Number Type
Exchange/ Convertible of of of

Conversion Preferred Stock Preferred Shares Common Shares Transaction

in thousands
2010 5.0% series 2005 21 Conversion

2009 6.25% 144 1239 Conversion

4.125% 183 Conversion

1422

2008 5.0% series 20058 3654 10443 Exchange

4.5% 891 2228 Exchange

4.125% Conversion

12673

Nominal amount
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Contractual Obligations

The table below summarizes our cash contractual obligations as of December 31 2010 in millions

Payments Due By Period

Less Than 1-3 3-5 More Than
Total Year Years Years Years

Long-term debt

Principal 13408 500 5131 7777
Interest 5193 595 1173 996 2429

Financing lease obligations and other 894 18 37 90 749

Operating lease obligations 916 170 345 287 114

Asset retirement obligationsca 301 61 233

Purchase obligationsb 5054 930 874 797 2453

Unrecognized tax benefltsc 34 34

Standby letters of credit 13 13

Total contractual cash obligations 25813 1.760 2.990 7308 13.755

Asset retirement obligations represent estimated discounted costs for future dismantlement and

abandonment costs These obligations are recorded as liabilities on our December 31 2010 balance

sheet

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item of this report for description of

transportation and drilling contract commitments

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item of this report for description of

unrecognized tax benefits

Chesapeake has commitments to purchase any natural gas and oil associated with certain volumetric

production payment transactions based on market prices at the time of production and the purchased gas will

be resold

Under minimum volume throughput agreements Chesapeake has agreed to move fixed volumes of

natural gas over certain time periods usually multiple years through certain midstream systems At the end of

the term or annually Chesapeake will be invoiced for any shortfalls in such volume commitments

Hedging Activities

Natural Gas and Oil Hedging Activities

Our results of operations and cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for natural gas and oil

To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various derivative

instruments Executive management is involved in all risk management activities and the Board of Directors

reviews the companys hedging program at its quarterly Board meetings We believe we have sufficient internal

controls to prevent unauthorized hedging As of December 31 2010 our natural gas and oil derivative

instruments were comprised of swaps call options put options knockout swaps and basis protection swaps

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk contains description of each of these

instruments Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for accounting purposes we believe

our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving our risk management objectives

Hedging allows us to predict with greater certainty the effective prices we will receive for our natural gas

and oil production We closely monitor the fair value of our derivative contracts and may elect to settle

contract prior to its scheduled maturity date in order to lock in gain or loss Commodity markets are volatile

and Chesapeakes hedging activities are dynamic

Mark-to-market positions under natural gas and oil derivative contracts fluctuate with commodity prices As

described above under Hedging Facility our secured multi-counterparty hedging facility allows us to minimize

the potential liquidity impact of significant mark-to-market fluctuations in the value of our natural gas and oil

derivatives by pledging natural gas and oil proved reserves
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The estimated fair values of our natural gas and oil derivative contracts as of December 31 2010 and

2009 are provided below

Derivative assets liabilitiesa

Fixed-price natural gas swaps

Natural gas call options

Natural gas put options

Fixed-price natural gas knockout swaps

Fixed-price natural gas collars

Natural gas basis protection swaps

Fixed-price oil swaps

Oil call optionsb

Fixed-price oil knockout swaps

December 31

2010 2009

in millions

Estimated fair value 649 21

See Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk of this report for additional

information concerning derivative transactions

During 2010 and 2009 we sold natural gas and oil call options on portion of our projected production

from 2011 to 2017 and received above-market fixed price natural gas swaps in 2010 2011 and 2012

Additional information concerning the changes in fair value of our natural gas and oil derivative contracts is

as follows

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of January

Chan9e in fair value of contracts

Fair value of new contracts when entered into

Contracts realized or otherwise settled

Fair value of contracts when closed 607

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of December 31 649
________

Our realized and unrealized gains and losses on natural gas and oil derivatives during 2010 2009 and

2008 were as follows

Natural gas and oil sales

Realized gains losses on natural gas and oil derivativesa

Unrealized gains losses on non-qualifying natural gas and oil

derivativesb 634
Unrealized gains losses on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges 23 ________

Total natural gas and oil sales 5647
________ ________

Consists of settled trades related to the production periods being reported

Consists of both temporary fluctuations in the mark-to-market values of non-qualifying trades and settled

values of non-qualifying trades related to future production periods

Changes in the fair value of natural gas and oil derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges to

the extent effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged commodities and locked-in gains and

losses of settled derivative contracts are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and are

transferred to earnings in the month of related production These unrealized gains losses net of related tax

1307 662

701 541
59 50

17

92

55 50
31

1129 144
19 32

2010 2009 2008

in millions

21 1305

995 1266

581 21
1691 2102

_________
427

________

21

369
1880

569

354

1305

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

4248 3291 7069

2056 2346

624
36

5049

887

90

7858
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effects totaled $156 million $94 million and $386 million as of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively Based upon the market prices at December 31 2010 we expect to transfer to earnings

approximately $15 million of net gain included in accumulated other comprehensive income during the next 12

months detailed explanation of accounting for natural gas and oil derivatives appears under Application of

Critical Accounting Policies Hedging elsewhere in this Item

Interest Rate Derivatives

To mitigate our exposure to volatility in interest rates related to our senior notes and credit facilities we

enter into interest rate derivatives

For interest rate derivative contracts designated as fair value hedges changes in fair values of the

derivatives are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets or liabilities with corresponding

offsetting adjustments to the debts carrying value Changes in the fair value of non-qualifying derivatives that

occur prior to their maturity i.e temporary fluctuations in value are reported currently in the consolidated

statements of operations as interest expense and characterized as unrealized gains losses

Gains or losses from interest rate derivative contracts are reflected as adjustments to interest expense on

the consolidated statements of operations The components of interest expense for the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 are presented below

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Interest expense on senior notes 718 765 637

Interest expense on credit facilities 61 60 117

Capitalized interest 716 633 585
Realized gains losses on interest rate derivatives 14 23
Unrealized gains losses on interest rate derivatives 66 91 85

Amortization of loan discount and other 36 35 23

Total interest expense 19 113 271

detailed explanation of accounting for interest rate derivatives appears under Application of Critical

Accounting Policies Hedging elsewhere in this Item

Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017

Concurrent with the issuance of the Euro-denominated senior notes we entered into cross currency swap to

mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes detailed

explanation of accounting for foreign currency derivatives appears under Application of Critical Accounting

Policies Hedging elsewhere in this Item

Results of Operations

General For the year ended December 31 2010 Chesapeake had net income of $1 .774 billion or $2.51

per diluted common share on total revenues of $9.366 billion This compares to net loss of $5.830 billion or

$9.57 per diluted common share on total revenues of $7.702 billion during the year ended December 31 2009

and net income of $604 million or $0.93 per diluted common share on total revenues of $1 1.629 billion during

the year ended December 31 2008

Natural Gas and Oil Sales During 2010 natural gas and oil sales were $5.647 billion compared to $5049

billion in 2009 and $7.858 billion in 2008 In 2010 Chesapeake produced and sold 1.035 tcfe of natural gas

and oil at weighted average price of $6.09 per mcfe compared to 905.5 bcfe in 2009 at weighted average

price of $6.22 per mcfe and 842.7 bcfe in 2008 at weighted average price of $8.38 per mcfe weighted

average prices for all years discussed exclude the effect of unrealized gains or losses on derivatives of $657

million $588 million and $797 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The decrease in prices in 2010

resulted in decrease in revenue of $138 million and increased production resulted in $807 million increase

for total increase in revenues of $669 million excluding unrealized gains or losses on natural gas and oil

derivatives The increase in production from period to period was primarily generated from the drillbit
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For 2010 we realized an average price per mcf of natural gas of $5.57 compared to $5.93 in 2009 and

$8.09 in 2008 weighted average prices for all years discussed exclude the effect of unrealized gains or losses

on derivatives Included in the 2010 realized price of natural gas are gains related to swaps that had an above-

market fixed price on the origination date We obtained these above-market swaps by selling out-year call

options on portion of our projected natural gas and oil production See Item 7A for complete listing of all of

our derivative instruments Oil prices realized per barrel excluding unrealized gains or losses on derivatives

were $62.71 $58.38 and $70.48 in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Realized gains or losses from our

natural gas and oil derivatives resulted in net increase in natural gas and oil revenues of $2.056 billion or

$1.99 per mcfe in 2010 net increase of $2.346 billion or $2.59 per mcfe in 2009 and net decrease of $8

million or $0.01 per mcfe in 2008

change in natural gas and oil prices has significant impact on our natural gas and oil revenues and

cash flows Assuming 2010 production levels an increase or decrease of $0.10 per mcf of natural gas sold

would result in an increase or decrease in 2010 revenues and cash flows of approximately $92 million and $89

million respectively and an increase or decrease of $1.00 per barrel of oil sold would result in an increase or

decrease in 2010 revenues and cash flows of approximately $18 million and $17 million respectively without

considering the effect of hedging activities

The following tables show our production and prices by region for 2010 2009 and 2008

2010

Mid-Continent

Haynesville/Bossier Shale

Barnett Shale

Fayetteville Shale

Permian and Delaware

Basins

Marcellus Shale

Eagle Ford Shale

Rockies/Williston Basin

Other

Totalc

Natural Gas Oila

bcf $/mcftb mmbbl $Ibblb

7.7 55.25

0.1 48.22

0.1 69.85

3.51 3.0 57.26

4.30

74.2 4.98

21.9 4.30

1.46

________
3.95

3.63

Mid-Continent

Haynesville/Bossier Shale

Barnett Shale

Fayetteville Shale

Permian and Delaware

Basins

Marcellus Shale

Eagle Eord Shale

Rockies/Williston Basin

Other

Totalc

Natural Gas Oila Total

bcf $mcfb mmbbl $/bblb bcfe $/mcfeb

233.2 4.09 13.8 56.60 315.9 31% 5.49

239.2 3.58 239.2 23 3.58

170.3 2.13 0.8 29.60 175.1 17 2.20

136.8 3.15 136.8 13 3.15

44.3 4.12 2.8 74.75 61.1 6.42

51.2 3.91 0.3 42.09 53.0 4.01

0.8 4.97 0.2 74.40 2.0 9.67

0.6 3.17 0.1 71.17 1.2 7.50

48.5 3.68 0.4 69.69 50.9 4.08

924.9 3.43 18.4 58.67 1035.2 100% 4.10

2009

Total

3.78

3.33

2.11

3.03

258.7

85.1

237.8

90.7

56.2

21.9

0.6

83.8

834.8

bcfe $/mcfeb

304.8 34% 4.60

85.7 10 3.36

238.4 25 2.12

90.7 10 3.03

1.46

3.64

3.16

0.6

0.9 53.41 89.2 10

11.8 55.60 905.5 100%
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2008

Natural Gas 011a Total

bet $/mcfQ mmbbl $lbblb bcfe $/mcfeb

Mid-Continent 315.5 7.92 6.9 94.12 357.0 42% 8.82

Haynesville/BossierShale 30.4 8.35 0.2 95.12 31.6 8.64

BarnettShale 181.2 6.74 181.2 21 6.74

Fayetteville Shale 54.9 7.24 54.9 7.24

Permian and Delaware

Basins 62.2 7.84 2.7 97.66 78.4 9.59

Marcellus Shale 1.0 9.42 1.0 9.42

EagleFordShale

Rockies/Williston Basin 1.0 5.40 0.1 90.22 1.6 7.81

Other 129.2 8.75 1.3 94.83 137.0 16 9.16

Totalc 775.4 7.74 11.2 95.04 842.7 100% 8.39

Includes NGLs

The average sales price excludes gains losses on derivatives

2010 production reflects the sale of 25% industry participation interest in the companys Barnett Shale

assets in January 2010 and various other asset sales including VPP VPP and VPP

Our average daily production of 2.836 bcfe for 2010 consisted of 2.534 bcf of natural gas and 50397 bbls

of oil Our 2010 production of 1.035 tcfe was comprised of 924.9 bcf 89% on natural gas equivalent basis

and 18.4 mmbbls 11% on natural gas equivalent basis Our year-over-year growth rate of natural gas

production was 11% and our year-over-year growth rate of oil production was 56% Our percentage of revenue

from oil in 2010 was 18% of realized natural gas and oil revenue compared to 12% in 2009

Marketing Gathering and Compression Sales and Operating Expenses Marketing gathering and

compression sales and operating expenses consist of third-party revenue and operating expenses related to

our midstream operations Marketing gathering and compression activities are performed by Chesapeake

substantially for owners in Chesapeake-operated wells Chesapeake realized $3.479 billion in marketing

gathering and compression sales in 2010 with corresponding marketing gathering and compression expenses

of $3.352 billion for net margin before depreciation of $127 million This compares to sales of $2463 billion

and $3.598 billion expenses of $2.316 billion and $3505 billion and margins before depreciation of $147

million and $93 million in 2009 and 2008 respectively In 2010 Chesapeake realized an increase in marketing

gathering and compression sales and operating expenses primarily due to an increase in third-party marketing

gathering and compression volumes This increase was offset by decrease in revenues expenses and

margin related to certain of our midstream assets that were contributed to our midstream joint venture on

September 30 2009 and subsequently deconsolidated on January 2010 In 2009 Chesapeake realized an

increase in marketing gathering and compression net margin primarily due to an increase in third-party

marketing gathering and compression volumes

Service Operations Revenue and Operating Expenses Service operations consist of third-party revenue

and operating expenses related to our drilling and oilfield trucking operations Chesapeake recognized $240

million in service operations revenue in 2010 with corresponding service operations expenses of $208 million

for net margin before depreciation of $32 million This compares to revenue of $190 million and $173 million

expenses of $182 million and $143 million and net margin before depreciation of $8 million and $30 million in

2009 and 2008 respectively Service operations margins have increased as service rates increased throughout

2010 The economic slowdown toward the end of 2008 and throughout 2009 caused decreased service rates

and increased stacked rigs resulting in much lower operating margins for 2009 when compared to 2010 and

2008

Production Expenses Production expenses which include
lifting

costs and ad valorem taxes were $893

million in 2010 compared to $876 million and $889 million in 2009 and 2008 respectively On

unit-of-production basis production expenses were $0.86 per mcfe in 2010 compared to $0.97 and $1.05 per

mcfe in 2009 and 2008 respectively The per unit expense decreases in 2010 and 2009 were primarily the

result of completing new high volume wells with lower per unit production costs
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The following table shows our production expenses by region and our ad valorem tax expenses for 2010
2009 and 2008 in millions except per unit

2010 2009 2008

Production Production Production

Expenses $Imcfe Expenses $Imcfe Expenses $/mcfe

Mid-Continent 309 0.98 300 0.98 362 1.01

Haynesville/Bossier

Shale 65 0.27 33 0.39 37 1.33

Barnett Shale 142 0.81 158 0.66 128 0.71

Fayetteville Shale 40 0.29 23 0.25 13 0.24

Permian and Delaware

Basins 94 1.54 112 1.52 134 1.67

Marcellus Shale 37 1.08 24 1.10 1.63

Eagle Ford Shale 1.50

Rockies/Williston Basin 1.67

Other 136 1.76 144 1.61 137 1.00

828 0.80 796 0.88 815 0.96

Ad valorem tax 65 0.06 80 0.09 74 0.09

Total 893 0.86 876 0.97 889 1.05

Production Taxes Production taxes were $157 million in 2010 compared to $107 million in 2009 and $284

million in 2008 On unit-of-production basis production taxes were $0.15 per mcfe in 2010 compared to

$0.12 per mcfe in 2009 and $0.34 per mcfe in 2008 The $50 million increase in production taxes from 2009 to

2010 is due to an increase in the realized average sales price of natural gas and oil of $0.47 per mcfe

excluding gains or losses on derivatives and production increase of 129.7 bcfe The decrease in 2009 was

due to decrease in the realized average sales price of natural gas and oil of $4.76 per mcfe excluding gains

or losses on derivatives In general production taxes are calculated using value-based formulas that produce

higher per unit costs when natural gas and oil prices are higher

General and Administrative Expense General and administrative expenses including stock-based

compensation but excluding internal costs capitalized to our natural gas and oil properties see Note 10 of the

notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report were $453 million in 2010

$349 million in 2009 and $377 million in 2008 General and administrative expenses were $0.44 $0.38 and

$0.45 per mcfe for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The increase in 2010 is the result of the companys

continued growth resulting in higher payroll and associated costs The decrease in 2009 was primarily the

result of decreased spending related to media relations Included in general and administrative expenses is

stock-based compensation of $84 million in 2010 $83 million in 2009 and $85 million in 2008 Restricted stock

grants expense is based on the price of our common stock on the date of grant

Our stock-based compensation for employees and non-employee directors is in the form of restricted

stock Employee restricted stock awards generally vest over period of four or five years Our non-employee

director awards vest over period of three years The discussion of stock-based compensation in Note and

Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report provides additional

detail on the accounting for and reporting of our stock-based compensation

Chesapeake follows the full-cost method of accounting under which all costs associated with natural gas

and oil property acquisition exploration and development activities are capitalized We capitalize internal costs

that can be directly identified with our acquisition exploration and development activities and do not include

any costs related to production general corporate overhead or similar activities In addition we capitalize

internal costs that can be identified with construction of certain of our property plant and equipment We

capitalized $384 million $359 million and $352 million of internal costs in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

directly related to our natural gas and oil property acquisition exploration and development efforts and the

construction of our property plant and equipment

Natural Gas and Oil Depreciation Depletion and Amortization Depreciation depletion and amortization of

natural gas and oil properties was $1 .394 billion $1 .371 billion and $1 .970 billion during 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively The average DDA rate per mcfe which is function of capitalized costs future development
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costs and the related underlying reserves in the periods presented was $1.35 $1.51 and $2.34 in 2010 2009

and 2008 respectively The decrease in the average rate from $2.34 in 2008 to $1.35 in 2010 is due primarily

to reductions of our natural gas and oil full-cost pool resulting from our divestitures in 2008 2009 and 2010

impairments of our full-cost pool in 2008 and 2009 as well as the addition of reserves through our drilling

activities

Depreciation and Amortization of Other Assets Depreciation and amortization of other assets was $220

million in 2010 compared to $244 million in 2009 and $174 million in 2008 The average DDA rate per mcfe

was $0.21 $0.27 and $0.21 in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The decrease from 2009 to 2010 was

primarily due to certain of our midstream assets that were contributed to our midstream joint venture on

September 30 2009 and subsequently deconsolidated on January 2010 offset by additional depreciation

expense associated with the assets acquired over the past year Property and equipment costs are depreciated

on straight-line basis Buildings are depreciated over 10 to 39 years gathering facilities are depreciated over

20 years drilling rigs are depreciated over 15 years and all other property and equipment are depreciated over

the estimated useful lives of the assets which range from two to twenty years To the extent company-owned

drilling rigs are used to drill our wells substantial portion of the depreciation is capitalized in natural gas and

oil properties as exploration or development costs

Impairment of Natural Gas and Oil Properties Due to lower commodity prices in the second half of 2008

and throughout 2009 we reported non-cash impairment charge on our natural gas and oil properties of $11.0

billion in 2009 and $2.8 billion in 2008 We account for our natural gas and oil properties using the full-cost

method of accounting which limits the amount of costs we can capitalize and requires us to write off these

costs if the carrying value of natural gas and oil assets in the evaluated portion of our full-cost pool exceeds the

sum of the present value of expected future net cash flows of proved reserves using 10% pre-tax discount

rate based on pricing and cost assumptions prescribed by the SEC and the present value of certain natural gas

and oil hedges

Gains Losses on Sales of Other Property and Equipment In 2010 we recorded $137 million gain

associated with sales of other property and equipment which consisted of $157 million gain on the sale of

our Springridge gas gathering system to our affiliate CHKM and net $20 million loss related to various sales

of other property and equipment including the sale of pipe gas gathering systems and other miscellaneous

assets In 2009 we recorded $38 million loss on the sale of two gathering systems There were nominal

amounts of gains and losses on the sales of other property and equipment in 2008

Other Impairments In 2010 we recorded $21 million impairment to natural gas gathering systems

primarily related to the obsolescence of certain pipe inventory In 2009 we recorded $130 million impairment

of other property and equipment and other assets An $86 million impairment was associated with certain of

our midstream assets contributed to our midstream joint venture in September 2009 as well as $4 million

impairment of debt issuance costs associated with the portion of our $460 million midstream revolving bank

credit facility that was reduced to $250 million as result of the joint venture Also in 2009 we recognized

$27 million charge associated with certain of our service operations assets and $13 million of bad debt

expense related to potentially uncollectible receivables In 2008 we recorded $30 million impairment

associated with certain of our midstream assets

Restructuring Costs In 2009 we recorded $34 million of restructuring and relocation costs in our Eastern

Division and certain other workforce reduction costs We reorganized our Charleston West Virginia-based

Eastern Division from regional corporate headquarters to regional field office consistent with the business

model we use elsewhere in the country As result we consolidated the management of our Eastern Division

land legal accounting information technology geoscience and engineering departments into our corporate

offices in Oklahoma City The costs of the restructuring included termination benefits consolidating or closing

facilities and relocating employees The discussion of restructuring costs in Note 13 of our consolidated

financial statements included in Item of this report provides additional detail on the accounting for and

reporting of these costs
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Interest Expense Interest expense decreased to $19 million in 2010 compared to $113 million in 2009

and $271 million in 2008 as follows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Interest expense on senior notes 718 765 637

Interest expense on credit facilities 61 60 117

Capitalized interest 716 633 585
Realized gains losses on interest rate derivatives 14 23
Unrealized gains losses on interest rate derivatives 66 91 85

Amortization of loan discount and other 36 35 23

Total interest expense 19 113 271

Average long-term borrowings 10345 11167 10044

Interest expense excluding unrealized gains losses on interest rate derivatives was $0.08 per mcte in

2010 compared to $0.22 per mcfe in both 2009 and 2008 The decrease in interest expense per mcfe from

2009 and 2008 is due to increased production volumes decrease in our senior notes outstanding and an

increase in capitalized interest Capitalized interest increased in 2010 and 2009 as result of significant

increase in unevaluated properties the base on which interest is capitalized

Earnings Losses from Equity Investees Earnings losses from equity investees was $227 million $39
million and $38 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The 2010 income consisted of $106 million

related to our equity in the net income of certain investments and $121 million related to the initial public

offering by CHKM and private offering of common stock by Chaparral Energy Inc which represented our

proportionate share of the excess of offering proceeds over our carrying value The 2009 and 2008 losses

related to our equity in the net losses of certain investments

Loss on Redemptions or Exchanges of Debt During 2010 we redeemed in whole for an aggregate

redemption price of approximately $1 .366 billion plus accrued interest approximately $364 million in principal

amount of our outstanding 7.50% Senior Notes due 2013 $300 million in principal amount of our 7.50% Senior

Notes due 2014 and approximately $670 million in principal amount of our 6.875% Senior Notes due 2016

Associated with the redemptions we recognized loss of $69 million in 2010 Also during 2010 we redeemed

in whole for redemption price of approximately $619 million plus accrued interest all $600 million in principal

amount of our 6.375% Senior Notes due 2015 We recognized loss of $19 million in 2010 associated with the

redemptions

Additionally during 2010 we completed tender offers to purchase for cash $245 million of 7.00% Senior

Notes due 2014 $567 million of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 and $582 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due

2018 Following the completion of these tender offers we redeemed the remaininQ $55 million of 7.00% Senior

Notes due 2014 $33 million of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 and $18 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due

2018 based on the redemption provisions in the indentures Associated with these tender offers and

redemptions we recognized loss of $40 million in 2010

Finally in 2010 we privately exchanged approximately $11 million in aggregate principal amount of our

2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 for an aggregate of 298500 shares of our common

stock valued at approximately $9 million Through these transactions we were able to retire this debt for

common stock valued at approximately 80% of the face value of the notes Of the $1 million principal amount

of convertible notes exchanged in 2010 $7 million was allocated to the debt component of the notes and the

remaining $4 million was allocated to the equity conversion feature of the notes and was recorded as an

adjustment to paid-in-capital The difference between the debt component and value of the common stock

exchanged in these transactions resulted in the $2 million loss including nominal amount of deferred charges

associated with the exchanges

In 2009 we privately exchanged approximately $364 million in aggregate principal amount of our 2.25%

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 for an aggregate of 10210169 shares of our common stock

valued at approximately $262 million Through these transactions we were able to retire this debt for common

stock valued at approximately 75% of the face value of the notes Of the $364 million principal amount of
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convertible notes exchanged in 2009 $227 million was allocated to the debt component and the remaining

$137 million was allocated to the equity conversion feature and was recorded as an adjustment to paid-in

capital The difference between the debt component and value of the common stock exchanged in these

transactions resulted in $40 million loss including $5 million of deferred charges associated with the

exchanges

During 2008 we exchanged approximately $254 million $272 million and $239 million in aggregate

principal amount of our 2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 2.50% Contingent Convertible

Senior Notes due 2037 and 2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 respectively for an

aggregate of 23913212 shares of our common stock valued at approximately $480 million Through these

transactions we were able to redeem this debt for common stock valued at approximately 65% of the face

value of the notes Associated with these exchanges we recorded gain of $27 million Of the combined $765

million principal amount of convertible notes exchanged in 2008 $515 million was allocated to the debt

component and the remaining $250 million was allocated to the equity conversion feature and was recorded as

an adjustment to paid-in-capital The difference between the debt component and the value of the common

stock exchanged in these transactions resulted in $35 million gain This gain was partially offset by the

write-off of $8 million in deferred charges associated with these exchanges

Also during 2008 we repurchased $300 million of our 7.75% Senior Notes due 2015 in order to re-finance

portion of our long-term debt at lower rate of interest In connection with the transaction we recorded $31

million loss which consisted of $12 million premium and $19 million of discounts interest rate derivatives and

deferred charges associated with the notes

Impairment of Investments We recorded $16 million $162 million and $180 million of impairments of

certain investments in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Each of our investees has been impacted by the

dramatic slowing of the worldwide economy and the freezing of the credit markets in the fourth quarter of 2008

and into 2009 and 2010 The economic weakness has resulted in significantly reduced natural gas and oil

prices leading to meaningful decline in the overall level of activity in the markets served by our investees

Associated with the weakness in performance of certain of the investees as well as an evaluation of their

financial condition and near-term prospects we recognized that an other than temporary impairment had

occurred on certain investments

Other Income Other income was $16 million $11 million and $27 million in 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively The 2010 income consisted of $8 million of interest income and $8 million of miscellaneous

income The 2009 income consisted of $8 million of interest income and $3 million of miscellaneous income

The 2008 income consisted of $22 million of interest income $10 million of expense related to consent

solicitation fees and $15 million of miscellaneous income

/ncome Tax Expense Benefit Chesapeake recorded income tax expense of $1110 billion in 2010

compared to an income tax benefit of $3.483 billion in 2009 and income tax expense of $387 million in 2008

The entire income tax expense recorded in 2010 is deferred Of the $4.593 billion increase in 2010 $4.564

billion was the result of the increase in net income before taxes and $29 million was the result of an increase in

the effective tax rate Our effective income tax rate was 38.5% in 2010 compared to 37.5% in 2009 and 39% in

2008 Our effective tax rate fluctuates as result of the impact of state income taxes and permanent

differences We expect our effective income tax rate to be 39% in 2011

Loss on Conversion/Exchange of Preferred Stock Loss on conversion/exchange of preferred stock was

$67 million in 2008 There were no losses on conversion/exchange of preferred stock in 2010 and 2009 In

general the loss on the exchanges represented the excess of the fair value of the common stock issued over

the fair value of the securities issuable pursuant to the original conversion terms See Note of the notes to

our consolidated financial statements in Item of this report for further detail regarding these transactions

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Readers of this report and users of the information contained in it should be aware of how certain events

may impact our financial results based on the accounting policies in place The three policies we consider to be

the most significant are discussed below The companys management has discussed each critical accounting

policy with the Audit Committee of the companys Board of Directors
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The selection and application of accounting policies are an important process that changes as our

business changes and as accounting rules are developed Accounting rules generally do not involve

selection among alternatives but involve an implementation and interpretation of existing rules and the use of

judgment to the specific set of circumstances existing in our business

Hedging Chesapeake uses commodity price and financial risk management instruments to mitigate our

exposure to price fluctuations in natural gas and oil and changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates

Recognized gains and losses on derivative contracts are reported as component of the related transaction

Results of natural gas and oil derivative contracts are reflected in natural gas and oil sales and results of

interest rate and foreign exchange rate hedging contracts are reflected in interest expense The changes in the

fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying for designation as either cash flow or fair value hedges that

occur prior to maturity are reported currently in the consolidated statement of operations as unrealized gains

losses within natural gas and oil sales or interest expense Cash flows from derivative contracts are classified

in the same category within the statement of cash flows as the items being hedged or on basis consistent

with the nature of the instruments

Accounting guidance for derivatives and hedging establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring

that derivative instruments including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts be recorded

at fair value and included in the consolidated balance sheet as assets or liabilities The accounting for changes

in the fair value of derivative instrument depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting

designation which is established at the inception of derivative For derivative instruments designated as

natural gas and oil cash flow hedges changes in fair value to the extent the hedge is effective are recognized

in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as natural gas and oil sales

Any change in the fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized immediately in natural gas and oil

sales For derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges changes in fair value as well as the

offsetting changes in the estimated fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized

currently in earnings as interest expense Differences between the changes in the fair values of the hedged

item and the derivative instrument if any represent gains or losses on ineffectiveness and are reflected

currently in interest expense Hedge effectiveness is measured at least quarterly based on the relative changes

in fair value between the derivative contract and the hedged item over time Changes in fair value of contracts

that do not qualify as hedges or are not designated as hedges are also recognized currently in earnings as

interest expense See Hedging Activities above and Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About

Market Risk for additional information regarding our hedging activities

One of the primary factors that can have an impact on our results of operations is the method used to

value our derivatives We have established the fair value of our derivative instruments utilizing established

index prices volatility curves and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values

for reasonableness Derivative transactions are also subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to

meet their obligations Such non-performance risk is considered in the valuation of our derivative instruments

but to date has not had material impact on the values of our derivatives The values we report in our financial

statements are as of point in time and subsequently change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual

results changes in market conditions and other factors

Another factor that can impact our results of operations each period is our ability to estimate the level of

correlation between future changes in the fair value of the hedge instruments and the transactions being

hedged both at inception and on an ongoing basis This correlation is complicated since energy commodity

prices the primary risk we hedge have quality and location differences that can be difficult to hedge effectively

The factors underlying our estimates of fair value and our assessment of correlation of our hedging derivatives

are impacted by actual results and changes in conditions that affect these factors many of which are beyond

our control

Due to the volatility of natural gas and oil prices and to lesser extent interest rates and foreign

exchange rates the companys financial condition and results of operations can be significantly impacted by

changes in the market value of our derivative instruments As of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the fair

value of our derivatives was liability of $761 million liability of $63 million and an asset of $1165 billion

respectively

Natural Gas and Oil Properties The accounting for our business is subject to special accounting rules that

are unique to the natural gas and oil industry There are two allowable methods of accounting for natural gas
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and oil business activities the successful efforts method and the full-cost method Chesapeake follows the full-

cost method of accounting under which alt costs associated with property acquisition exploration and

development activities are capitalized We also capitalize internal costs that can be directly identified with our

acquisition exploration and development activities and do not include any costs related to production general

corporate overhead or similaractivities

Under the successful efforts method geological and geophysical costs and costs of carrying and retaining

undeveloped properties are charged to expense as incurred Costs of drilling exploratory wells that do not

result in proved reserves are charged to expense Depreciation depletion amortization and impairment of

natural gas and oil properties are generally calculated on well by well or lease or field basis versus the

aggregated full-cost pool basis Additionally gain or loss is generally recognized on all sales of natural gas

and oil properties under the successful efforts method As result our financial statements will differ from

companies that apply the successful efforts method since we will generally reflect higher level of capitalized

costs as well as higher natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and amortization rate and we will not have

exploration expenses that successful efforts companies frequently have

Under the full-cost method capitalized costs are amortized on composite unit-of-production method

based on proved natural gas and oil reserves If we maintain the same level of production year over year the

depreciation depletion and amortization expense may be significantly different if our estimate of remaining

reserves or future development costs changes significantly Proceeds from the sale of properties are

accounted for as reductions of capitalized costs unless such sales involve significant change in proved

reserves and significantly alter the relationship between costs and proved reserves in which case gain or

loss is recognized The costs of unproved properties are excluded from amortization until the properties are

evaluated We review all of our unevaluated properties quarterly to determine whether or not and to what

extent proved reserves have been assigned to the properties and otherwise if impairment has occurred

Unevaluated properties are grouped by major producing area where individual property costs are not significant

and are assessed individually when individual costs are significant

We review the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties under the full-cost accounting rules of

the Securities and Exchange Commission on quarterly basis This quarterly review is referred to as ceiling

test Under the ceiling test capitalized costs less accumulated amortization and related deferred income taxes

may not exceed an amount equal to the sum of the present value of estimated future net revenues adjusted

for cash flow hedges less estimated future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved

reserves less any related income tax effects For 2010 and 2009 in calculating estimated future net revenues

current prices are calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of natural gas and oil prices on the first day

of each month within the 12-month period ended Costs used are those as of the end of the appropriate

quarterly period For 2008 current prices and costs used are those as of the end of the appropriate quarterly

period Such prices are utilized except where different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable

contracts for the remaining term of those contracts including the effects of derivatives qualifying as cash flow

hedges

Two primary factors impacting this test are reserve levels and natural gas and oil prices and their

associated impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues Revisions to estimates of natural gas

and oil reserves and/or an increase or decrease in prices can have material impact on the present value of

estimated future net revenues Any excess of the net book value less deferred income taxes is generally

written off as an expense

Income Taxes As part of the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements we are required

to estimate the federal and state income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which Chesapeake operates This

process involves estimating the actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences

resulting from differing treatment of items such as derivative instruments depreciation depletion and

amortization and certain accrued liabilities for tax and accounting purposes These differences and our net

operating loss carryforwards result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which are included in our consolidated

balance sheet We must then assess using all available positive and negative evidence the likelihood that the

deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income If we believe that recovery is not likely we

must establish valuation allowance Generally to the extent Chesapeake establishes valuation allowance

or increases or decreases this allowance in period we must include an expense or reduction of expense

within the tax provision in the consolidated statement of operations
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Under accounting guidance for income taxes an enterprise must use judgment in considering the relative

impact of negative and positive evidence The weight given to the potential effect of negative and positive

evidence should be commensurate with the extent to which it can be objectively verified The more negative

evidence that exists the more positive evidence is necessary and ii the more difficult it is to support

conclusion that valuation allowance is not needed for some portion or all of the deferred tax asset Among the

more significant types of evidence that we consider are

taxable income projections in future years

whether the carryforward period is so brief that it would limit realization of the tax benefit

future sales and operating cost projections that will produce more than enough taxable income to

realize the deferred tax asset based on existing sales prices and cost structures and

our earnings history exclusive of the loss that created the future deductible amount coupled with

evidence indicating that the loss is an aberration rather than continuing condition

If natural gas and oil prices were to decrease significantly below present levels and if such decreases

were considered other than temporary ii exploration drilling and operating costs were to increase

significantly beyond current levels or iii we were confronted with any other significantly negative evidence

pertaining to our ability to realize our NOL carryforwards prior to their expiration we may be required to provide

valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets As of December 31 2010 we had deferred tax assets of

$1.9 billion

Accounting guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions prescribes threshold

condition that tax position must meet for any of the benefit of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in

the financial statements Guidance is also provided regarding de-recognition classification and disclosure of

these uncertain tax positions Based on this guidance we regularly analyze tax positions taken or expected to

be taken in tax return based on the threshold condition prescribed Tax positions that do not meet or exceed

this threshold condition are considered uncertain tax positions We accrue interest related to these uncertain

tax positions which is recognized in interest expense Penalties if any related to uncertain tax positions would

be recorded in other expenses Additional information about uncertain tax positions appears in Note of the

notes to our consolidated financial statements

Disclosures About Effects of Transactions with Related Parties

Chief Executive Officer

As of December 31 2010 we had accrued accounts receivable from our Chief Executive Officer Aubrey

McClendon of $30 million representing joint interest billings from December 2010 which were invoiced and

timely paid in January 2011 Since Chesapeake was founded in 1989 Mr McClendon has acquired working

interests in virtually all of our natural gas and oil properties by participating in our drilling activities under the

terms of the Founder Well Participation Program FWPP and predecessor participation arrangements provided

for in Mr McClendons employment agreements Under the FWPP approved by our shareholders in June

2005 Mr McClendon may elect to participate in all or none of the wells drilled by or on behalf of Chesapeake

during calendar year but he is not allowed to participate only in selected wells participation election is

required to be received by the Compensation Committee of Chesapeakes Board of Directors not less than 30

days prior to the start of each calendar year His participation is permitted only under the terms outlined in the

FWPP which among other things limits his individual participation to maximum working interest of 2.5% in

well and prohibits participation in situations where Chesapeakes working interest would be reduced below

12.5% as result of his participation In addition the company is reimbursed for costs associated with

leasehold acquired by Mr McClendon as result of his well participation

On December 31 2008 we entered into new five-year employment agreement with Mr McClendon that

contained one-time well cost incentive award to him The total cost of the award to Chesapeake was $75

million plus employment taxes in the amount of approximately $1 million We are recognizing the incentive

award as general and administrative expense over the five-year vesting period for the clawback described

below resulting in an expense of approximately $15 million per year beginning in 2009 In addition to state and

federal income tax withholding similar employment taxes were imposed on Mr McClendon and withheld from

the award The net incentive award of approximately $44 million was fully applied against costs attributable to

interests in company wells acquired by Mr McClendon or his affiliates under the FWPP The incentive award is

subject to clawback equal to any unvested portion of the award if during the initial five-year term of the

employment agreement Mr McClendon resigns from the company or is terminated for cause by the company
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Other Related Pa flies

Amounts paid to CHKM
Gas gathering fees

Amounts received from CHKM
Compressor rentals

Inventory purchases

Other services provideda

As of December 31 2010 we had net payable to CHKM of $45 million

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Forward-Looking Statements

During 2010 our 42%-owned affiliate Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P CHKM provided natural

gas gathering and treating services to us in the ordinary course of business In addition there are various

agreements in place whereby we support CHKM in various functions for which we are reimbursed During

2010 our transactions with CHKM included the following

Year Ended
December 31 2010

in millions

378

48

47

73

Total amounts received from CHKM 168

Includes amounts received related to the General and Administrative Services and Reimbursement

Agreement the Employee Secondment Agreement the Shared Services Agreement and the Additional

Services and Reimbursement Agreement agreed to at the formation of the joint venture

During 2010 and 2009 our 26%-owned affiliate Frac Tech Holdings LLC provided us hydraulic fracturing

and other services in the ordinary course of business During 2010 and 2009 we paid Frac Tech $89 million

and $43 million respectively for these services As of December 31 2010 and 2009 we had $30 million and

$8 million respectively due Frac Tech for services provided and not yet paid

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB recently issued the following standards which we

reviewed to determine the potential impact on our financial statements upon adoption

In February 2010 the FASB amended its guidance on subsequent events to remove the requirement for

SEC filers to disclose the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events The guidance was

effective upon issuance We adopted this guidance in 2010

The FASB also issued new guidance requiring additional disclosures about fair value measurements

adding new requirement to disclose transfers in and out of Levels and measurements and gross

presentation of activity within Level roll forward The guidance also clarified existing disclosure

requirements regarding the level of disaggregation of fair value measurements and disclosures regarding

inputs and valuation techniques We adopted this guidance in the Current Period Adoption had no impact on

our financial position or results of operations Required disclosures for the reconciliation of purchases sales

issuance and settlements of financial instruments valued with Level method are effective beginning on

January 2011 and we do not expect the implementation to have material impact on our financial position

or results of operations See Note 14 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item of this

report for discussion regarding fair value measurements

This report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act

of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Forward-looking statements are statements

other than historical fact and give our current expectations or forecasts of future events They include estimates

of natural gas and oil reserves expected natural gas and oil production and future expenses assumptions

regarding future natural gas and oil prices planned capital expenditures and anticipated asset acquisitions and

sales as well as statements concerning anticipated cash flow and liquidity business strategy and other plans

and objectives for future operations Disclosures concerning the fair values of derivative contracts and their

estimated contribution to our future results of operations are based upon market information as of specific

date These market prices are subject to significant volatility
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Although we believe the expectations and forecasts reflected in these and other forward-looking

statements are reasonable we can give no assurance they will prove to have been correct They can be

affected by inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties Factors that could cause

actual results to differ materially from expected results are described under Risk Factors in Item 1A of this

report and include

the volatility of natural gas and oil prices

the limitations our level of indebtedness may have on our financial flexibility

declines in the values of our natural gas and oil properties resulting in ceiling test write-downs

the availability of capital on an economic basis including planned asset monetization transactions to

fund reserve replacement costs

our ability to replace reserves and sustain production

uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of natural gas and oil reserves and projecting future

rates of production and the timing of development expenditures

inability to generate profits or achieve targeted results in our development and exploratory drilling and

well operations

leasehold terms expiring before production can be established

hedging activities resulting in lower prices realized on natural gas and oil sales and the need to secure

hedging liabilities

drilling and operating risks including potential environmental liabilities

changes in legislation and regulation adversely affecting our industry and our business

general economic conditions negatively impacting us and our business counterparties

transportation capacity constraints and interruptions that could adversely affect our cash flow and

losses possible from pending or future litigation

We caution you not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements which speak only as of

the date of this report and we undertake no obligation to update this information We urge you to carefully

review and consider the disclosures made in this report and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange

Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect our business

ITEM 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Natural Gas and Oil Hedging Activities

Our results of operations and cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for natural gas and oil

To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various derivative

instruments These instruments allow us to predict with greater certainty the effective natural gas and oil prices

to be received for our hedged production Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for

accounting purposes we believe our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving our risk

management objectives

Our general strategy for attempting to mitigate exposure to adverse natural gas and oil price changes is to

hedge into strengthening natural gas and oil futures markets when prices allow us to generate high cash

margins and when we view prices to be in the upper range of our predicted future price range Information we

consider in forming an opinion about future prices includes general economic conditions industrial output

levels and expectations producer breakeven cost structures liquefied natural gas import trends natural gas

and oil storage inventory levels industry decline rates for base production and weather trends

We use wide range of derivative instruments to achieve our risk management objectives including

swaps and options puts or calls All of these are described in more detail below We typically use swaps for

large portion of the natural gas and oil volume we hedge Swaps are used when the price level is acceptable

We also sell calls taking advantage of market volatility for portion of our projected production volumes when

the strike price levels and the premiums are attractive to us Beginning in late 2009 and in 2010 we have taken

advantage of attractive strip prices in 2012 through 2017 and sold natural gas and oil call options to our
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counterparties in exchange for 2010 2011 and 2012 natural gas swaps with fixed prices above the then current

market price This effectively allowed us to sell out-year volatility through call options at terms acceptable to us

in exchange for natural gas swaps with fixed prices in excess of the market price for natural gas at that time

Additionally we sell call options when we would be satisfied to sell our production at the price being capped by

the call strike or believe it to be more likely than not that the future natural gas or oil price will stay below the

call strike price plus the premium we will receive

We determine the volume we may potentially hedge by reviewing the companys estimated future

production levels which are derived from extensive examination of existing producing reserve estimates and

estimates of likely production risked from new drilling Production forecasts are updated at least monthly and

adjusted if necessary to actual results and activity levels We do not hedge more volumes than we expect to

produce and if production estimates are lowered for future periods and hedges are already executed for some

volume above the new production forecasts the hedges are reversed The actual fixed hedge price on our

derivative instruments is derived from bidding and the reference NYMEX price as reflected in current NYMEX

trading The pricing dates of our derivative contracts follow NYMEX futures All of our derivative instruments

are net settled based on the difference between the fixed price as stated in the contract and the floating-price

payment resulting in net amount due to or from the counterparty

We adjust our derivative positions in response to changes in prices and market conditions as pad of an

ongoing dynamic process We review our derivative positions continuously and if future market conditions

change and prices have fallen to levels we believe could jeopardize the effectiveness of position we will

mitigate such risk by either doing cash settlement with our counterparty restructuring the position or by

entering into new swap that effectively reverses the current position counter-swap The factors we

consider in closing or restructuring position before the settlement date are identical to those we reviewed

when deciding to enter into the original derivative position Gains or losses related to closed positions will be

realized in the month of related production based on the terms specified in the original contract

In 2009 we restructured many of our contracts that included knockout features as commodity prices

decreased The knockouts were typically restructured into straight swaps or collars based on strip prices at the

time of the restructure In the latter half of 2010 we restructured portion of our call options by lowering the

strike price on call options sold for 2012 through 2015 and used the value to buy back call options for the same

periods This increased our capacity to hedge additional volumes

As of December 31 2010 our natural gas and oil derivative instruments consisted of the following

Swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price to the counterparty for the

hedged commodity

Call options Chesapeake sells call options in exchange for premium from the counterparty At the

time of settlement if the market price exceeds the fixed price of the call option Chesapeake pays the

counterparty such excess and if the market price settles below the fixed price of the call option no

payment is due from either party

Put options Chesapeake receives premium from the counterparty in exchange for the sale of put

option At the time of settlement if the market price falls below the fixed price of the put option

Chesapeake pays the counterparty such shortfall and if the market price settles above the fixed price

of the put option no payment is due from either party

Knockout swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price The fixed price

received by Chesapeake includes premium in exchange for the possibility to reduce the

counterpartys exposure to zero in any given month if the floating market price is lower than certain

pre-determined knockout prices

Basis protection swaps These instruments are arrangements that guarantee price differential to

NYMEX for natural gas from specified delivery point For non-Appalachian Basin basis protection

swaps which typically have negative differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake receives payment from

the counterparty if the price differential is greater than the stated terms of the contract and pays the

counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of the contract For Appalachian

Basin basis protection swaps which typically have positive differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake

receives payment from the counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of the

contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is greater than the stated terms of the

contract
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As of December 31 2010 we had the following open natural gas and oil derivative instruments

Weighted Average Price Cash Flow Fair

Volume Fixed Put Call Differential Hedge Value

bbtu per mmbtu in millions
Natural Gas

Swaps
012011

022011

032011

042011

2012

Other Swapss
012011

022011

032011

042011

2012

Call Options

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016 2020

Put Options

012011

022011

032011

042011

Basis Protection Swaps

Non-Appalachian Basin

022011

032011

042011

2012

20132019

Basis Protection Swaps

Appalachian Basin

012011

022011

032011

042011

20122022

89354

91023

132480

132480

12800

142545

140512

85880

85880

122180

161077

436033

330183

226446

324003

9000
9100

16560
16560

19147

19397

6545

50532

29349

11674

12186

12403

12324

134

5.60$ Yes$
5.35 Yes

4.93 Yes

4.93 Yes

6.00 Yes

6.43 No

6.35 No

6.70 No

6.73 No

6.19 No

6.54 No

6.44 No

6.44 No

6.31 No

8.31 No

5.75 No

5.75 No

5.42 No

5.48 No

0.82 No

0.82 No

0.82 No

0.78 No

0.69 No

0.14 No

0.14 No

0.14 No

0.14 No

0.11 No

111

83

47

12

298

268

183

159

138

39
171
165
140
186

13
12
18
16

10
10

22

492Total Natural Gas
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Other Swapsa
2012

2013

Call Optionsb

Qi 2011

022011

032011

042011

2012

2013

2014

2015

20162017

Knock-Out Swaps
Qi 2011

022011

032011

042011

2012

1830 100.00

1825 100.00

2250

2275

2300

2300

15644

12739

8707

7411

10600

72.81

72.81

72.81

72.81

79.82

85.37

87.72

85.31

84.25

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

13
16

28
33
37
40

258
226
151
140
216

Other swaps are swaps not qualifying for designation as cash flow hedges Other oil swaps include options

to extend existing swaps for an additional 12 months The volume of such extendables in 2012 2013 is

3655 mbbl at weighted average price of $100.00/bbl

Included in oil call options are natural gas liquid call options in the amount of 5000 bbls per day at

$39.O6Jbbl for 2011 and $38.01/bbl for 2012

In addition to the open derivative positions disclosed above at December 31 2010 we had $160 million of

net hedging gains related to settled trades for future production periods that will be recorded within natural gas

and oil sales as realized gains losses as they are transferred from either accumulated other comprehensive

income or unrealized gains losses in the month of related production based on the terms specified in the

original contract as noted below

012011
022011

032011
042011

2012

2013

2014

2015

20162022 11
Total 160

Oil

Swaps

Weighted Average Price Cash Flow Fair

Volume Fixed Put Call Differential Hedge Value

mbbl per bbl in millions

012011 180$ 91.35$ Yes$

022011 182 91.35 Yes

032011 184 91.35 Yes

042011 184 91.35 Yes

Total Natural Gas and Oil

270 104.75 60.00 No

273 104.75 60.00 No

276 104.75 60.00 No

276 104.75 60.00 No

732 109.50 60.00 No

Total Oil 1141

649

December 31
2010

in millions

68

82

79

68

42

18

237
51
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We have determined the fair value of our derivative instruments utilizing established index prices volatility

curves and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values for reasonableness

Derivative transactions are also subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations

Such non-performance risk is considered in the valuation of our derivative instruments but to date has not had

material impact on the values of our derivatives Future risk related to counterparties not being able to meet

their obligations has been mitigated under our secured hedging facility which requires counterparties to post

collateral if their obligations to Chesapeake are in excess of defined thresholds The values we report in our

financial statements are as of point in time and subsequently change as these estimates are revised to reflect

actual results changes in market conditions and other factors

The table below reconciles the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 changes in fair value of

our natural gas and oil derivatives Of the $649 million fair value
liability

as of December 31 2010 $947 million

relates to contracts maturing in the next 12 months of which we expect to transfer approximately $15 million

net of income taxes from accumulated other comprehensive income to net income loss and $1596 million

relates to contracts maturing after 12 months All transactions hedged as of December 31 2010 are expected

to mature by December 31 2022

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of January 21 1305 369
Change in fair value of contracts 995 1266 1880

Fair value of new contracts when entered into 581 21 569
Contracts realized or otherwise settled 1691 2102
Fair value of contracts when closed 607 427 354

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of December 31 649 21 1305

The change in natural gas and oil prices during the year ended December 31 2010 increased the value of

our derivative assets by $995 million This gain is recorded in natural gas and oil sales or in accumulated other

comprehensive income We entered into new contracts which were in liability position of $581 million We

settled contracts for $1691 billion and we closed out contracts which were in
liability position of $607

million The realized gain or loss is recorded in natural gas and oil sales in the month of related production

Pursuant to accounting guidance for derivatives and hedging certain derivatives qualify for designation as

cash flow hedges Following these provisions changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as

cash flow hedges to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged risk are

recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as the

physical transactions being hedged occur Any change in fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is currently

recognized in natural gas and oil sales as unrealized gains losses Realized gains losses are comprised of

settled contracts related to the production periods being reported Unrealized gains losses are comprised of

both temporary fluctuations in the mark-to-market values of non-qualifying contracts and settled values of

non-qualifying derivatives related to future production periods

The components of natural gas and oil sales for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 are

presented below

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Natural gas and oil sales 4248 3291 7069

Realized gains losses on natural gas and oil derivatives 2056 2346

Unrealized gains losses on non-qualifying natural gas and oil

derivatives 634 624 887

Unrealized gains losses on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges 23 36 90
Total natural gas and oil sales 5647 5049 7858
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Interest Rate Risk

The table below presents principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected

maturity dates

Years of Maturity

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

in millions

Liabilities

Long-term debt fixed

rates 500 1425 7777 $9702

Average interest rate 7.63% 9.50% 5.29% 6.03%

Long-term debt

variable rate 3706 $3706
Average interest rate 2.13% 2.13%

This amount does not include the discount included in long-term debt of $777 million and interest rate

derivatives of $9 million

Changes in interest rates affect the amount of interest we earn on our cash cash equivalents and short-

term investments and the interest rate we pay on borrowings under our revolving bank credit facilities All of our

other long-term indebtedness is fixed rate and therefore does not expose us to the risk of fluctuations in

earnings or cash flow due to changes in market interest rates However changes in interest rates do affect the

fair value of our fixed rate debt

Interest Rate Derivatives

To mitigate our exposure to volatility in interest rates related to our senior notes and credit facilities we

enter into interest rate derivatives As of December 31 2010 our interest rate derivative instruments consisted

of the following types of instruments

Swaps Chesapeake enters into fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps we receive fixed interest rate

and pay floating market rate to mitigate our exposure to changes in the fair value of our senior

notes We enter into floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps we receive floating market rate and pay

fixed interest rate to manage our interest rate exposure related to our bank credit facility borrowings

Call options Occasionally we sell call options for premium when we think it is more likely that the

option will expire unexercised The option allows the counterparty to terminate pre-determined open

swap at specific date

Swaptions Occasionally we sell an option to counterparty for premium which allows the

counterparty to enter into pre-determined swap with us on specific date

As of December 31 2010 the following interest rate derivatives were outstanding

Notional Weighted Average Rate
Fair Value Net Fair

Amount Fixed Floatinga Hedge Premiums Value

in millions in millions

Fixed to Floating

Swaps

Mature 2017

2020 600 6.75% mL plus 397 bp Yes 25
Mature 2020 250 6.88% mL plus 351 bp No

Call Options

Expire 02 2011 250 6.88% mL plus 351 bp No

Swaption

Expire 01 2011 500 6.56% mL plus 373 bp No 13

Floating to Fixed

Swaps

Mature 2014 1050 2.19% 6mL No 25

10 69
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Month LIBOR has been abbreviated mL and basis points has been abbreviated bp

In addition to open derivative positions disclosed above at December 31 2010 we had $89 million of net

hedging gains related to settled contracts that will be recorded within interest expense as realized gains

losses as they are transferred from either our senior note liability or unrealized interest expense gains

losses over the next ten-year term of the related senior notes

Gains and losses from interest rate derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest

expense on the consolidated statements of operations The components of interest expense for the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 are presented below

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Interest expense on senior notes 718 765 637

Interest expense on credit facilities 61 60 117

Capitalized interest 716 633 585
Realized gains losses on interest rate derivatives 14 23
Unrealized gains losses on interest rate derivatives 66 91 85

Amortization of loan discount and other 36 35 23

Total interest expense 19 113 271

Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017

Concurrent with the issuance of the euro-denominated senior notes we entered into cross currency swap to

mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes Under the

terms of the cross currency swap on each semi-annual interest payment date the counterparties pay

Chesapeake 19 million and Chesapeake pays the counterparties $30 million which yields an annual dollar-

equivalent interest rate of 7.491% Upon maturity of the notes the counterparties will pay Chesapeake

600 million and Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $800 million The terms of the cross currency swap

were based on the dollar/euro exchange rate on the issuance date of $1 .3325 to 1.00 Through the cross

currency swap we have eliminated any potential variability in Chesapeakes expected cash flows related to

changes in foreign exchange rates and therefore the swap qualifies as cash flow hedge The fair value of the

cross currency swap is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as liability of $43 million at December 31

2010 The euro-denominated debt in notes payable has been adjusted to $796 million at December 31 2010

using an exchange rate of $1 .3269 to 1.00

Additional Disclosures Regarding Derivative Instruments

In accordance with accounting guidance for derivatives and hedging to the extent that legal right of

set-off exists Chesapeake nets the value of its derivative instruments with the same counterparty in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets Cash settlements of our derivative instruments are generally

classified as operating cash flows unless the derivative contains significant financing element at contract

inception in which case these cash settlements are classified as financing cash flows in the accompanying

consolidated statements of cash flows
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

It is the responsibility of the management of Chesapeake Energy Corporation to establish and maintain

adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15f under the Securities Exchange

Act of g34 Management utilized the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commissions

Internal Control-Integrated Framework COSO framework in conducting the required assessment of

effectiveness of the companys internal control over financial reporting

Management has performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the companys internal control over

financial reporting and has determined the companys internal control over financial reporting was effective as

of December 31 2010

The effectiveness of the companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 has

been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in

its report which appears herein

Is AUBREY MCCLEN DON

Aubrey McClendon

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive

Officer

Is DOMENIC DELLOSSO JR

Domenic DelIOsso Jr

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Chesapeake Energy Corporation

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of Chesapeake Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries at

December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America In addition in our opinion the financial statement schedule listed in the

accompanying index presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein when read in

conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained in

all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on

criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for these

financial statements and financial statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express opinions on

these financial statements on the financial statement schedule and on the Companys internal control over

financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of

internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial

reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing

such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide

reasonable basis for our opinions

As discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements the Company changed the manner in

which it accounts for variable interest entities as of January 2010 Also as discussed in Note 10 to the

consolidated financial statements the Company changed the manner in which it estimates the quantities of oil

and gas reserves in 2009 and the limitation on its capitalized costs as of December 31 2009

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maFntenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of

the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tulsa Oklahoma

March 12011
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2010 2009

in millions

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 102 307

Accounts receivable 1974 1325
Short-term derivative instruments 947 692

Deferred income tax asset 139 24

Other current assets 104 98

Total Current Assets 3266 2446

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Natural gas and oil properties at cost based on full-cost accounting

Evaluated natural gas and oil properties 38952 35007
Unevaluated properties 14469 10005

Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants 1545 3516
Other property and equipment 3726 3235

Total Property and Equipment at Cost 58692 51763

Less accumulated depreciation depletion and amortization 26314 25053
Total Property and Equipment Net 32378 26710

OTHER ASSETS
Investments 1208 404

Long-term derivative instruments 60

Other long-term assets 327 294

Total Other Assets 1535 758

TOTAL ASSETS 37179 29914

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 2069 957

Short-term derivative instruments 15 27

Accrued interest 191 218

Other current liabilities 2215 1486

Total Current Liabilities 4490 2688

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term debt net 12640 12295
Deferred income tax liabilities 2384 1059
Long-term derivative instruments 1693 787

Asset retirement obligations 301 282

Other long-term liabilities 407 462

Total Long-Term Liabilities 17425 14885

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS Note
EQUITY

Chesapeake Stockholders Equity
Preferred Stock $0.01 par value 20000000 shares authorized

7254515 and 4659515 shares issued and outstanding 3065 466

Common stock $0.01 par value 1000000000 shares authorized 655251275
and 648549165 shares issued

Paid-in capital 12194 12146
Retained earnings deficit 190 1261
Accumulated other comprehensive income loss net of tax of $102 million and

$62 million respectively 168 102

Less treasury stock at cost 1221299 and 877205 common shares as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively 24 15
Total Chesapeake Stockholders Equity 15264 11444

Noncontrolling interest 897

Total Equity 15264 12341

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 37179 29914

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions except per share data
REVENUES

Natural gas and oil sales 5647 5049 7858

Marketing gathering and compression sales 3479 2463 3598

Service operations revenue 240 190 173

Total Revenues 9366 7702 11629

OPERATING COSTS
Production expenses 893 876 889

Production taxes 157 107 284

General and administrative expenses 453 349 377

Marketing gathering and compression expenses 3352 2316 3505
Service operations expense 208 182 143

Natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and amortization 1394 1371 1970

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 220 244 174

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties 11000 2800

Gains losses on sales of other property and equipment 137 38

Other impairments 21 130 30

Restructuring costs 34

Total Operating Costs 6561 16647 10172

INCOME LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 2805 8945 1457

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interestexpense 19 113 271
Earnings losses from equity investees 227 39 38
Losses on redemptions or exchanges of debt 129 40
Impairment of investments 16 162 180
Other income 16 11 27

Total Other Income Expense 79 343 466
INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 2884 9288 991

INCOME TAX EXPENSE BENEFIT
Current income taxes 423

Deferred income taxes 1110 3487 36
Total Income Tax Expense Benefit 1110 3483 387

NET INCOME LOSS 1774 5805 604

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 25
NET INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO CHESAPEAKE 1774 5830 604

Preferred stock dividends 111 23 33
Loss on conversion/exchange of preferred stock 67

NET INCOME LOSS AVAILABLE TO COMMON
STOCKHOLDERS 1663 5853 504

EARNINGS LOSS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic 2.63 9.57 0.94

Diluted 2.51 9.57 0.93

CASH DIVIDEND DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE 0.30 0.30 0.2925

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON AND COMMON EQUIVALENT
SHARES OUTSTANDING in millions

Basic 631 612 536

Diluted 706 612 545

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

1774 5805$ 604

1338 54

5117 4356

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NET INCOME LOSS
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO CASH PROVIDED BY

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Depreciation depletion and amortization

Deferred income tax expense benefit

Unrealized gains losses on derivatives

Realized gains losses on financing derivatives

Stock-based compensation

Accretion of discount on contingent convertible notes

Restructuring costs

Gains losses on sales of other property and equipment

Gains losses on equity investments

Losses on redemptions or exchanges of debt

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties

Impairment of investments

Other impairments

Other

Increase decrease in accounts receivable and other assets

Increase decrease in accounts payable accrued liabilities and other

Cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Exploration and development of natural gas and oil properties

Acquisitions of natural gas and oil proved and unproved properties

Additions to other property and equipment

Proceeds from divestitures of proved and unproved properties

Proceeds from sales of other assets

Additions to investments

Other

Cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from credit facilities borrowings

Payments on credit facilities borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net of offering costs

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock net of offering costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock net of offering costs

Cash paid to redeem debt

Cash paid for common stock dividends

Cash paid for preferred stock dividends

Proceeds from sale of noncontrolling interest in midstream joint venture

Realized gains on financing derivatives

Proceeds from mortgage of building

Proceeds from sale/leaseback of real estate surface assets

Net increase decrease in outstanding payments in excess of cash balance

Other

Cash provided by used in financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

5242 3572 6104
6945 2268 8593
1326 1683 3073
4292 1926 7670

883 176 219

134 40 74
31 10

8503 5462 9965

145

20 249 330

88 128 30
3181 336 6356

205 1442 1748
307 1749

102 307 1749
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION OF CASH PAYMENTS FOR

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Interest net of capitalized interest 11 64 97

Income taxes net of refunds received 291 296

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

As of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 dividends payable on our common and preferred stock were

$90 million $53 million and $50 million respectively

In 2010 2009 and 2008 natural gas and oil properties were adjusted by $161 million $93 million and

$4 million respectively as result of an increase decrease in accrued acquisition exploration and

development costs

In 2010 2009 and 2008 other property and equipment were adjusted by $14 million $53 million and

$125 million respectively as result in an increase decrease in accrued costs

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 we had recorded $371 million and $244 million respectively of

various liabilities related to the purchase of proved and unproved properties

In 2010 2009 and 2008 holders of certain of our contingent convertible senior notes exchanged their

notes for shares of common stock in privately negotiated exchanges as summarized below

Number of

Contingent Convertible Common Shares

Year Senior Notes Principal Amount Issued

in millions in thousands
2010 2.25%due2038 11 299

2009 2.25% due 2038 364 10210

2008 2.75% due 2035 239 8841
2.50% due 2037 272 8417
2.25% due 2038 254 6655

765 23913

In 2009 and 2008 we issued 24822832 and 1677000 shares of common stock valued at $429 million

and $34 million respectively for the purchase of proved and unproved properties pursuant to an acquisition

shelf registration statement

In 2010 2009 and 2008 shares of our cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for or

converted into shares of common stock as summarized below

Year of Cumulative Number Number Type
Exchange Convertible of of of

Conversion Preferred Stock Preferred Shares Common Shares Transaction

in thousands
2010 5.0% series 2005 21 Conversion

2009 6.25% 144 1239 Conversion

4.125% 183 Conversion

1422

2008 5.0% series 2005B 3654 10443 Exchange

4.5% 891 2228 Exchange

4.125% _a Conversion

12673

Nominal amount

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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PREFERRED STOCK
Balance beginning of period

Issuance of 1500000 and shares of 5.75% preferred stock

Issuance of 1100000 and shares of 5.75% preferred stock

series

Conversion or exchange of 5000 146801 and 4545414 shares of

preferred stock for common stock

Balance end of period

COMMON STOCK
Balance beginning of period

Conversion or exchange of convertible notes and preferred stock for

319274 11632594 and 36586347 shares of common stock

Issuance of and 51750000 shares of common stock

Issuance of 24822832 and 1677000 shares of common stock

for the purchase of proved and unproved properties

Stock-based compensation

Balance end of period

PAID-IN CAPITAL

Balance beginning of period

Issuance of and 51750000 shares of common stock

Issuance of 24822832 and 1677000 shares of common stock

for the purchase of proved and unproved properties

Issuance of 2.25% contingent convertible senior notes due 2038

Conversion or exchange of convertible notes and preferred stock for

319274 11632594 and 36586347 shares of common stock

Stock-based compensation

Offering/transaction expenses

Dividends on common stock

Dividends on preferred stock

Exerdse of stock options

Allocation of joint venture capital to Global Infrastructure Partners

Tax effect on equalization of partners capital

Tax benefit reduction in tax benefit from exercise of stock-based

compensation

Balance end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions except per share data

466$ 505$ 960

1500

1100
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3065 466 505

7532

2697
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12146 11680
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226 199

38 16
95 185
44 22

294

34

345

934
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101
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13 48 43

12194 12146 11680
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY Continued

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions except per share data

RETAINED EARNINGS DEFICIT

Balance beginning of period 1261 4569 4144

Net income loss attributable to Chesapeake 1774 5830 604

Cumulative effect of accounting change net of income taxes of

$89 million 142
Dividends on common stock 95 158
Dividends on preferred stock 86 21

Balance end of period 190 1261 4569

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
Balance beginning of period 102 267 11
Hedging activity 265 231 297

Investment activity 66 19

Balance end of period 168 102 267

TREASURY STOCK COMMON
Balance beginning of period 15 10
Purchase of 351163 227827 and 159430 shares for company

benefit plans

Release of 7069 7898 and 2975 shares for company benefit

plans

Balance end of period 24 15 10

TOTAL CHESAPEAKE STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY 15264 11444 17017

NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

Balance beginning of period 897

Sale of noncontrolling interest in midstream joint venture 588

Allocation of joint venture capital to Global Infrastructure

Partners 294

Distribution to partner 10
Chesapeake Midstream Partners net income attributable to Global

Infrastructure Partners 25

Deconsolidation of investment in Chesapeake Midstream

Partners 897

Balance end of period 897

TOTAL EQUITY 15264 12341 17017

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Net income loss 1774 5805 604

Other comprehensive income loss net of income tax

Change in fair value of derivative instruments net of income taxes of

$129 million $413 million and $113 million respectively 212 677 186

Reclassification of gain loss on settled contracts net of income taxes

of $298 million $540 million and $35 million respectively 491 885 55

Ineffective portion of derivatives qualifying for cash flow hedge

accounting net of income taxes of $9 million $14 million and $34

million respectively 14 23 56

Unrealized gain loss on marketable securities net of income taxes of

$3 million $14 million and $12 million respectively 23 19
Reclassification of loss on investments net of income taxes of $0 $26

million and $0 respectively 43

Comprehensive income loss 1504 5970 882

Income attributable to noncontrolling interest
_________

25

Comprehensive income loss available to Chesapeake 1504 5995 882

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Company

Chesapeake Energy Corporation Chesapeake or the company is natural gas and oil exploration and

production company engaged in the exploration development and acquisition of properties for the production

of natural gas and oil from underground reservoirs and we provide marketing and other midstream services

Our properties are located in Alabama Arkansas Colorado Kansas Kentucky Louisiana Maryland Michigan

Mississippi Montana Nebraska New Mexico New York North Dakota Ohio Oklahoma Pennsylvania

Tennessee Texas Utah Virginia West Virginia and Wyoming

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Chesapeake include the accounts of our direct

and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been

eliminated

Change in Accounting Principles

Effective January 2010 in accordance with new authoritative guidance for variable interest entities we

ceased consolidating our midstream joint venture with Global Infrastructure Partners within our financial

statements and began to account for the joint venture under the equity method see Note 12 Adoption of this

new guidance resulted in an after-tax cumulative effect charge to retained earnings of $142 million which is

reflected in our consolidated statement of equity for the year ended December 31 2010 This charge reflects

the difference between the carrying value of our initial investment in the joint venture which was recorded at

carryover basis as an entity under common control and the fair value of our equity in the joint venture as of the

formation date

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods Actual results could differ from those

estimates

Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated financial statements Chesapeake considers investments in all highly

liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents

Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of natural gas and oil and exploration and

production companies which own interests in properties we operate This industry concentration has the

potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk either positively or negatively in that our customers may
be similarly affected by changes in economic industry or other conditions We monitor the creditworthiness of

all our counterparties We generally require letters of credit for receivables from customers which are judged to

have sub-standard credit unless the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated During 2010 and 2008 we

recognized nominal amounts of bad debt expense related to potentially uncollectible receivables During 2009

we recognized $13 million of bad debt expense related to potentially uncollectible receivables
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Accounts receivable consists of the following components

December 31

2010 2009

in millions

Natural gas and oil sales 821 743

Joint interest 977 394

Service operations 10

Related partiesa 30 15

Other 154 190

Allowance for doubtful accounts 18 24

Total accounts receivable 1974 1325

See Note for discussion of related party transactions

Natural Gas and Oil Properties

Chesapeake follows the full-cost method of accounting under which all costs associated with property

acquisition exploration and development activities are capitalized We capitalize internal costs that can be

directly identified with our acquisition exploration and development activities and do not include any costs

related to production general corporate overhead or similar activities see Note 10 Capitalized costs are

amortized on composite unit-of-production method based on proved natural gas and oil reserves Estimates

of our proved reserves as of December 31 2010 were prepared by both third-party engineering firms and

Chesapeakes internal staff Approximately 78% of these proved reserves estimates by volume at

December 31 2010 were prepared by independent engineering firms In addition our internal engineers review

and update our reserves on quarterly basis The average composite rates used for depreciation depletion

and amortization of natural gas and oil properties were $1.35 per mcfe in 2010 $1.51 per mcfe in 2009 and

$2.34 per mcfe in 2008

Proceeds from the sale of properties are accounted for as reductions of capitalized costs unless such

sales involve significant change in proved reserves and significantly alter the relationship between costs and

the value of proved reserves in which case gain or loss is recognized

The costs of unproved properties are excluded from amortization until the properties are evaluated We
review all of our unevaluated properties quarterly to determine whether or not and to what extent proved

reserves have been assigned to the properties and otherwise if impairment has occurred Unevaluated

properties are grouped by major prospect area where individual property costs are not significant and are

assessed individually when individual costs are significant

We review the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties under the full-cost accounting rules of

the Securities and Exchange Commission on quarterly basis This quarterly review is referred to as ceiling

test Under the ceiling test capitalized costs less accumulated amortization and related deferred income taxes

may not exceed an amount equal to the sum of the present value of estimated future net revenues adjusted

for cash flow hedges less estimated future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved

reserves less any related income tax effects In calculating estimated future net revenues current prices are

calculated as the unweighted arithmetical average of natural gas and oil prices on the first day of each month

within the 12-month period ended Costs used are those as of the end of the appropriate quarterly period Such

prices are utilized except where different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable contracts for the

remaining term of those contracts including the effects of derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges Based on

average prices on the first day of each month within the 12-month period ending December 31 2010 these

cash flow hedges increased the full-cost ceiling by $176 million Our qualifying cash flow hedges as of

December 31 2010 which consisted of swaps covered 450 bcfe and 13 bcfe in 2011 and 2012 respectively

Our natural gas and oil hedging activities are discussed in Note of these consolidated financial statements
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Two primary factors impacting the ceiling test are reserve levels and natural gas and oil prices and their

associated impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues Revisions to estimates of natural gas

and oil reserves and/or an increase or decrease in prices can have material impact on the present value of

estimated future net revenues Any excess of the net book value less deferred income taxes is written off as

an expense

We account for seismic costs in accordance with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X Specifically Rule 4-10

requires that all companies that use the full-cost method capitalize exploration costs as part of their natural gas

and oil properties i.e full-cost pool Exploration costs may be incurred both before acquiring the related

property and after acquiring the property Further exploration costs include among other things geological

and geophysical studies and salaries and other expenses of geologists geophysical crews and others

conducting those studies Such costs are capitalized as incurred Seismic costs directly associated with the

acquisition and evaluation of unproved properties are excluded from the amortization computation until it is

determined whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to the properties The company reviews its

unproved properties and associated seismic costs quarterly in order to ascertain whether impairment has

occurred To the extent that seismic costs cannot be directly associated with specific unevaluated properties

they are included in the amortization base as incurred

Other Property and Equipment

In vestments

Useful Life

in years
20

1039
315

20

27

Investments in securities are accounted for under the equity method in circumstances where we are

deemed to exercise significant influence over the operating and investing policies of the investee but do not

Other property and equipment consists primarily of natural gas gathering systems and treating plants

drilling rigs and associated equipment land buildings and improvements natural gas compressors vehicles

and office equipment Major renewals and betterments are capitalized while the costs of repairs and

maintenance are charged to expense as incurred The costs of assets retired or otherwise disposed of and the

applicable accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss is reflected

in operating costs Other property and equipment costs excluding land are depreciated on straight-line

basis summary of other property and equipment and the useful lives is as follows

December 31

2010 2009
_________

in millions
Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants 1545 3516

Buildings and improvements 902 805

Drilling rigs and equipment 900 687

Natural gas compressors 304 325

Land 911 868

Other 709 550

Total other property and equipment at cost 5271 6751

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 720 834
Total other property and equipment net 4551 5917

Realization of the carrying value of other property and equipment is reviewed for possible impairment

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable

Assets are determined to be impaired if forecast of undiscounted estimated future net operating cash flows

directly related to the asset including disposal value if any is less than the carrying amount of the asset If any

asset is determined to be impaired the loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the

asset exceeds its fair value An estimate of fair value is based on the best information available including

prices for similar assets For 2010 we recorded an impairment of $21 million to natural gas gathering systems

primarily related to the obsolescence of certain midstream assets For 2009 we recorded an impairment of $86

million associated with certain of our midstream assets and $27 million associated with certain of our service

operations assets For 2008 we recorded an impairment of $30 million associated with certain of our

midstream assets
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have control Under the equity method we recognize our share of the investees earnings in our consolidated

statements of operations Investments in securities not accounted for under the equity method are accounted

for under the cost method Investments in marketable equity securities accounted for under the cost method

have been designated as available for sale and as such are recorded at fair value We evaluate our

investments for impairment in value and recognize charge to earnings when any identified impairment is

judged to be other than temporary For 2010 2009 and 2008 we recorded investment impairments of $16

million $162 million and $180 million respectively See Note 12 for further discussion of investments

Capitalized Interest

During 2010 2009 and 2008 interest of approximately $711 million $627 million and $585 million

respectively was capitalized on significant investments in unproved properties that were not being currently

depreciated depleted or amortized and on which exploration activities were in progress An additional $5

million and $6 million was capitalized in 2010 and 2009 respectively on midstream assets which were under

construction Interest is capitalized using weighted average interest rate based on our outstanding

borrowings

Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities

Included in accounts payable at December 31 2010 and 2009 are liabilities of approximately $251 million

and $231 million respectively representing the amount by which checks issued but not yet presented to our

banks for collection exceeded balances in applicable bank accounts Other current liabilities as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 are detailed below

December 31

2010 2009

in millions

Revenues and royalties due others 732 565

Accrued drilling and production costs 398 230

Accrued acquisition costs 371 244

JIB prepayments received 221 102

Accrued payroll 123 96

Accrued dividends 90 53

Other 280 196

Total Other Current Liabilities 2215 1486

Debt Issuance and Hedge Facility Costs

Included in other long-term assets are costs associated with the issuance of our senior notes and costs

associated with our revolving bank credit facilities and hedging facilities The remaining unamortized issuance

costs at December 31 2010 and 2009 totaled $162 million and are being amortized over the life of the senior

notes revolving credit facilities or hedging facilities

Asset Retirement Obligations

We recognize liabilities for retirement obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived

assets that result from the acquisition construction and development of the assets We recognize the fair value

of
liability

for retirement obligation in the period in which the
liability is incurred For natural gas and oil

properties this is the period in which natural gas or oil well is acquired or drilled The asset retirement

obligation is capitalized as part of the carrying amount of our natural gas and oil properties at its discounted fair

value The liability is then accreted each period until the
liability

is settled or the well is sold at which time the

liability
is removed See Note 15 for further discussion of asset retirement obligations

Revenue Recognition

Natural Gas and Oil Sales Revenue from the sale of natural gas and oil is recognized when title passes

net of royalties due to third parties
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Natural Gas Imbalances We follow the sales method of accounting for our natural gas revenue whereby

we recognize sales revenue on all natural gas sold to our purchasers regardless of whether the sales are

proportionate to our ownership in the property An asset or liability
is recognized to the extent that we have

an imbalance in excess of the remaining natural gas reserves on the underlying properties The natural gas

imbalance net position at December 31 2010 and 2009 was .a liability of $7 million

Marketing Gathering and Compression Sales Chesapeake takes title to the natural gas it purchases from

other working interest owners in operated wells arranges for transportation and delivers the natural gas to third

parties at which time revenues are recorded Chesapeakes results of operations related to its natural gas and

oil marketing activities are presented on gross basis because we act as principal rather than an agent

Gathering and compression revenues consist of fees recognized for the gathering treating and compression of

natural gas Revenues are recognized when the service is performed and are based upon non-regulated rates

and the related gathering treating and compression volumes All significant intercompany accounts and

transactions have been eliminated

Service Operations Revenue We have drilling rig and trucking operations which primarily service

Chesapeake-operated drilling operations Revenues are recognized when the service is performed All

significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Hedging

Chesapeake uses commodity price and financial risk management instruments to mitigate our exposure to

price fluctuations in natural gas and oil and changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates Results of

natural gas and oil derivative transactions are reflected in natural gas and oil sales and results of interest rate

and foreign exchange rate hedging transactions are reflected in interest expense

We have established the fair value of our derivative instruments utilizing established index prices volatility

curves and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values for reasonableness

Derivative transactions are subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations Such

non-performance risk is considered in the valuation of our derivative instruments but to date has not had

material impact on the values of our derivatives The values we report in our financial statements are as of

point in time and subsequently change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual results changes in

market conditions and other factors

Accounting guidance for derivative instruments and hedging activities establishes accounting and reporting

standards requiring that derivative instruments including certain derivative instruments embedded in other

contracts be recorded at fair value and included in the consolidated balance sheet as assets or liabilities The

accounting for changes in the fair value of derivative instrument depends on the intended use of the

derivative and the resulting designation which is established at the inception of derivative For derivative

instruments designated as cash flow hedges changes in fair value to the extent the hedge is effective are

recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings Any change in the

fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized immediately in natural gas and oil sales For interest rate

derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges changes in fair value are recorded on the consolidated

balance sheets as assets liabilities and the debts carrying value amount is adjusted by the change in the fair

value of the debt subsequent to the initiation of the derivative Differences between the changes in the fair

values of the hedged item and the derivative instrument if any represent gains or losses on ineffectiveness

and are reflected currently in interest expense Hedge effectiveness is measured at least quarterly based on

the relative changes in fair value between the derivative contract and the hedged item over time Changes in

fair value of contracts that do not qualify as hedges or are not designated as hedges are also recognized

currently in earnings Cash settlements of our derivative arrangements are generally classified as operating

cash flows unless the derivative contains significant financing element at contract inception in which case

these cash settlements are classified as financing cash flows in the accompanying consolidated statement of

cash flows
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Stock-Based Compensation

Chesapeakes stock-based compensation programs consist of restricted stock and stock options issued to

employees and non-employee directors We recognize in our financial statements the cost of employee

services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the fair value at the date of grant of

those awards We utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model to measure the fair value of stock options To

the extent compensation cost relates to employees directly involved in natural gas and oil exploration and

development activities such amounts are capitalized to natural gas and oil properties Amounts not capitalized

to natural gas and oil properties are recognized as general and administrative expenses production expenses

marketing gathering and compression expenses or service operations expense

For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 we recorded the following stock-based

compensation

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Natural gas and oil properties 120 112 109

General and administrative expenses 84 74 85

Production expenses 35 34 30

Marketing gathering and compression expenses 18 16 11

Service operations expense

Restructuring costs

Total 266 253 241

Cash inflows resulting from tax deductions in excess of compensation expense recognized for stock

options and restricted stock excess tax benefits are classified as financing cash inflows in our consolidated

statements of cash flows For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 we recognized reduction in tax

benefits related to stock-based compensation of $13 million and $48 million which is reported in operating

activities on our consolidated statements of cash flows For the year ended December 31 2008 we recognized

$43 million of excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation as cash provided by financing activities on

our consolidated statements of cash flows

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the consolidated financial statements for 2009 and 2008 to

conform to the presentation used for the 2010 consolidated financial statements
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Net Income Per Share

Accounting guidance for Earnings Per Share EPS requires presentation of basic and diluted earnings

per share on the face of the statements of operations for all entities with complex capital structures as well as

reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted EPS computations

For the year ended December 31 2010 all outstanding securities that are convertible into common stock

were included in the calculation of diluted EPS For the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 the

following securities and associated adjustments to net income comprised of dividends and loss on

conversions/exchanges were not included in the calculation of diluted EPS as the effects were antidilutive

Net Income

Adjustments Shares

in millions in millions

Year Ended December 31 2009

Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding

4.50% cumulative convertible preferred stock 12

5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock series 2005B 10

Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding prior to

conversion

6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock

Unvested restricted stock

Outstanding stock options

Year Ended December 31 2008

Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding

4.50% cumulative convertible preferred stock 12

5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock series 2005B 10

6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock

Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding prior to

conversion

4.50% cumulative convertible preferred stock 14

5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock series 2005B 62

As result of the net loss to common stockholders for the year ended December 31 2009 both basic

weighted average shares outstanding which are used in computing basic EPS and diluted weighted average

shares outstanding which are used in computing diluted EPS were 612 million shares The basic and diluted

loss per common share was $9.57
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reconciliation for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2008 is as follows

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Basic EPS

Effect of Dilutive Securities

Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period

of preferred shares outstanding during the period

Common shares assumed issued for 5.75%

cumulative convertible preferred stock

Common shares assumed issued for 5.75%

cumulative convertible preferred stock

series

Common shares assumed issued for 5.00%

cumulative convertible preferred stock

series 2005B
Common shares assumed issued for 4.50%

cumulative convertible preferred stock

Unvested restricted stock

Outstanding stock options

Diluted EPS

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

Basic EPS

Effect of Dilutive Securities

Effect of contingent convertible senior notes

outstanding during the period

Unvested restricted stock

Outstanding stock options

Diluted EPS

49 32

39 25

11

12

706

Income Shares Per Share

Numerator Denominator Amount

in millions except per share data

1663 631 2.63

1774 2.51

504 536 0.94

504 545 0.93
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Debt

Our long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31 2010 and 2009

December 31

2010 2009

in millions

7.5% senior notes due 2013 364

7.625% senior notes due 2013 500 500

7.0% senior notes due 2014 300

7.5% senior notes due 2014 300

6.375% senior notes due 2015 600

9.5% senior notes due 2015 1425 1425

6.625% senior notes due 2016 600

6.875% senior notes due 2016 670

6.25% euro-denominated senior notes due 2017a 796 860

6.5% senior notes due 2017 1100 1100

6.25% senior notes due 2018 600

6.875% senior notes due 2018 600

7.25% senior notes due 2018 800 800

6.625% senior notes due 2020 1400

6.875% senior notes due 2020 500 500

2.75% contingent convertible senior notes due 2035b 451 451

2.5% contingent convertible senior notes due 2037b 1378 1378

2.25% contingent convertible senior notes due 2038b 752 763

Corporate revolving bank credit facility 3612 1892

Midstream revolving bank credit facility 94

Midstream joint venture revolving bank credit facilityc 44

Discount on senior notesd 777 921
Interest rate derivativese 69

Total notes payable and long-term debt 12640 12295

The principal amount shown is based on the dollar/euro exchange rate of $1 .3269 to 1.00 and $1 .4332 to

1.00 as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively See Note for information on our related foreign

currency derivatives

The holders of our contingent convertible senior notes may require us to repurchase in cash all or portion of

their notes at 100% of the principal amount of the notes on any of four dates that are five ten fifteen and

twenty years before the maturity date The notes are convertible at the holders option prior to maturity under

certain circumstances into cash and if applicable shares of our common stock using net share settlement

process One such triggering circumstance is when the price of our common stock exceeds threshold amount

during specified period in fiscal quarter Convertibility based on common stock price is measured quarter by

quarter In the fourth quarter of 2010 the price of our common stock was below the threshold level for each

series of the contingent convertible senior notes during the specified period and as result the holders do not

have the option to convert their notes into cash and common stock in the first quarter of 2011 under this

provision The notes are also convertible at the holders option during specified five-day periods if the trading

price of the notes is below certain levels determined by reference to the trading price of our common stock In

general upon conversion of contingent convertible senior note the holder will receive cash equal to the

principal amount of the note and common stock for the notes conversion value in excess of such principal

amount We will pay contingent interest on the convertible senior notes after they have been outstanding at

least ten years under certain conditions We may redeem the convertible senior notes once they have been

outstanding for ten years at redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the notes payable in cash

The optional repurchase dates the common stock price conversion threshold amounts and the ending date of

the first six-month period contingent interest may be payable for the contingent convertible senior notes are as

follows
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Common
Contingent Stock Price Contingent Interest

Convertible Conversion First Payable
Senior Notes Repurchase Dates Thresholds if applicable

2.75% due 2035 November 15 2015 2020 2025 2030 48.62 May 14 2016

2.5% due 2037 May 15 2017 2022 2027 2032 64.26 November 14 2017

2.25% due 2038 December 15 2018 2023 2028 2033 107.36 June 14 2019

Effective January 2010 our midstream joint venture CMP was no longer consolidated in accordance

with new authoritative guidance See Note for further details

Discount at December 31 2010 and 2009 included $711 million and $794 million respectively associated

with the equity component of our contingent convertible senior notes This discount is amortized based on

an effective yield method

See Note for further discussion related to these instruments

Senior Notes

Our senior notes are unsecured senior obligations of Chesapeake and rank equally in right of payment

with all of our other existing and future senior indebtedness and rank senior in right of payment to all of our

future subordinated indebtedness Chesapeake is holding company and owns no operating assets and has

no significant operations independent of its subsidiaries Our senior note obligations are guaranteed by certain

of our wholly owned subsidiaries excluding CMD and its subsidiaries See Note 17 for condensed

consolidating financial information regarding our guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries We may redeem

the senior notes other than the contingent convertible senior notes at any time at specified make-whole or

redemption prices Our senior notes are governed by indentures containing covenants that may limit our ability

and our subsidiaries ability to incur certain secured indebtedness enter into sale/leaseback transactions and

consolidate merge or transfer assets

We are required to account for the
liability

and equity components of our convertible debt instruments

separately and to reflect interest expense at the interest rate of similar nonconvertible debt at the time of

issuance These rates for our 2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 our 2.5% Contingent

Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 and our 2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 are 6.86%

8.0% and 8.0% respectively

On June 21 2010 we redeemed for an aggregate redemption price of approximately $1 .366 billion plus

accrued interest approximately $364 million in principal amount of our outstanding 7.50% Senior Notes due

2013 $300 million in principal amount of our 7.50% Senior Notes due 2014 and approximately $670 million in

principal amount of our 6.875% Senior Notes due 2016 Associated with the redemptions we recognized loss

of $69 million in 2010

On July 22 2010 we redeemed for redemption price of approximately $619 million plus accrued

interest all $600 million in principal amount of our 6.375% Senior Notes due 2015 Associated with the

redemption we recognized loss of $19 million in 2010

On August 2010 we filed shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC for the offering from

time to time of debt securities

On August 17 2010 we completed public offering of $2.0 billion aggregate principal amount of senior

notes for net proceeds of approximately $1 .967 billion The offering consisted of $600 million of 6.875% Senior

Notes due 2018 and $1.4 billion of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2020 Both series were priced at par

On August 30 2010 we completed tender offers to purchase for cash $245 million of 7.00% Senior Notes

due 2014 $567 million of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 and $582 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due 2018

On September 16 2010 we redeemed the remaining $55 million of 7.00% Senior Notes due 2014 $33 million

of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 and $18 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due 2018 based on the redemption

provisions in the indentures Associated with the August 2010 tender offers and redemptions we recognized

loss of $40 million in 2010

87



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

During 2010 holders of our 2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 exchanged

approximately $1 million in aggregate principal amount for an aggregate of 298500 shares of our common

stock in privately negotiated exchanges Associated with these exchanges we recognized loss of $2 million

in 2010

During 2009 holders of our 2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 exchanged

approximately $364 million in aggregate principal amount for an aggregate of 10210169 shares of our

common stock in privately negotiated exchanges Associated with these exchanges we recognized loss of

$40 million in 2009

No scheduled principal payments are required under our senior notes until 2013 when $500 million is due

Bank Credit Facilities

We utilize two revolving bank credit facilities described below as sources of liquidity

Corporate Midstream

Credit Facilitya Credit Facilityb

in millions

Borrowing capacity 4000 300

Maturity date December 2015 July 2015

Facility structure Senior secured revolving Senior secured revolving

Amount outstanding as of

December3l2010 3612 94

Letters of credit outstanding as of

December3l2010 13

Borrower is Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C

Borrower is Chesapeake Midstream Operating L.L.C wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake

Midstream Development L.P

Our credit facilities do not contain material adverse change or adequate assurance covenants Although

the applicable interest rates under our corporate credit facility fluctuate slightly based on our long-term senior

unsecured credit ratings neither of our credit facilities contains provisions which would trigger an acceleration

of amounts due under the facilities or requirement to post additional collateral in the event of downgrade of

our credit ratings

Corporate Credit Facility

Our $4.0 billion syndicated revolving bank credit facility is used for general corporate purposes

Borrowings under the facility are secured by natural gas and oil proved reserves and bear interest at our option

at either the greater of the reference rate of Union Bank N.A or the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%
both of which are subject to margin that varies from 0.50% to 1.25% per annum according to our senior

unsecured long-term debt ratings or ii the Eurodollar rate which is based on the London Interbank Offered

Rate LIBOR plus margin that varies from .50% to 2.25% per annum according to our senior unsecured

long-term debt ratings The collateral value and borrowing base are determined periodically The unused

portion of the facility is subject to commitment fee of 0.50% per annum Interest is payable quarterly or if

LIBOR applies it may be payable at more frequent intervals

The credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit our ability to

incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans and create liens and require us to maintain an

indebtedness to total capitalization ratio and an indebtedness to EBITDA ratio in each case as defined in the

agreement We were in compliance with all covenants under the agreement at December 31 2010 If we

should fail to perform our obligations under these and other covenants the revolving credit commitment could

be terminated and any outstanding borrowings under the facility could be declared immediately due and

payable Such acceleration if involving principal amount of $50 million or more would constitute an event of

default under our senior note indentures which could in turn result in the acceleration of significant portion of
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our senior note indebtedness The credit facility agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other

indebtedness of Chesapeake and its restricted subsidiaries with an outstanding principal amount in excess of

$125 million

The facility is fully and unconditionally guaranteed on joint and several basis by Chesapeake and

certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries

Midstream Credit Facility

Our $300 million midstream syndicated revolving bank credit facility is used to fund capital expenditures to

build natural gas gathering and other systems for our drilling program and for general corporate purposes

associated with our midstream operations Borrowings under the midstream credit facility are secured by all of

the assets of the wholly owned subsidiaries the restricted subsidiaries of Chesapeake Midstream

Development L.P CMD itself wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake and bear interest at our option at

either the greater of the reference rate of Wells Fargo Bank National Association the federal funds effective

rate plus 0.50% and the one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% all of which are subject to margin that varies from

1.75% to 2.25% per annum according to the most recent leverage ratio described below or ii the Eurodollar

rate which is based on the LIBOR plus margin that varies from 2.75% to 3.25% per annum according to the

most recent leverage ratio The unused portion of the facility is subject to commitment fee of 0.50% per

annum Interest is payable quarterly or if LIBOR applies it may be payable at more frequent intervals

The midstream credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit

the ability of CMD and its restricted subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans

and create liens The agreement requires maintenance of leverage ratio based on the ratio of indebtedness

to EBITDA and an interest coverage ratio based on the ratio of EBITDA to interest expense in each case as

defined in the agreement The leverage ratio increases during any three-quarter period beginning in the

quarter in which CMD makes material disposition of assets to our master limited partnership midstream

affiliate Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P As of December 21 2010 the leverage ratio increased for

three fiscal quarter period beginning October 2010 due to the sale of the Springridge gathering system as it

was classified as material disposition of assets We were in compliance with all covenants under the

agreement at December 31 2010 If CMD or its restricted subsidiaries should fail to perform their obligations

under these and other covenants the revolving credit commitment could be terminated and any outstanding

borrowings under the facility could be declared immediately due and payable The midstream credit facility

agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness CMD and its restricted

subsidiaries may have with an outstanding principal amount in excess of $15 million

Other Financings

In 2009 we financed 113 real estate surface assets in the Barnett Shale area for approximately $145

million and entered into 40-year master lease agreement under which we agreed to lease the sites for

approximately $15 million to $27 million annually This lease transaction was recorded as financing lease and

the cash received was recorded with an offsetting long-term liability on the consolidated balance sheet

Chesapeake exercised its option to repurchase two of the assets in 2010 As of December 31 2010 111

assets were leased and the minimum aggregate undiscounted future lease payments were approximately $828

million This obligation is recorded in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets

In 2009 we financed our regional Barnett Shale headquarters building in Fort Worth Texas for net

proceeds of approximately $54 million with five-year term loan which has floating rate of prime plus 275

basis points At our option we may prepay in full without penalty beginning in year four The payment

obligation is guaranteed by Chesapeake This obligation is recorded in other long-term liabilities on our

consolidated balance sheets

Contingencies and Commitments

Litigation

On February 25 2009 putative class action was filed in the U.S District Court for the Southern District

of New York against the company and certain of its officers and directors along with certain underwriters of the
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companys July 2008 common stock offering Following the appointment of lead plaintiff and counsel the

plaintiff filed an amended complaint on September 11 2009 alleging that the registration statement for the

offering contained material misstatements and omissions and seeking damages under Sections 11 12 and 15

of the Securities Act of 1933 of an unspecified amount and rescission The action was transferred to the U.S

District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma on October 13 2009 The defendants motion to dismiss

was denied on September 2010 derivative action was also filed in the District Court of Oklahoma County

Oklahoma on March 10 2009 against the companys directors and certain of its officers alleging breaches of

fiduciary duties relating to the disclosure mailers alleged in the securities case The derivative action is stayed

pursuant to stipulation We are currently unable to assess the probability of loss or estimate range of potential

loss associated with the securities class action case which is at an early stage

Chesapeake is also involved in various other lawsuits and disputes incidental to its business operations

including commercial disputes personal injury claims claims for underpayment of royalties property damage

claims and contract actions With regard to the latter various mineral or leasehold owners have filed lawsuits

against us seeking specific performance to require us to acquire their oil and natural gas interests and pay

acreage bonus payments damages based on breach of contract and/or in certain cases punitive damages

based on alleged fraud The company believes that it has substantial defenses to the claims made in these

purchase and sale cases

The company records an associated
liability when loss is probable and the amount is reasonably

estimable Although the outcome of litigation cannot be predicted with certainty management is of the opinion

that no pending or threatened lawsuit or dispute incidental to its business operations is likely to have material

adverse effect on the companys consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows The final

resolution of such matters could exceed amounts accrued however and actual results could differ materially

from managements estimates

Environmental Risk

Due to the nature of the natural gas and oil business Chesapeake and its subsidiaries are exposed to possible

environmental risks Chesapeake has implemented various policies and procedures to avoid environmental

contamination and risks from environmental contamination Chesapeake conducts periodic reviews on company-

wide basis to identify changes in our environmental risk profile These reviews evaluate whether there is

contingent liability its amount and the likelihood that the
liability

will be incurred The amount of any potential liability

is determined by considering among other mailers incremental direct costs of any likely remediation and the

proportionate cost of employees who are expected to devote significant amount of time directly to any possible

remediation effort We manage our exposure to environmental liabilities on properties to be acquired by identifying

existing problems and assessing the potential liability Depending on the extent of an identified environmental

problem Chesapeake may exclude property from the acquisition require the seller to remediate the property to

our satisfaction or agree to assume liability for the remediation of the property Chesapeake has historically not

experienced any significant environmental liability and is not aware of any potential material environmental issues or

claims at December 31 2010 There are currently enforcement actions pending against us related to alleged

methane migration in Pennsylvania and compliance with Clean Water Act permitting requirements in West Virginia

While these actions may result in monetary sanctions we do not expect that they will have material adverse effect

on our operations

Rig Leases

In series of transactions since 2006 our drilling subsidiaries have sold 86 drilling rigs and related

equipment for $717 million and entered into master lease agreement under which we agreed to lease the rigs

from the buyer for initial terms of seven to ten years The lease obligations are guaranteed by Chesapeake and

certain of its subsidiaries These transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks and any

related gain or loss is amortized to service operations expense over the lease term Under the
rig leases we

can exercise an early purchase option after five and one-half to seven years or on the expiration of the lease

term for purchase price equal to the then fair market value of the rigs Additionally in most cases we have

the option to renew the rig lease for negotiated renewal term at periodic lease payment equal to the fair

market rental value of the rigs as determined at the time of renewal
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Through various transactions since 2007 our compression subsidiary has sold 2234 compressors

significant portion of its existing compressor fleet for $517 million and entered into master lease agreement

The term of the agreement varies by buyer ranging from four to ten years The lease obligations are

guaranteed by Chesapeake and certain of its subsidiaries These transactions were recorded as sales and

operating leasebacks and any related gain or loss is amortized to marketing gathering and compression

expenses over the lease term Under the leases we can exercise an early purchase option or we can purchase

the compressors at expiration of the lease for the fair market value at the time In addition in most cases we

have the option to renew the lease for negotiated new terms at the expiration of the lease As of December 31

2010 approximately 80 new compressors were on order for delivery in 2011 at cost of approximately $20

million Our intent is to sell and lease back those compressors as they are delivered if acceptable leasing

arrangements are available to us

Future operating lease obligations related to rigs compressors and other equipment or property are not

recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The aggregate undiscounted minimum future

lease payments are presented below

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

After2OlS 45 68 114

Tcital 466 429 21 916

Rent expense including short-term rentals for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was

$161 million $149 million and $133 million respectively

Transportation Contracts

Chesapeake has various firm pipeline transportation service agreements with expiration dates ranging

from 2011 to 2099 These commitments are not recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

Under the terms of these contracts we are obligated to pay demand charges as set forth in the transporters

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission FERC gas tariff In exchange the company receives rights to flow

natural gas production through pipelines located in highly competitive markets The aggregate undiscounted

amounts of such required demand payments are presented below

2011

2012

2013

2014 402

2015 395

After2OlS 2453

Total 4424
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December31 2010

Rigs Compressors Other Total

in millions

101 61

102 63

102 68

87 122

29 47

170

170

174

211

77

December 31
2010

in millions

353

414

407
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Drilling Contracts

Currently we have contracts with various drilling contractors to lease approximately 61 rigs with terms of

four months to three years These commitments are not recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets The aggregate undiscounted minimum future commitments are presented below

December 31
2010

in millions

2011 196

2012 35

2013 18

Total 249

Natural Gas and Oil Purchase Obligations

Our marketing segment regularly commits to purchase natural gas from other owners in our properties and

such commitments typically are short-term in nature We have also committed to purchase any natural gas and

oil associated with certain volumetric production payment transactions The purchase commitments are based

on market prices at the time of production and the purchased natural gas and oil is resold

Minimum Volume Commitments

We are party to two gas gathering agreements with subsidiary of Chesapeake Midstream Partners

L.P see Note 12 pursuant to which we have committed to deliver annually specified minimum volumes of

natural gas At the end of the term or annually Chesapeake will be invoiced for any shortfalls in such volume

deliveries at the rate specified in the agreement Volume commitments remaining under the agreement relating

to our Barnett Shale production as of December 31 2010 were as follows

Bcf

2011 313

2012 325

2013 338

2014 351

2015 365

After 2015a 1321

Total 3013

Final commitment period is for the six months ending June 30 2019

Volume commitments remaining under the agreement relating to our Haynesville Shale production as of

December 31 2010 were as follows

Bcf

2011 104

2012 118

2013 135

Total 357

In addition Chesapeake has entered into commitments to deliver approximately 2.56 tcf through

December 2023 to third-party midstream companies

Net Acreage Maintenance Commitments

Under the terms of our industry participation agreements with our partners Statoil Total and CNOOC we

are required to extend renew or replace certain expiring joint leasehold at our cost to ensure that the net

acreage is maintained in certain designated areas

Other Commitments

As of December 31 2010 we had commitments to acquire additional proved and unproved properties in

various transactions during the next twelve months for approximately $350 million
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The components of the income tax provision benefit for each of the periods presented below are as

follows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Current 423

Deferred 1110 3487 36
Total 1110 3483 387

The effective income tax expense benefit differed from the computed expected federal income tax

expense on earnings before income taxes for the following reasons

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Income tax expense benefit at the federal statutory rate 35% ioog 3251
State income taxes net of federal income tax benefit 78 275
Other 23 43

________

Total 1110 3483
_______

Deferred income taxes are provided to reflect temporary differences in the basis of net assets for income

tax and financial reporting purposes The tax-effected temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which

comprise deferred taxes are as follows

2074
184

1394
493

4145

1386
115

114

40

84

25

11

93

32

1900

2245a

96
184
265
937
464

1954

592

107

32

57

22

25

84

919

1035

24

1059

1035

347

24

16

387

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009

in millions

Deferred tax liabilities

Natural gas and oil properties

Other property and equipment

Derivative instruments

Volumetric production payments

Contingent convertible debt

Other

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards

Derivative instruments

Asset retirement obligation

Investments

Deferred stock compensation

Accrued liabilities

Alternative minimum tax credits

Oklahoma statutory depletion

Other

Deferred tax assets

Total deferred tax asset liability

Reflected in accompanying balance sheets as
Current deferred income tax asset

Non-current deferred income tax liability

Total

93

139

2384

2245
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In addition to the income tax expense of $1.110 billion activity during 2010 includes an increase to

deferred tax liabilities of $13 million related to stock-based compensation and decrease to deferred tax

liabilities for deferred tax assets of $161 million related to derivative instruments $3 million related to

investments and $89 million related to the cumulative effect of an accounting change These items were

not recorded as part of the provision for income taxes In addition the activity includes an increase to

deferred tax liabilities of $240 million related to federal and state income tax refunds $13 million related to

alternative minimum tax credits used and $87 million related to uncertain tax positions

As of December 31 2010 we classified $139 million of deferred tax assets as current that were

attributable to net operating losses expected to be utilized in 2011 which was offset by current temporary

differences associated with derivative assets and other items As of December 31 2009 we classified $24

million of deferred tax assets as current that were attributable to net operating losses expected to be utilized

during 2010 which were offset by current temporary differences associated with derivative assets and other

items

At December 31 2010 Chesapeake had federal income tax net operating loss NOL carryforwards of

approximately $3.674 billion Additionally we had $2.642 billion of alternative minimum tax AMT NOL

carryforwards available as deduction against future AMT income The NOL carryforwards expire from 2019

through 2030 The value of these carryforwards depends on the ability of Chesapeake to generate taxable

income

The ability of Chesapeake to utilize NOL carryforwards to reduce future federal taxable income and federal

income tax of Chesapeake is subject to various limitations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended The utilization of such carryforwards may be limited upon the occurrence of certain ownership

changes including the issuance or exercise of rights to acquire stock the purchase or sale of stock by 5%

stockholders as defined in the Treasury regulations and the offering of stock by us during any three-year

period resulting in an aggregate change of more than 50% in the beneficial ownership of Chesapeake

In the event of an ownership change as defined for income tax purposes Section 382 of the Code

imposes an annual limitation on the amount of corporations taxable income that can be offset by these

carryforwards The limitation is generally equal to the product of the fair market value of the equity of the

company multiplied by ii percentage approximately equivalent to the yield on long-term tax exempt bonds

during the month in which an ownership change occurs In addition the limitation is increased if there are

recognized built-in gains during any post-change year but only to the extent of any net unrealized built-in gains

as defined in the Code inherent in the assets sold Certain NOLs acquired through various acquisitions are

also subject to limitations

The following table summarizes our net operating losses as of December 31 2010 and any related

limitations

Annual

Total Limited Limitation

in millions

Net operating loss 3674

AMT net operating loss 2642

As of December 31 2010 we do not believe that an ownership change has occurred Future equity

transactions by Chesapeake or by 5% stockholders including relatively small transactions and transactions

beyond our control could cause an ownership change and therefore limitation on the annual utilization of

NOL5

Accounting guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions prescribes threshold

condition that tax position must meet for any of the benefit of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in

the financial statements Guidance is also provided regarding de-recognition classification and disclosure of

these uncertain tax positions As of December 31 2010 the amount of unrecognized tax benefits related to

AMT associated with uncertain tax positions was $34 million As of December 31 2009 the amount of
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unrecognized tax benefits related to regular tax liabilities and AMT associated with uncertain tax positions was

$231 million Of this amount $87 million was related to regular tax liabilities and $144 million was related to

AMT If these unrecognized tax benefits are disallowed and we are required to pay additional AMT liabilities

any payments can be utilized as credits against future regular tax liabilities The uncertain tax positions

identified would not have material effect on the effective tax rate At December 31 2010 we had an accrued

liability of $8 million for interest related to these uncertain tax positions Chesapeake recognizes interest related

to uncertain tax positions in interest expense Penalties if any related to uncertain tax positions would be

recorded in other expenses

reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of period 231 60 133

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 171 48

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 197 120
Sefflements

Unrecognized tax benefits at end of period 34 231 60

Chesapeake files income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state and local

jurisdictions With few exceptions Chesapeake is no longer subject to U.S federal state and local income tax

examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2007 The Internal Revenue Service IRS is currently

examining Chesapeakes 2007 2008 and 2009 U.S income tax returns

Related Party Transactions

Chief Executive Officer

As of December 31 2010 we had accrued accounts receivable from our Chief Executive Officer Aubrey

McClendon of $30 million representing joint interest billings from December 2010 which were invoiced and

timely paid in January 2011 Since Chesapeake was founded in 1989 Mr McClendon has acquired working

interests in virtually all of our natural gas and oil properties by participating in our drilling activities under the

terms of the Founder Well Participation Program FWPP and predecessor participation arrangements provided

for in Mr McClendons employment agreements Under the FWPP approved by our shareholders in June

2005 Mr McClendon may elect to participate in all or none of the wells drilled by or on behalf of Chesapeake

during calendar year but he is not allowed to participate only in selected wells participation election is

required to be received by the Compensation Committee of Chesapeakes Board of Directors not less than 30

days prior to the start of each calendar year His participation is permitted only under the terms outlined in the

FWPP which among other things limits his individual participation to maximum working interest of 2.5% in

well and prohibits participation in situations where Chesapeakes working interest would be reduced below

12.5% as result of his participation In addition the company is reimbursed for costs associated with

leasehold acquired by Mr McClendon as result of his well participation

On December 31 2008 we entered into new five-year employment agreement with Mr McClendon that

contained one-time well cost incentive award to him The total cost of the award to Chesapeake was $75

million plus employment taxes in the amount of approximately $1 million We are recognizing the incentive

award as general and administrative expense over the five-year vesting period for the clawback described

below resulting in an expense of approximately $15 million per year beginning in 2009 In addition to state and

federal income tax withholding similar employment taxes were imposed on Mr McClendon and withheld from

the award The net incentive award of approximately $44 million was fully applied against costs attributable to

interests in company wells acquired by Mr McClendon or his affiliates under the FWPP The incentive award is

subject to clawback equal to any unvested portion of the award if during the initial five-year term of the

employment agreement Mr McClendon resigns from the company or is terminated for cause by the company
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Amounts paid to CHKM
Gas gathering fees

Amounts received from CHKM

Compressor rentals

Inventory purchases

Other services provideda

Total amounts received from CHKM

As of December 31 2010 we had net payable to CHKM of $45 million

Employee Benefit Plans

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Other Related Parties

During 2010 our 42%-owned affiliate Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P CHKM provided us natural

gas gathering and treating services in the ordinary course of business In addition there are agreements in

place whereby we support CHKM in various functions for which we are reimbursed During 2010 our

transactions with CHKM included the following

Year Ended
December 31 2010

in millions

378

48

47

73

168

Includes amounts received related to the General and Administrative Services and Reimbursement

Agreement the Employee Secondment Agreement the Shared Services Agreement and the Additional

Services and Reimbursement Agreement agreed to at the formation of the joint venture

During 2010 and 2009 our 26%-owned affiliate Frac Tech Holdings LLC provided us hydraulic fracturing

and other services in the ordinary course of business During 2010 and 2009 we paid Frac Tech $89 million

and $43 million respectively for these services As of December 31 2010 and 2009 we had $30 million and $8

million respectively due Frac Tech for services provided and not yet paid

Our qualified 401k profit sharing plan 401k Plan is the Chesapeake Energy Corporation Savings and

Incentive Stock Bonus Plan which is open to employees of Chesapeake and all our subsidiaries except certain

employees of Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C Eligible employees may elect to defer compensation through

voluntary contributions to their 401k Plan accounts subject to plan limits and those set by the Internal

Revenue Service Chesapeake matches employee contributions dollar for dollar subject to maximum

contribution of 15% of an employees annual salary and bonus compensation with Chesapeake common stock

purchased in the open market The company contributed $54 million $48 million and $40 million to the 401k
Plan in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Chesapeake also maintains nonqualified deferred compensation plan the Chesapeake Energy

Corporation Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan DC Plan Prior to 2009 to be eligible to

participate in the DC Plan an employee must have received annual compensation base salary and bonus

combined in the prior 12 months of at least $100000 had minimum of one year of service as company

employee and have made the maximum contribution allowable under the 401k Plan For employees with at

least five years of service as company employee the company matched employee contributions to the plan

in Chesapeake common stock On January 2009 the plan was amended to allow for participation for any

employees who received compensation base salary only of at least $150000 and had an employment

agreement with the company In addition in 2009 and 2010 the company matched employee contributions with

Chesapeake common stock once the employee had at least three years of service as company employee

Chesapeake matches 100% of employee contributions up to 15% of base salary and bonus in the aggregate

for the DC Plan In 2011 the company began matching contributions immediately upon an employees

participation in the DC Plan The maximum compensation that can be deferred by employees under all

company deferred compensation plans including the Chesapeake 401k plan is total of 75% of base salary

and 100% of performance bonus We contributed $9 million $7 million and $6 million to the DC Plan during
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2010 2009 and 2008 respectively to fund the match The companys non-employee directors are able to defer

up to 100% of director fees into the DC Plan

Any assets placed in trust by Chesapeake to fund future obligations of the companys nonqualified

deferred compensation plans are subject to the claims of creditors in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy

and participants are general creditors of the company as to their deferred compensation in the plans

Chesapeake maintains no post-employment benefit plans except those sponsored by its wholly owned

subsidiary Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C Participation in these plans is limited to existing employees who

are union members and former employees who were union members The Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C

benefit plans provide health care and life insurance benefits to eligible employees upon retirement We account

for these benefits on an accrual basis As of December 31 2010 the company had accrued approximately $2

million in accumulated post-employment benefit liability

Stockholders Equity and Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Common Stock

The following is summary of the changes in our common shares outstanding for 2010 2009 and 2008

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in thousands

607953

10210

1422

3633

508

24823 1677

________
51750

________
607953

11 299

364 10210

239 8841
272 8417

254 6655

765 23913

The difference between the allocated debt value of the notes that were exchanged and the fair value of the

common stock issued resulted in gain loss of $2 million $40 million and $27 million including deferred

charges associated with the exchanges on the cancellation of indebtedness for the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Shares issued at January

Convertible note exchanges

Preferred stock conversions/exchanges

Restricted stock issuances net of forfeitures

Stock option exercises

Common stock issued for the purchase of proved and unproved

properties

Common stock issuances for cash

648549

299

21

5924

458

511648

23913

12673

4708

1584

Shares issued at December 31 655251 648549

In 2009 and 2008 we issued 24822832 and 1677000 shares of common stock valued at $429 million

and $34 million respectively for the purchase of proved and unproved properties pursuant to an acquisition

shelf registration statement

In 2010 2009 and 2008 holders of certain of our contingent convertible enior notes exchanged their

notes for shares of common stock in privately negotiated exchanges as summarized below

Year
Contingent Convertible

Senior Notes

2010

2009

2008

Principal Amount

in millions

2.25% due 2038

2.25% due 2038

2.75% due 2035

2.50% due 2037

2.25% due 2038

Number of

Common Shares Issued

in thousands
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Preferred Stock

Following is summary of our preferred stock including the primary conversion terms as of December 31

2010

Companys
Liquidation Holders Companys Market

Preference Conversion Conversion Conversion Conversion Conversion

Preferred Stock Series Issue Date per Share Right Rate Price Right From Triggera

5.75% cumulative May

convertible May and 17

non-voting June2010 $1000 Anytime 37.0370 27.0000 2015 35.1000

5.75% series May

cumulative convertible May 17

non-voting 2010 $1000 Anytime 35.7961 27.9360 2015 36.3168

September

4.50% cumulative September 15

convertible 2005 100 Anytime 2.2727 43.9998 2010 57.1997

5.00% cumulative November

convertible November 15

series 2005B 2005 100 Any time 2.5707 38.8993 2010 50.5691

Convertible at the companys option if the trading price of the companys common stock equals or exceeds

the trigger price for specified time period or after the conversion date indicated if there are less than

250000 shares of 4.50% or 5.00% series 2005B preferred stock outstanding or 25000 shares of 5.75%

or 5.75% series preferred stock outstanding

The following is summary of the changes in our preferred shares outstanding for 2010 2009 and 2008

5.00% 5.00%

5.75% 5.75%A 4.50% 2005B 2005 6.25% 4.125%

in thousands

Shares outstanding at

Januatyl2010 2559 2096
Preferred stock issuances 1500 1100

Conversion/exchange of

preferred for common
stock

Shares outstanding at

December31 2010 1500 1100 2559 2096

Shares outstanding at

January 2009 2559 2096 144

Conversion/exchange of

preferred for common
stock 144

Shares outstanding at

December 31 2009 2559 2096

Shares outstanding at

January 12008 3450 5750 144

Conversion/exchange of

preferred for common

stock 891 3654
Shares outstanding at

December31 2008 2559 2096 144
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In 2010 2009 and 2008 shares of our cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for or

converted into shares of common stock as summarized below

Cumulative

Year of Convertible Number Number of Type
Exchange/ Preferred of Common Shares of

Conversion Stock Preferred Shares Issued Transaction

in thousands
2010 5.0% series 2005 21 Conversion

2009 6.25% 144 1239 Conversion

4.125% 183 Conversion

1422

2008 5.0% series 2005B 3654 10443 Exchange

4.5% 891 2228 Exchange

4.125% Conversion

12673

Nominal amount

In connection with the exchanges and conversions noted above we recorded loss of $67 million in 2008

There were no losses in 2010 and 2009 In general the loss is equal to the excess of the fair value of all

preferred stock exchanged over the fair value of the common stock issuable pursuant to the original terms of

the preferred stock

Dividends

Dividends declared on our common stock and preferred stock are reflected as adjustments to retained

earnings to the extent surplus of retained earnings will exist after giving effect to the dividends To the extent

retained earnings are insufficient to fund the distributions such payments constitute return of contributed

capital rather than earnings and are accounted for as reduction to paid-in capital

Dividends on our outstanding preferred stock are payable quarterly in cash common stock or

combination thereof

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Under Chesapeakes Long Term Incentive Plan restricted stock stock options stock appreciation rights

performance shares and other stock awards may be awarded to employees directors and consultants of

Chesapeake Subject to any adjustments as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares of common

stock available for awards under the plan may not exceed 37500000 shares The maximum period for

exercise of an option or stock appreciation right may not be more than ten years from the date of grant and the

exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of the shares underlying the option or stock

appreciation right on the date of grant Awards granted under the plan become vested at specified dates or

upon the satisfaction of certain performance or other criteria determined by committee of the Board of

Directors No awards may be granted under this plan after September 30 2014 This plan has been approved

by our shareholders There were 87500 shares of restricted stock issued to our non-employee directors from

this plan in each of 2010 2009 and 2008 Additionally there were 5.8 million 4.0 million and 4.5 million

restricted shares issued net of forfeitures to employees and consultants during 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively from this plan As of December 31 2010 there were 8.2 million shares remaining available for

issuance under the plan

Under Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Incentive Plan restricted stock and incentive and nonqualified stock

options to purchase our common stock may be awarded to employees and consultants of Chesapeake

Subject to any adjustments as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares available for awards

under the plan may not exceed 10000000 shares The maximum period for exercise of an option may not be

more than ten years from the date of grant and the exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of
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the shares underlying the option on the date of grant Restricted stock and options granted become vested at

dates determined by committee of the Board of Directors No awards may be granted under this plan after

April 14 2013 This plan has been approved by our shareholders There were 0.1 million 0.4 million and

0.2 million restricted shares net of forfeitures issued during 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively from this plan

As of December 31 2010 there were 0.5 million shares remaining available for issuance under the plan

Under Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Award Plan for Non-Employee Directors 10000 shares of

Chesapeakes common stock are awarded to each newly appointed non-employee director on his or her first

day of service Subject to any adjustments as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares which may
be issued may not exceed 100000 shares This plan has been approved by our shareholders In each of 2010

and 2009 10000 shares of common stock were awarded to new directors from this plan As of December 31

2010 there were 40000 shares remaining available for issuance under this plan

In addition to the plans described above we have stock options outstanding to employees under number

of employee stock option plans which are described below All outstanding options under these plans were

at-the-money when granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date

of grant and have ten-year exercise period These plans were terminated in prior years and therefore no

shares remain available for stock option grants under the plans

Type Outstanding

Eligible of Shares Shareholder Options at

Name of Plan Participants Options Covered Approved December 31 2010

2002 and 2001 Employees Incentive and 3000000/

Stock Option Plans and consultants nonqualified 3200000 Yes 499263

2002 and 2001 Nonqualified Employees 4000000/

Stock Option Plans and consultants Nonqualified 3000000 No 807865

2000 and 1999 Employee Employees 3000000

Stock Option Plans and consultants Nonqualified each plan No 61675

1996 and 1994 Employees Incentive and 6000000/

Stock Option Plans and consultants nonqualified 4886910 Yes 37033

Restricted Stock

Chesapeake began issuing shares of restricted common stock to employees in January 2004 and to

non-employee directors in July 2005 The fair value of the awards issued is determined based on the fair

market value of the shares on the date of grant This value is amortized over Ihe vesting period which is

generally four years from the date of grant for employees and three years for non-employee directors To the

extent amortization of compensation cost relates to employees directly involved in acquisition exploration and

development activities such amounts are capitalized to natural gas and oil properties Amounts not capitalized
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to natural gas and oil properties are recognized in general and administrative expenses production expenses

marketing gathering and compression expenses or service operations expense Note details the accounting

for our stock-based compensation expense in 2010 2009 and 2008

summary of the status of the unvested shares of restricted stock and changes during 2010 2009 and

2008 is presented below

Number of Weighted Average
Unvested Grant-Date

Restricted Shares Fair Value

in thousands
Unvested shares as of January 12010 19225 31.89

Granted 9061 24.19

Vested 5900 31.99

Forfeited 1011 30.05

Unvested shares as of December 31 2010 21375 28.68

Unvested shares as of January 12009 21622 38.85

Granted 8019 18.65

Vested 9214 36.38

Forfeited 1202 34.46

Unvested shares as of December 31 2009 19225 31.89

Unvested shares as of January 2008 19689 32.42

Granted 6800 51.14

Vested 3942 28.27

Forfeited 925 37.33

Unvested shares as of December 31 2008 21622 38.85

The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock vested during 2010 was approximately $136 million based

on the stock price at the time of vesting

As of December 31 2010 there was $364 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to

unvested restricted stock The cost is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of

approximately years

The vesting of certain restricted stock grants could result in state and federal income tax benefits related to

the difference between the market price of the common stock at the date of vesting and the date of grant

During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 we recognized reduction in tax benefits related to

restricted stock of $15 million and $49 million respectively During the year ended December 31 2008 we

recognized an excess tax benefit related to restricted stock of $28 million These amounts were recorded as an

adjustment to additional paid-in capital and deferred income taxes with respect to such benefits

Stock Options

We granted stock options prior to 2006 under several stock compensation plans Outstanding options

expire ten years from the date of grant and vested over four-year period All of our stock options outstanding

are fully vested and exercisable
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The following table provides information related to stock option activity for 2010 2009 and 2008

Number of Weighted Weighted
Shares Average Average Aggregate

Underlying Exercise Price Contract Intrinsic

Options Per Share Life in Years Valuea

in thousands in millions

Outstanding at January 12010 2283 8.36

Exercised 475 6.29

Forfeited Canceled

Outstanding and exercisable at

December3l2010 1808 8.90 2.03 31

Shares authorized for future grants

Outstanding at January 12009 2802 8.13

Exercised 508 7.12

Forfeited Canceled 11 6.47

Outstanding and exercisable at

December 31 2009 2283 8.36 2.75 40

Shares authorized for future grants

Outstanding at January 2008 4445 7.55

Exercised 1639 6.54 66

Forfeited Canceled 15.26

Outstanding and exercisable at

December 31 2008 2802 8.13 3.59 23

Shares authorized for future grants 5763

The intrinsic value of stock option is the amount by which the current market value or the market value

upon exercise of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option

As of December 31 2010 there was no remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested

stock options

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 we recognized excess tax benefits related to

stock options of $2 million $1 million and $15 million respectively which were recorded as adjustments to

additional paid-in capital and deferred income taxes with respect to such benefits

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at

December 31 2010

Weighted-Avg
Remaining

Range of Number Contractual Life Weighted-Avg
Exercise Prices of Options in Years Exercise Price

in thousands

5.20 5.20 226 1.56 5.20

5.35 5.85 32 1.26 5.47

6.11 6.11 358 0.82 6.11

6.40 7.74 64 1.25 6.87

7.80 7.80 325 2.02 7.80

7.86 10.01 111 1.82 8.58

10.08 10.08 357 2.48 10.08

10.10 15.06 197 3.05 12.82

15.47 16.08 88 3.90 15.73

22.49 22.49 50 4.25 22.49

5.20 22.49 1808 2.03 8.90
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Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

Natural Gas and Oil Derivatives

Our results of operations and operating cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for natural

gas and oil To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various

derivative instruments These instruments allow us to predict with greater certainty the effective natural gas and

oil prices to be received for our hedged production Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100%

effectiveness for accounting purposes we believe our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in

achieving our risk management objectives As of December 31 2010 and 2009 our natural gas and oil

derivative instruments were comprised of the following types of instruments

Swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price to the counterparty for the

hedged commodity

Call options Chesapeake sells call options in exchange for premium from the counterparty At the

time of settlement if the market price exceeds the fixed price of the call option Chesapeake pays the

counterparty such excess and if the market price seffles below the fixed price of the call option no

payment is due from either party

Put options Chesapeake receives premium from the counterparty in exchange for the sale of put

option At the time of settlement if the market price falls below the fixed price of the put option

Chesapeake pays the counterparty such shortfall and if the market price settles above the fixed price

of the put option no payment is due from either party

Knockout swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price The fixed price

received by Chesapeake includes premium in exchange for the possibility to reduce the

counterpartys exposure to zero in any given month if the floating market price is lower than certain

pre-determined knockout prices

Collars These instruments contain fixed floor price put and ceiling price call If the market price

exceeds the call strike price or falls below the put strike price Chesapeake receives the fixed price

and pays the market price If the market price is between the put and the call strike price no

payments are due from either party Three-way collars include an additional put option in exchange for

more favorable strike price on the collar This eliminates the counterpartys downside exposure

below the second put option

Basis protection swaps These instruments are arrangements that guarantee price differential to

NYMEX for natural gas from specified delivery point For non-Appalachian Basin basis protection

swaps which typically have negative differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake receives payment from

the counterparty if the price differential is greater than the stated terms of the contract and pays the

counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of the contract For Appalachian

Basin basis protection swaps which typically have positive differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake

receives payment from the counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of the

contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is greater than the stated terms of the

contract

All of our derivative instruments are net settled based on the difference between the fixed-price payment and

the floating-price payment resulting in net amount due to or from the counterparty
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The estimated fair values of our natural gas and oil derivative instruments as of December 31 2010 and

2009 are provided below The associated carrying values of these instruments are equal to the estimated fair

values

Natural gas bbtu

Fixed-price swaps 492053

Call options 996750

Put options 69620
Fixed-price knockout swaps 38370

Fixed-price collars 74240

Basis protection swaps ____________ ____________
125469

____________

Total natural gas _____________
1657262

_____________

Oil mbbl
Fixed-price swaps

Call options

Fixed-price knockout swaps

Total oil

____________ _____________ _________ _____________

Total estimated fair value
_____________ _____________

Pursuant to accounting guidance for derivatives and hedging certain derivatives qualify for designation as

cash flow hedges Following this guidance changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as

cash flow hedges to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged risk are

recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as the

physical transactions being hedged occur Any change in fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is currently

recognized in natural gas and oil sales Changes in the fair value of non-qualifying derivatives that occur prior

to their maturity i.e temporary fluctuations in value are reported currently in the consolidated statements of

operations within natural gas and oil sales

The components of natural gas and oil sales for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 are

presented below

Natural gas and oil sales 4248

Gains losses on natural gas and oil derivatives 1422

Gains losses on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges 23
__________ __________

Total natural gas and oil sales 5647
__________ __________

Based upon the market prices at December 31 2010 we expect to transfer approximately $15 million net

of income taxes of gain included in accumulated other comprehensive income to net income loss during the

next 12 months in the related month of production All transactions hedged as of December 31 2010 are

expected to mature by December 31 2022

We have multi-counterparty hedge facility with 12 counterparties that have committed to provide

approximately 5.6 tcfe of hedging capacity and an aggregate mark-to-market capacity of $15.0 billion under the

terms of the facility In February 2011 we amended the agreement for the hedge facility primarily to allow us to

protect our natural gas liquids production from price volatility and to allow for greater flexibility when hedging

our anticipated production As of December 31 2010 we had hedged total of 2.9 tcfe of our future production

December 31 2010

Volume Fair Value

in millions

December 31 2009

Volume Fair Value

in millions

1307

701
59

1035134

1477742

51220

173691

2635347

4385

64226

1827

70438

55
492

662

541
50
17

92

50
130

144
32

109

21

31
1129

19

1141

649

5475

14975

6572

27022

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

3291

1722

36
__________

_________ 5049 _________

7069

879

90
7858
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under the facility The multi-counterparty facility allows us to enter into cash-settled natural gas natural gas

liquids and oil price and basis hedges with the counterparties Our obligations under the multi-counterparty

facility are secured by proved reserves the value of which must cover the fair value of the transactions

outstanding under the facility by at least 1.65 times and guarantees by certain subsidiaries that also guarantee

our corporate revolving bank credit facility and indentures The counterparties obligations under the facility

must be secured by cash or short-term U.S Treasury instruments to the extent that any mark-to-market

amounts they owe to Chesapeake exceed defined thresholds The maximum volume-based hedging capacity

under the facility is governed by the expected production of the pledged reserve collateral and volume-based

hedging limits are applied separately to price and basis hedges In addition there are volume-based sub-limits

for natural gas and oil hedges Chesapeake has significant flexibility with regard to releases and/or

substitutions of pledged reserves provided that certain collateral coverage and other requirements are met

The facility does not have maturity date Counterparties to the agreement have the right to cease entering

into hedges with the company on prospective basis as long as obligations associated with any existing

transactions in the facility continue to be satisfied in accordance with the terms of the agreement

Interest Rate Derivatives

To mitigate our exposure to volatility in interest rates related to our senior notes and bank credit facilities

we enter into interest rate derivatives As of December 31 2010 and 2009 our interest rate derivative

instruments were comprised of the following types of instruments

Swaps Chesapeake enters into fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps we receive fixed interest rate

and pay floating market rate to mitigate our exposure to changes in the fair value of our senior

notes We enter into floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps we receive floating market rate and pay

fixed interest rate to manage our interest rate exposure related to our bank credit facilities

borrowings

Call options Occasionally we sell call options for premium when we think it is more likely that the

option will expire unexercised The option allows the counterparty to terminate pre-determined open

swap on specific date

Swaptions Occasionally we sell an option to counterparty for premium which allows the

counterparty to enter into pre-determined swap with us on specific date

Collars These instruments contain fixed floor rate floor and ceiling rate cap If the floating rate

is above the cap we have net receivable from the counterparty and if the floating rate is below the

floor we have net payable to the counterparty If the floating rate is between the floor and the cap
there is no payment due from either party Collars are used to manage our interest rate exposure

related to our bank credit facilities borrowings

The notional amount of debt hedged and the estimated fair value of our interest rate derivatives

outstanding as of December 31 2010 and 2009 are provided below

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Notional Fair Notional Fair

Amount Value Amount Value

in millions

Interest rate

Swaps 1900 54 2925 113
Call options 250 250

Swaptions 500 13 500 11
Collars 250

Totals 2650 69 3925 132

105



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

For interest rate derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges the fair values of the hedges are

recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets or liabilities with corresponding offsefting adjustments

to the debts carrying value Our qualifying interest rate swaps are considered 100% effective and therefore no

ineffectiveness was recorded for the periods presented above Changes in the fair value of non-qualifying

interest rate derivatives that occur prior to their maturity i.e temporary fluctuations in value are currently

reported in the consolidated statements of operations within interest expense

Gains or losses from interest rate derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest

expense in the consolidated statements of operations The components of interest expense for the years

ended December 31 2010 200 and 2008 are presented below

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Interest expense on senior notes 718 765 637

Interest expense on credit facilities 61 60 117

Capitalized interest 716 633 585
Gains losses on interest rate derivatives 80 114 79

Amortization of loan discount and other 36 35 23

Total interest expense 19 113 271

Gains and losses related to terminated qualifying interest rate derivative transactions will be amortized as

an adjustment to interest expense over the remaining term of the related senior notes Over the next ten years

we will recognize $34 million in gains related to such transactions

Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017

Concurrent with the issuance of the euro-denominated senior notes we entered into cross currency swap to

mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes Under the

terms of the cross currency swap on each semi-annual interest payment date the counterparties pay

Chesapeake 19 million and Chesapeake pays the counterparties $30 million which yields an annual dollar-

equivalent interest rate of 7.491% Upon maturity of the notes the counterparties will pay Chesapeake

600 million and Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $800 million The terms of the cross currency swap

were based on the dollar/euro exchange rate on the issuance date of $1.3325 to 1.00 Through the cross

currency swap we have eliminated any potential variability in Chesapeakes expected cash flows related to

changes in foreign exchange rates and therefore the swap qualifies as cash flow hedge The fair value of the

cross currency swap is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as liability of $43 million at December 31

2010 The euro-denominated debt in long-term debt has been adjusted to $796 million at December 31 2010

using an exchange rate of $1 .3269 to 1.00

Additional Disclosures Regarding Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

In accordance with accounting guidance for derivatives and hedging to the extent that legal right of

set-off exists Chesapeake nets the value of its derivative arrangements with the same counterparty in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets Derivative instruments reflected as current in the consolidated

balance sheets represent the estimated fair value of derivatives scheduled to settle over the next twelve

months based on market prices/rates as of the respective balance sheet dates The derivative settlement

amounts are not due until the month in which the related underlying hedged transaction occurs Cash

settlements of our derivative instruments are generally classified as operating cash flows unless the derivative

contains significant financing element at contract inception in which case these cash settlements are

classified as financing cash flows in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows
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Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Commodity contracts Short-term derivative instruments

Commodity contracts Long-term derivative instruments

Total

Liability Derivatives

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Commodity contracts Short-term derivative instruments

Interest rate contracts Long-term derivative instruments

Foreign currency contracts Long-term derivative instruments

Total

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Commodity contracts Short-term derivative instruments

Commodity contracts Long-term derivative instruments

Interest rate contracts Short-term derivative instruments

Interest rate contracts Long-term derivative instruments

Total

Total derivative instruments

59
25 11
43

127 12

222 42
1837 768

15 27
29 94

2103 931

761$ 63

consolidated summary of the effect of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of

operations for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 is provided below separating fair value cash

flow and non-qualifying derivatives

The following table presents the gain loss recognized in net income loss for instruments designated as

fair value derivatives

Interest expense on items hedged for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 was $19 million and

$71 million respectively which is included in interest expense on the consolidated statements of

operations

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

The following table sets forth the fair value of each classification of derivative instrument as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 on gross basis without regard to same-counterparty netting

Fair Value

December 31 December 31
Balance Sheet Location 2010 2009

in millions

Asset Derivatives

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Commodity contracts Short-term derivative instruments 307

Commodity contracts Long-term derivative instruments 12

Foreign currency contracts Long-term derivative instruments

Total 319
___________

417

36

43

496

318

66

384

921

229

1150

Fair Value Derivatives

Interest rate contracts

Years Ended
December 31

Location of Gain Loss 2010 2009

in millions

Interest expensea 20 37
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The following table presents the pre-tax gain loss recognized in and reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive income AOCI and recognized in net income loss including any hedge ineffectiveness for

derivative instruments designated as cash flow derivatives

Years Ended
December 31

Cash Flow Derivatives Location of Gain Loss 2010 2009

in millions

Gain Loss Recognized in

AOCI Effective Portion

Commodity contracts AOCI 386 958

Foreign exchange contracts AOCI 22 96

364 1054

Gain Loss Reclassified from

AOCI Effective Portion

Commodity contracts Natural gas and oil sales 789 1425

789 1425

Gain Loss Recognized

Ineffective Portion and

Amount Excluded from

Effectiveness Testinga

Commodity contracts Natural gas and oil sales 19 193

19 193

In the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 the amount of gain loss recognized in net income

loss represents $23 million and $36 million related to the ineffective portion of our cash flow derivatives

and $4 million and $157 million respectively related to the amount excluded from the assessment of

hedge effectiveness

The following table presents the gain loss recognized in net income loss for instruments not qualifying

as cash flow or fair value derivatives

Years Ended
December 31

Non-Qualifying Derivatives Location of Gain Loss 2010 2009

in millions

Commodity contracts Natural gas and oil sales 629 139

Interest rate contracts Interest expense 60 77

Total 689 216

Credit Risk

Derivative instruments that enable us to hedge portion of our exposure to natural gas and oil prices and

interest rate volatility expose us to credit risk from our counterparties To mitigate this risk we enter into

derivative contracts only with investment-grade rated counterparties deemed by management to be competent

and competitive market makers and we attempt to limit our exposure to non-performance by any single

counterparty On December 31 2010 our derivative instruments were spread among 14 counterparties

Additionally our multi-counterparty secured hedging facility described previously includes 12 of our

counterparties which are required to secure their natural gas and oil hedging obligations in excess of defined

thresholds We use this facility for all of our commodity hedging
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10 Supplemental Disclosures About Natural Gas and Oil Producing Activities

Net Capitalized Costs

Evaluated and unevaluated capitalized costs related to Chesapeakes natural gas and oil producing

activities are summarized as follows

December 31

2010 2009

in millions

Natural gas and oil properties

Proved 38952 35007

Unproved 14469 10005

Total 53421 45012

Less accumulated depreciation depletion and amortization 25595 24220

Net capitalized costs 27826 20792

Unproved properties not subject to amortization at December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 consisted mainly of

leasehold acquired through corporate and significant natural gas and oil property acquisitions and through

direct purchases of leasehold We capitalized approximately $71 million $627 million and $585 million of

interest during 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively on significant investments in unproved properties that were

not yet included in the amortization base of the full-cost pool We will continue to evaluate our unproved

properties and seismic projects however the timing of the ultimate evaluation and disposition of the properties

has not been determined

The table below sets forth the cost of unproved properties excluded from the amortization base as of

December 31 2010 and notes the year in which the associated costs were incurred

Year of Acquisition

2010 2009 2008 Prior Total

in millions

Leasehold acquisition cost 5619 1634 3992 1157 12402

Exploration cost 526 42 81 56 705

Capitalized interest 617 180 438 127 1362

Total 6762 1856 4511 1340 14469
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Costs Incurred in Natural Gas and Oil Exploration and Development Acquisitions and Divestitures

Costs incurred in natural gas and oil property exploration and development acquisitions and divestitures

activities which have been capitalized are summarized as follows

December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Development and exploration costs

Development drillinga 4739 2729 5185

Exploratory drilling 691 651 612

Geological and geophysical costsbc 181 162 314

Asset retirement obligation and other 10

5613 3540 6121

Acquisition costs

Unproved propertiesd 6953 2793 8250

Proved properties 243 61 355

Deferred income taxes 13

7196 2854 8618

Proceeds from divestitures

Unproved properties 1524 1265 5302
Proved properties 2876 461 2433

4400 1726 7735

Total 8409 4668 7004

Includes capitalized internal costs of $367 million $337 million and $326 million respectively

Includes capitalized internal costs of $16 million $22 million and $26 million respectively

Includes $24 million $29 million and $25 million of related capitalized interest respectively

Includes $687 million $598 million and $561 million of related capitalized interest respectively

Results of Operations from Natural Gas and Oil Producing Activities unaudited

Chesapeakes results of operations from natural gas and oil producing activities are presented below for

2010 2009 and 2008 The following table includes revenues and expenses associated directly with our natural

gas and oil producing activities It does not include any interest costs or general and administrative costs and

therefore is not necessarily indicative of the contribution to consolidated net operating results of our natural

gas and oil operations

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Natural gas and oil sales 5647 5049 7858

Production expenses 893 876 889
Production taxes 157 107 284
Impairment of natural gas and oil properties 11000 2800
Depletion and depreciation 1394 1371 1970
Imputed income tax provisions 1233 3114 747

Results of operations from natural gas and oil producing activities 1970 5191 1168

The imputed income tax provision is hypothetical at the effective income tax rate and determined without

regard to our deduction for general and administrative expenses interest costs and other income tax

credits and deductions nor whether the hypothetical tax provision will be payable
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Natural Gas and Oil Reserve Quantities unaudited

Chesapeakes petroleum engineers and independent petroleum engineering firms estimated all of our

proved reserves as of December 31 2010 and 2009 The independent petroleum engineering firms estimated

an aggregate of 78% and 83% of our estimated proved reserves by volume as of December 31 2010 and

2009 respectively as set forth below

December 31

2010 2009

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc 58% 59%

Lee Keeling and Associates Inc 7% 10%

Data and Consulting Services Division of Schlumberger Technology Corporation 7% 7%

Ryder Scott Company L.P 6% 7%

Chesapeakes petroleum engineers estimated all of our proved reserves as of December 31 2008 and

independent petroleum engineering firms audited an aggregate 76% of our estimated proved reserves by

volume as set forth below reserve audit is not the same as financial audit and reserve audit is less

rigorous in nature than reserve report prepared by an independent petroleum engineering firm containing its

own estimates of reserves

December 31
2008

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc 42%

Lee Keeling and Associates Inc 13%

Data and Consulting Services Division of Schlumberger Technology Corporation 8%

Ryder Scott Company L.P 8%
LaRoche Petroleum Consultants Ltd 5%

Proved natural gas and oil reserves are those quantities of natural gas and oil which by analysis of geoscience

and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from given date

forward from known reservoirs and under existing economic conditions operating methods and government

regulations prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire unless evidence indicates that

renewal is reasonably certain regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the

estimation Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from reservoir is

to be determined Based on reserve reporting rules effective December 31 2009 the price is calculated using the

average price during the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the period covered by the report determined as

an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within such period unless

prices are defined by contractual arrangements excluding escalations based upon future conditions The project to

extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence

the project within reasonable time The area of the reservoir considered as proved includes the area identified

by drilling and limited by fluid contacts if any and ii adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can with

reasonable certainty be judged to be continuous with it and to contain economically producible natural gas or oil on

the basis of available geoscience and engineering data In the absence of data on fluid contacts proved quantities in

reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons as seen in well penetration unless geoscience

engineering or performance data and reliable technology establish lower contact with reasonable certainty Where

direct observation from well penetrations has defined highest known oil elevation and the potential exists for an

associated natural gas cap proved oil reserves may be assigned in the structurally higher portions of the reservoir

only if geoscience engineering or performance data and reliable technology establish the higher contact with

reasonable certainty Reserves which can be produced economically through application of improved recovery

techniques including but not limited to fluid injection are included in the proved classification when successful

testing by pilot project in an area of the reservoir with properties no more favorable than in the reservoir as

whole the operation of an installed program in the reservoir or an analogous reservoir or other evidence using

reliable technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis on which the project or program

was based and ii the project has been approved for development by all necessary parties and entities including

governmental entities
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Proved developed natural gas and oil reserves are reserves of any category that can be expected to be

recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods or in which the cost of the

required equipment is relatively minor compared to the cost of new well

The information below on our natural gas and oil reserves is presented in accordance with regulations

prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission as in effect as of the date of such estimates

Chesapeake emphasizes that reserve estimates are inherently imprecise Our reserve estimates are generally

based upon extrapolation of historical production trends analogy to similar properties and volumetric

calculations Accordingly these estimates are expected to change and such changes could be material and

occur in the near term as future information becomes available

Presented below is summary of changes in estimated reserves of Chesapeake for 2010 2009 and 2008

Gas

bcf
_________ ________

124.0 14254

70.0 5098

104.6 183

18.4 1035
11.2 1493

_______
4.4 89

_______
273.4 17096

7859 78.8 8331

8246 149.3 9143

11327 120.6 12051

4530 27.1 4693

1335 10.3 1397
835 11.8 906
209 1.8 220

32 0.2 33

13510 124.0 14254

7582 84.9 8091

7859 78.8 8331

10137 123.6 10879

1526 11.5 1595
957 1.2 950

775 11.2 843
674 4.6 702

156 2.5 172

11327 120.6 12051

6409 88.8 6942

7582 84.9 8091

Oil Total

mmbbl bcfe

December 31 2010

Proved reserves beginning of period 13510

Extensions discoveries and other additions 4678
Revisions of previous estimates 445
Production 925
Sale of reserves-in-place 1426
Purchase of reserves-in-place 63

Proved reserves end of period 15455

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period

End of period

December 31 2009

Proved reserves beginning of period

Extensions discoveries and other additions

Revisions of previous estimates

Production

Sale of reserves-in-place

Purchase of reserves-in-place

Proved reserves end of period

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period
________

End of period

December 31 2008

Proved reserves beginning of period

Extensions discoveries and other additions

Revisions of previous estimates

Production

Sale of reserves-in-place

Purchase of reserves-in-place

Proved reserves end of period

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period
________

End of period
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During 2010 Chesapeake acquired approximately 89 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of

natural gas and oil properties for consideration of $243 million primarily in separate transactions of greater

than $10 million each and we sold 1.493 tcfe of our proved reserves for approximately $2876 billion including

divestitures related to three volumetric production payment transactions the sale of portion of our Barnett

Shale assets and other non-core asset sales During 2010 we recorded positive revisions of 183 bcfe to the

December 31 2009 estimates of our reserves Included in the revisions were 189 bcfe of positive revisions

resulting from higher natural gas prices as of December 31 2010 and bcfe of downward revisions resulting

from changes to previous estimates Higher prices extend the economic lives of the underlying natural gas and

oil properties and thereby increase the estimated future reserves The natural gas and oil prices used in

computing our reserves as of December 31 2010 were $4.38 per mcf and $79.42 per barrel before price

differentials

During 2009 Chesapeake acquired approximately 33 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of

natural gas and oil properties for consideration of $61 million primarily in two separate transactions of greater

than $10 million each and we sold 220 bcfe of our proved reserves for approximately $576 million During

2009 we recorded downward revisions of 1.397 tcfe to the December 31 2008 estimates of our reserves

Included in the revisions were 952 bcfe of downward revisions resulting from lower natural gas prices using the

average 12-month price in 2009 compared to the spot price as of December 31 2008 and 445 bcfe of

downward revisions resulting from changes to previous estimates Lower prices decrease the economic lives of

the underlying natural gas and oil properties and thereby decrease the estimated future reserves The natural

gas and oil prices used in computing our reserves as of December 31 2009 were $3.87 per mcf and $61.14

per
barrel before price differentials

During 2008 Chesapeake acquired approximately 172 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of

natural gas and oil properties for consideration of $355 million primarily in five separate transactions of greater

than $10 million each and we sold 702 bcfe of our proved reserves for approximately $2.433 billion During

2008 we recorded positive revisions of 950 bcfe to the December 31 2007 estimates of our reserves Included

in the revisions were 298 bcfe of negative adjustments caused by lower natural gas and oil prices at

December 31 2008 compared to prices at December 31 2007 and 1.248 tcfe of positive performance related

revisions Lower prices decrease the economic lives of the underlying natural gas and oil properties and

thereby decrease the estimated future reserves The natural gas and oil prices used in computing our reserves

as of December 31 2008 were $5.71 per mcf and $44.61 per barrel before price differentials

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows unaudited

Accounting Standards Topic 932 prescribes guidelines for computing standardized measure of future net

cash flows and changes therein relating to estimated proved reserves Chesapeake has followed these

guidelines which are briefly discussed below

Future cash inflows and future production and development costs as of December 31 2010 and 2009

were determined by applying the trailing average 12-month prices and year-end costs to the estimated

quantities of natural gas and oil to be produced Actual future prices and costs may be materially higher or

lower than the 12-month average prices and year-end costs used Amounts as of December 31 2008 were

determined using year-end prices and costs For each year estimates are made of quantities of proved

reserves and the future periods during which they are expected to be produced based on continuation of the

economic conditions applied for such year Estimated future income taxes are computed using current statutory

income tax rates including consideration for the current tax basis of the properties and related carrytorwards

giving effect to permanent differences and tax credits The resulting future net cash flows are reduced to

present value amounts by applying 10% annual discount factor

The assumptions used to compute the standardized measure are those prescribed by the Financial

Accounting Standards Board and as such do not necessarily reflect our expectations of actual revenue to be

derived from those reserves nor their present worth The limitations inherent in the reserve quantity estimation

process as discussed previously are equally applicable to the standardized measure computations since

these estimates reflect the valuation process
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The following summary sets forth our future net cash flows relating to proved natural gas and oil reserves

based on the standardized measure

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Future cash inflows 69616a 49322b 62995c

Future production costs 20384 16620 18828
Future development costs 11602 8881 7378
Future income tax provisions 6859 4106 9813

Future net cash flows 30771 19715 26976

Less effect ofa 10%discountfactor 17588 11512 15143

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows 13183 8203 11833

Calculated using prices of $4.38 per mcf of natural gas and $79.42 per barrel of oil before field

differentials

Calculated using prices of $3.87 per mcf of natural gas and $61.14 per barrel of oil before field

differentials

Calculated using prices of $5.71 per mcf of natural gas and $44.61 per barrel of oil before field

differentials

The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows are as

follows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in millions

Standardized measure beginning of perioda 8203 11833 14962
Sales of natural gas and oil produced net of production costsb 3199 2307 5896
Net changes in prices and production costs 3337 7297 5025
Extensions and discoveries net of production and development costs 5580 2374 2752

Changes in future development costs 173 1910 1043

Development costs incurred during the period that reduced future

development costs 717 650 1130

Revisions of previous quantity estimates 199 1290 1524

Purchase of reserves-in-place 255 41 362

Sales of reserves-in-place 2235 377 1696
Accretion of discount 945 1560 2057
Net change in income taxes 716 2521 1843

Changes in production rates and other 76 1415 1223

Standardized measure end of perioda 13183 8203 11833

The impact of cash flow hedges has not been included in any of the periods presented

Excluding gains losses on derivatives
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11 Divestitures

Industiy Participation Agreements

As of December 31 2010 we had entered into five significant industry participation agreements to sell

portion of our leasehold in certain areas which allowed us to recover much or all of our initial leasehold

investments in the plays reduce our ongoing capital costs reduce future DDA expense and reduce future

risks The transactions are detailed below

On November 16 2010 we entered into an industry participation agreement with wholly owned U.S

subsidiary of CNOOC Limited CNOOC to develop our Eagle Ford Shale leasehold in South Texas Under the

terms of the agreement CN000 acquired 33.3% undivided interest in approximately 600000 net acres of

our Eagle Ford Shale leasehold along with 18.2 bcfe of estimated proved reserves We received $1.12 billion in

cash at closing and CNOOC agreed to fund 75% of our share of drilling and completion costs in the Eagle

Ford Shale until an additional $1.08 billion has been paid which we expect to occur by year-end 2012 In

addition CNOOC has the right to 33.3% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the Eagle

Ford Shale at cost plus fee

On January 25 2010 we entered into an industry participation agreement with Total EP USA Inc

wholly owned subsidiary of Total S.A to develop our Barnett Shale leasehold in north-central Texas Under

the terms of the industry participation agreement Total acquired 25% undivided interest in approximately

270000 net acres of our Barnett Shale leasehold along with 840 bcfe of estimated proved reserves Total paid

us approximately $800 million in cash at closing plus $78 million of drilling and completion carries due from the

effective date of the transaction to the closing date Total is obligated to fund 60% of our share of future drilling

and completion costs until $1.45 billion has been paid which we expect to occur by year-end 2013 In addition

Total has the right to 25% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the Barnett Shale at cost

plus fee

On November 25 2008 we entered into an industry participation agreement with Statoil to develop our

Marcellus Shale leasehold in Appalachia Under the terms of the industry participation agreement Statoil

acquired 32.5% undivided interest in approximately 1.8 million net acres of our Marcellus Shale leasehold

along with 2.5 bcfe of estimated proved reserves Chesapeake received $1.25 billion in cash at closing and

Statoil agreed to fund 75% of our share of drilling and completion costs in the Marcellus Shale until an

additional $2125 billion has been paid which we expect to occur by year-end 2012 In addition Statoil has the

right to 32.5% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the Marcellus Shale at cost plus fee

On September 2008 we entered into an industry participation agreement with BP America Inc to

develop our Fayetteville Shale leasehold in Arkansas Under the terms of the industry participation agreement

BP acquired 25% undivided interest in approximately 540000 net acres of ou Fayetteville Shale leasehold

along with 161.8 bcfe of estimated proved reserves We received $1.1 billion in cash at closing and BP paid an

additional $800 million by funding 100% of Chesapeakes 75% share of drilling and completion costs during

2008 and 2009 In addition BP has the right to 25% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in

the Fayetteville Shale at cost plus fee

On July 2008 we entered into an industry participation agreement with Plains Exploration Production

Company PXP to develop our Haynesville and Bossier Shale leasehold in Northwest Louisiana and East

Texas tinder the terms of the industry participation agreement PXP acquired 20% undivided interest in

approximately 550000 net acres of our Haynesville and Bossier Shale leasehold along with 22.9 bcfe of

estimated proved reserves We received $1.65 billion in cash at closing and PXP agreed to fund 50% of our

share of drilling and completion costs in the Haynesville and Bossier Shale over multi-year period up to an

additional $1 .65 billion In August 2009 Chesapeake and PXP amended their industry participation agreement

to accelerate the payment of PXPs remaining drilling and completion cost carries as of September 30 2009 in

exchange for an approximate 12% reduction in the total amount of carry obligations due to Chesapeake As

result on September 29 2009 Chesapeake received $1.1 billion in cash from PXP and beginning in the 2009

fourth quarter Chesapeake and PXP each began paying their proportionate working interest costs on drilling In

addition PXP has the right to 20% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the Haynesville and

Bossier Shales at cost plus fee
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During 2010 2009 and 2008 our drilling and completion costs included the benefit of approximately

$1.151 billion $1.153 billion and $271 million respectively in drilling and completion carries associated with

our industry participation agreements with CNOOC Total Statoil BP and PXP as follows

Industry Industry

Participation Participation
Years Ended

Shale Agreement Agreement
December 31

Play Partner Date 2010 2009 2008

in millions

Eagle Ford CN000 November 2010 67

Barnett Total January 2010 483

Marcellus Statoil November 2008 601 162

Fayetteville BP September 2008 601 199

Haynesville PXP July 2008 390 72

1151 1153 271

During 2010 2009 and 2008 as part of our industry participation agreements with Total Statoil and PXP
we sold interests in additional leasehold in the Barnett Marcellus and Haynesville shale plays for

approximately $440 million $100 million and $40 million respectively

For accounting purposes cash proceeds from these transactions were reflected as reduction of natural

gas and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized

Volumetric Production Payments

From time to time we choose to monetize certain of our producing assets in our more mature producing

regions We retain drilling rights on the properties below currently producing intervals and outside of producing

well bores

We have completed the following volumetric production payment VPP transactions since 2007

Proved Reserves Original

Date of VPP Region Proceeds bcfe mcfe Term

in millions at time of sale years

September 2010 Barnett Shale 1150 390 2.93

June 2010 Permian Basin 335 38 8.73 10

February2olo Eastlexasandthe 180 46 3.95 10

Texas Gulf Coast

August 2009 South Texas 370 68 5.46 7.5

December2008 Anadarkoand 412 98 4.19

Arkoma Basins

August 2008 Anadarko Basin 600 93 6.38 11

May 2008 Texas Oklahoma 622 94 6.53 11

and Kansas

December2007 Kentuckyand 1100 208 5.29 15

West Virginia

For accounting purposes cash proceeds from these transactions were reflected as reduction of natural

gas and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized and our proved reserves were reduced accordingly

Sale of Springridge Gathering System

On December 21 2010 our wholly owned midstream subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream Development

L.P sold its Springridge natural gas gathering system and related facilities in the Haynesville Shale to our

42.5%-owned affiliate Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P NYSE CHKM for $500 million and recorded

gain on the sale of $157 million In connection with this transaction CHKM and certain Chesapeake
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subsidiaries entered into ten-year gathering and compression agreements covering Chesapeakes upstream

assets within an area of dedication around the existing pipeline system The gathering and compression

agreements are similar to the previously existing gathering agreement between Chesapeake and CHKM and

includes minimum volume commitment and periodic rate redetermination

Other Divestitures

In 2010 and 2009 we sold non-core proved and unproved properties for proceeds of approximately $355

million and $450 million respectively

12 Investments

At December 31 2010 and 2009 we had the following investments

Carrying Value

Approximate Accounting
December 31

Owned Method 2010 2009

in millions

Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P 42% Equity 695

Frac Tech Holdings LLC 26% Equity 311 239

Chaparral Energy Inc 20% Equity 133 103

Gastar Exploration Ltd 11% Cost 29 32

Other Cost/Equity 40 30

1208 404

Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P On September 30 2009 we formed joint venture with Global

Infrastructure Partners GIP New York-based private equity fund to own and operate natural gas midstream

asset As part of the transaction Chesapeake contributed certain natural gas gathering and processing assets

to and GIP purchased 50% interest in new joint venture entity The assets we contributed to the joint

venture were substantially all of our midstream assets in the Barnett Shale and also the majority of our

non-shale midstream assets in the Arkoma Anadarko Delaware and Permian Basins During the fourth

quarter of 2009 the joint venture was consolidated within our financial statements Effective January 2010

in accordance with new authoritative guidance for variable interest entities we changed the accounting for our

investment in the joint venture to the equity method Adoption of this new guidance resulted in an after-tax

cumulative effect charge to retained earnings of $142 million which is reflected in our consolidated statement

of equity for the year ended December 31 2010 This charge reflects the difference between the carrying value

of our initial investment in the joint venture which was recorded at carryover basis as an entity under common

control and the fair value of our equity in the joint venture as of the formation date

On August 2010 Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P NYSE CHKM completed an initial public

offering of 24437500 common units including 3187500 common units issued pursuant to the exercise of the

underwriters over-allotment option on August 2010 representing limited partner interests and received

gross offering proceeds of approximately $513 million at an initial offering price of $21.00 per unit less

approximately $38 million for underwriting discounts and commissions structuring fees and offering expenses

Pursuant to the terms of our contribution agreement with GIP CHKM distributed the approximate $62 million of

net proceeds from the exercise of the over-allotment option to GIP on August 2010 In connection with the

closing of the offering Chesapeake and GIP contributed the interests of the midstream joint ventures operating

subsidiary to CHKM and CHKM is continuing the business that had been conducted by the joint venture

Common units owned by public security holders represent 17.7% of all outstanding limited partner interests

and Chesapeake and GIP hold 42.3% and 40.0% respectively of all outstanding limited partner interests The

limited partners collectively have 98.0% interest in CHKM and the general partner which is owned and

controlled 50/50 by Chesapeake and GIP has 2.0% interest in CHKM

During 2010 we recorded positive equity method adjustments of $89 million for our share of CHKMs
income and recorded accretion adjustments of $14 million for our share of equity in excess of cost As result
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of the initial public offering by CHKM in 2010 we recognized sgo million gain on our investment The gain

represented our proportionate share of the excess of offering proceeds over the carrying value of our

investment in CHKM and is reported in earnings losses from equity investees on our statements of

operations The carrying value of our investment in CHKM is less than our underlying equity in net assets by

approximately $237 million as of December 31 2010 This difference is being accreted over 20 years

In 2010 we received cash distributions of $88 million from CHKM and its predecessor

Frac Tech Holdings LLC Frac Tech Holdings LLC provides hydraulic fracturing and other services to oil

and gas companies In 2010 we made an additional $100 million investment in Frac Tech recorded positive

equity method adjustments of $55 million for our share of Frac Techs income and recorded depreciation

adjustments of $25 million for our cost in excess of equity In addition in November 2010 and December 2010

we received cash distributions of $52 million and $6 million respectively from Frac Tech The carrying value of

our investment in Frac Tech is in excess of our underlying equity in net assets by approximately $153 million as

of December 31 2010 This excess amount is attributed to certain intangibles associated with the specialty

services provided by Frac Tech and is being amortized over the estimated life of the intangibles We recently

announced our intention to sell our interest in Frac Tech The sale is subject to changes in market conditions

and other factors and there can be no assurance that we will complete the transaction on timely basis or at

all

Chaparral Energy Inc Chaparral Energy Inc is an independent oil and natural gas company engaged in

the production acquisition and exploitation of oil and natural gas properties In 2010 we recorded positive

equity method adjustments of $5 million for our share of Chaparrals income and depreciation adjustments of

$6 million for our cost in excess of equity The carrying value of our investment in Chaparral is in excess of our

underlying equity in net assets by approximately $58 million as of December 31 2010 This excess is attributed

to the natural gas and oil reserves held by Chaparral and is being amortized over the estimated life of these

reserves based on unit of production rate In addition as result of an equity offering by Chaparral to third

party in April 2010 we recognized $31 million gain on our investment in 2010 This gain represented our

proportionate share of the excess of offering proceeds over the carrying value of our investment in Chaparral

and is reported in earnings losses from equity investees on our statements of operations Due to the dramatic

decrease in natural gas and oil prices at the end of 2008 and into 2009 as result of the slowing of the

worldwide economy on March 31 2009 and December 31 2008 we recognized an other than temporary

impairment on our investment in Chaparral of $51 million and $100 million respectively We recently

announced our intention to sell our investment in Chaparral The sale is subject to changes in market

conditions and other factors and there can be no assurance that we will complete the transaction on timely

basis or at all

Gastar Exploration Ltd Gastar Exploration Ltd AMEX GST is an independent energy company

engaged in the exploration development and production of natural gas and oil in the U.S During 2010 the

common stock price of Gastar decreased from $4.79 per share to $4.30 per share Due to the dramatic

decrease in natural gas and oil prices at the end of 2008 and into 2009 as result of the slowing of the

worldwide economy on March 31 2009 we recognized an other than temporary impairment on our investment

in Gastar of $70 million Our investment in Gastar had historical cost basis of $89 million as of December 31

2010 and 2009

Other In 2010 we invested $20 million for 40% equity interest in Twin Eagle Resource Management

LLC natural gas trading and management firm In 2010 we recorded $16 million impairment of certain

other equity investments Our investees were impacted by the dramatic slowing of the worldwide economy and

the tightening of the credit markets in the fourth quarter of 2008 and into 2009 The economic weakness

resulted in significantly reduced natural gas and oil prices leading to meaningful decline in the overall level of

activity in the markets served by our investees Associated with the weakness in performance of certain of the

investees as well as an evaluation of their financial condition and near-term prospects we recognized that an

other than temporary impairment had occurred on March 31 2009 and December 31 2008 of $41 million and

$80 million respectively
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13 Restructuring Costs

In 2009 we restructured our Charleston West Virginia-based Eastern Division from regional corporate

headquarters to regional field office consistent with the business model the company uses elsewhere in the

country As result we consolidated the management of our Eastern Division land legal accounting

information technology geoscience and engineering departments into our corporate offices in Oklahoma City

The costs of the reorganization include termination benefits consolidating or closing facilities and relocating

employees In addition we had certain other workforce reductions that resulted in termination benefits

summary of Chesapeakes restructuring costs is presented below

Year Ended
December 31 2009

in millions

22

34

14 Fair Value Measurements

Certain financial instruments are reported at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets Under fair

value measurement accounting guidance fair value is defined as the amount that would be received from the

sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of
liability

in an orderly transaction between market participants i.e

an exit price To estimate an exit price three-level hierarchy is used The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the

inputs which refer broadly to assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability into

three levels Level inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

and have the highest priority Level inputs are inputs other than quoted prices within Level that are

observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly Level inputs are unobservable inputs for the

financial asset or liability and have the lowest priority Chesapeake uses market valuation approach based on

available inputs and the following methods and assumptions to measure the fair values of its assets and

liabilities which may or may not be observable in the market

Cash Equivalents The fair value of cash equivalents is based on quoted market prices

Investments The fair value of Chesapeakes investment in Gastar Exploration Ltd NYSE Amex GST
common stock is based on quoted market price

Other Long-Term Assets and Liabilities The fair value of other long-term assets and liabilities consisting

of obligations under our Deferred Compensation Plan is based on quoted market prices

Derivatives The fair values of our commodity derivatives are based on third-party pricing model which

utilizes inputs that are either readily available in the public market such as natural gas and oil forward curves

and discount rates or can be corroborated from active markets or broker quotes These values are then

compared to the values given by our counterparties for reasonableness Since commodity swaps do not

include optionality and therefore have no unobservable inputs they are classified as Level All other

commodity derivatives have some level of unobservable input such as volatility curves and are therefore

classified as Level For interest rate and foreign currency derivatives we use the fair value estimates

provided by our respective counterparties which are classified as Level inputs These values are reviewed

internally for reasonableness using future interest rate curves and time to maturity Derivatives are also subject

to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations We factor in non-performance risk in the

valuation of our derivatives using current published credit default swap rates To date this has not had

material impact on the values of our derivatives

Debt The fair value of certain of our long-term debt is based on the face amount of that debt along with

the value of related interest rate swaps

Termination and relocation costs

Acceleration of restricted stock awards

Other associated costs

Total Restructuring Costs
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The following table provides fair value measurement information for financial assets liabilities measured

at fair value on recurring basis as of December 31 2010

Significant

Quoted Other Significant

Prices in Observable Unobservable

Active Markets Inputs Inputs Total

Level Level Level Fair Value

in millions

Financial Assets Liabilities

Cash equivalents 102 102

Investments 29 29

Other long-term assets 52 52

Long-term debt 1371 131
Other long-term liabilities 52 52

Derivatives

Commodity assets 1364 105 1469

Commodity liabilities 59 2059 2118
Interest rate liabilities 69 69
Foreign currency

liabilities 43 43
Total derivatives 1305 2066 761

Total 131 1305 3437 2001

The following table provides fair value measurement information for financial assets liabilities measured

at fair value on recurring basis as of December 31 2009

Significant

Quoted Other Significant

Prices in Observable Unobservable

Active Markets Inputs Inputs Total

Level Level Level Fair Value

in millions

Financial Assets Liabilities

Cash equivalents 307 307

Investments 32 32

Other long-term assets 34 34

Long-term debt 1398 1398
Other long-term liabilities 34 34

Derivatives

Commodity assets 693 143 836

Commodity liabilities 809 810
Interest rate liabilities 132 132
Foreign currency assets 43 43

Total derivatives 692 755 63
Total 339 692 2153 1122
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summary of the changes in Chesapeakes assets liabilities classified as Level measurements during

2010 and 2009 is presented below

Derivatives

Interest Foreign

Commodity Rate Currency Debt

in millions

Beginning Balance as of

January 2010 666 132 43 1398
Total gains losses realized/unrealized

Included in earnings realizeda 378 14

Included in earnings or change in net

assets unrealizeda 1492 46 63 77

Included in other comprehensive income

loss 25 23
Purchases issuances and settlements 149 50b
Transfers in and out of Level

Ending Balance as of

December 31 2010 1954 69 43 1371

Beginning Balance as of

January 2009 432 63 77 1470
Total gains losses realized/unrealized

Included in earnings realizeda 879 23

Included in earnings or change in net

assets unrealizeda 988 91 25 128
Included in other comprehensive income

loss 28 95

Purchases issuances and settlements 1017 183 200b

Transfers in and out of Level

Ending Balance as of

December 31 2009 666 132 43 1398

Amounts related to commodity derivatives are included in natural gas and oil sales and amounts related to

interest rate and foreign currency derivatives and debt are included in Interest Expense

Amount represents an increase/decrease in debt recorded at tair value as result of new or terminated

interest rate swaps

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The following disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments is made in accordance with

accounting guidance for financial instruments We have determined the estimated fair values by using available

market information and valuation methodologies Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data

to develop the estimates of fair value The use of different market assumptions or valuation methodologies may

have material effect on the estimated fair value amounts

The carrying values of financial instruments comprising current assets and current liabilities approximate

fair values due to the short-term maturities of these instruments We estimate the fair value of our long-term

debt and our convertible preferred stock primarily using quoted market prices Fair value is compared to the

carrying value excluding the impact of interest rate derivatives in the table below

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

in millions

Long-term debt 12631 13272 12226 12824

Convertible preferred stock 3065 3019 466 401
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15 Asset Retirement Obligations

The components of the change in our asset retirement obligations are shown below

Asset retirement obligations beginning of period

Additions

Revisions

Settlements and disposals

Accretion expense

12
15

________

Asset retirement obligations end of period 301
____________

16 Major Customers and Segment Information

There were no sales to individual customers constituting 10% or more of total revenues before the effects

of hedging for the year ended December 31 2010 Major customers for the years ended December 31 2009

and 2008 were as follows

Year Ended
December 31

2009

2008

Customer

EDF Trading North America LLC

Eagle Energy Partners L.P

Amount

in millions

571

1283

In accordance with accounting guidance for disclosures about segments of an enterprise and related

information we have two reportable operating segments Our exploration and production operating segment

and natural gas and oil marketing gathering and compression operating segment are managed separately

because of the nature of their products and services The exploration and production segment is responsible

for finding and producing natural gas and oil The marketing gathering and compression segment is

responsible for marketing gathering and compression of natural gas and oil primarily from Chesapeake-

operated wells We also have drilling rig and trucking operations which are responsible for providing drilling rigs

primarily used on Chesapeake-operated wells and trucking services utilized in the transportation of drilling rigs

on both Chesapeake-operated wells and wells operated by third parties Our drilling rig and trucking service

operations are presented in Other Operations in the table below

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009

in millions

282 269

16 14

15
17

282

Percent of

Total Revenues

10%

12%
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Management evaluates the performance of our segments based upon income loss before income taxes

Revenues from the sale of natural gas and oil related to Chesapeakes ownership interests by the marketing

gathenng and compression segment are reflected as exploration and production revenues Such amounts

totaled $4.0 billion $2.9 billion and $5.5 billion for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The following tables

present selected financial information for Chesapeakes operating segments

Exploration Marketing
and Gathering and Other Intercompany Consolidated

Production Compression Operations Eliminations Total

in millions

For the Year Ended

December 31 2010
Revenues 5647 7433 757 4471$ 9366

Intersegment

revenues 3954 517 4471

Total revenues 5647 3479 240 9366

Depreciation depletion

and

amortization 1546 44 93 69 1614
Other income

expense 14 16

Interest expense 13 19
Impairment of

investments 16 16
Gains losses on sale

of other

property and

equipment 139 137
Other impairments 20 21

Losses on redemptions

or

exchanges of debt .. 129 129
Earnings losses from

equity

investees 34 193 227

INCOME LOSS
BEFORE
INCOME TAXES ... 2561 362 29$ 10$ 2884

TOTAL ASSETS 33632 3458 854 765 37179
NET CAPITAL

EXPENDITURES ... 8671 2011a$ 269 6929

Effective January 2010 in accordance with new authoritative guidance for variable interest entities we
ceased consolidating our midstream joint venture with Global Infrastructure Partners within our financial

statements
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Exploration Marketing

and Gathering and Other Intercompany Consolidated

Production Compression Operations Eliminations Total

in millions

For the Year Ended

December 31 2009

Revenues 5049 5341 414 3102$ 7702

Intersegment

revenues 2878 224 3102

Total revenues 5049 2463 190 7702

Depreciation depletion

and amortization 1556 44 50 35 1615

Other income

expense 11

Interest expense 113 113
Impairment of natural gas

and oil properties 11000 11000

Impairment of

investments 162 162

Gains losses on sale of

other property and

equipment 38 38

Other impairments 13 90 27 130

Losses on redemptions or

exchanges of debt 40 40
Earnings losses from

equity investees 39 39
INCOME LOSS

BEFORE INCOME
TAXES 9173$ 48 70$ 9288

TOTAL ASSETS 25637 4323 660 706 29914
NET CAPITAL

EXPENDITURES 4837 966 290 6093

For the Year Ended

December 31 2008

Revenues 7858 9126 631 5986$ 11629

Intersegment

revenues 5528 458 5986

Total revenues 7858 3598 173 11629

Depreciation depletion

and amortization 2108 28 35 27 2144

Other income

expense 27 27

Interest expense 271 271
Impairment of natural gas

and oil properties 2800 2800

Impairment of

investments 180 180
Other impairments 30 30

Losses or redemptions on

exchanges of debt

Earnings losses from

equity investees 38 38
INCOME LOSS

BEFORE INCOME

TAXES 968 28 82 87$ 991

TOTALASSETS 35415 3416 465 703$ 38593
NET CAPITAL

EXPENDITURES 7658 1765 229 9652
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17 Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Chesapeake Energy Corporation is holding company and owns no operating assets and has no

significant operations independent of its subsidiaries Our obligations under our outstanding senior notes and

contingent convertible senior notes listed in Note are fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and

severally by certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries on senior unsecured basis Our midstream subsidiary

CMD is not guarantor and is subject to covenants in the midstream revolving bank credit facility referred to in

Note that restricts it from paying dividends or distributions or making loans to Chesapeake

Set forth below are condensed consolidating financial statements for Chesapeake Energy Corporation

parent on stand-alone unconsolidated basis and its combined guarantor and combined non-guarantor

subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

The financial information may not necessarily be indicative of results of operations cash flows or financial

position had the subsidiaries operated as independent entities

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2010

in millions

Natural gas and oil properties at

cost based on full-cost

accounting

Other property and equipment

net
___________ _____________

Total Property and Equipment
__________ ____________ ______________ ____________ _____________

Other assets

Investments in subsidiaries and

intercompany advance

TOTAL ASSETS _______ ________ __________ _________ _________

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Intercompany payable receivable

from parent

Total Current Liabilities
_______________ _____________ _____________

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term debt net

Deferred income tax liabilities

Other liabilities
___________ ____________ ______________ _____________ ___________

Total Long-Term Liabilities

EQUITY

Chesapeake stockholders equity

Noncontrolling interest

Total Equity 15264
__________ ____________ __________ ___________

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND

EQUITY

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

Other

Total Current Assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

2$ 100$ 102

3065 123 31 3164

3067 223 31 3266

27822

3230

31052

166 669

1322

1326

700

1217 263
____________

1390 35051 2249

302 4082 137

23664 21939

23362 26021

27826

4552

32378

1535

1480

1511$ 37179

31$ 4490

113

82 4490

12640

113 2384

2401

113 17425

1480 15264

8934
482

72

9488

3612

1879

2322

7813

1612

1749

94

136

237

26315264 1217

1217 263 1480 15264

1390 35051 2249 1511$ 37179
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2009

in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash

equivalents
293

Other 27 2031
_____________ ___________ ____________

Total Current Assets 27 2324
_____________ ___________ ____________

14 307

166 85 2139

180 85 2446

EQUIPMENT
Natural gas and oil

properties at cost based

on full-cost accounting 20792

Other property and

equipment net 2903 3015 5918

Total Property and

Equipment 23691 3019 26710

Other assets 197 541 20 758

Investments in subsidiaries

and intercompany

advance 3029 262 3291

TOTALASSETS 3253 26818 3219 3376$ 29914

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 277 2261 235 85 2688

Intercompany payable

receivable from parent 19388 17572 1729 87

Total Current Liabilities .. 19111 19833 1964 2688

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term debt net 12295

Deferred income tax

liabilities 393 704 49 87 1059

Otherliabilities 168 1360 1531

Total Long-Term

Liabilities 10920 3956 96 87 14885

EQUITY

Chesapeake stockholders

equity 11444 3029 262 3291 11444

Noncontrolling interest 897 897

Total Equity 11444 3029 1159 3291 12341

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND

EQUITY 3253 26818 3219 3376$ 29914

10359 1892 44

PROPERTY AND

20788
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

REVENUES
Natural gas and oil sales

Marketing gathering and

compression sales 3368 248 137 3479

Service operations revenue 240 240

_________
9255 248 137 9366

OPERATING COSTS
Production expenses

Production taxes

General and administrative

expenses

Marketing gathering and

compression expenses

Service operations expense

Natural gas and oil depreciation

depletion and amortization

Depreciation and amortization of

other assets

Gains losses on sales of other

property and equipment

Other impairments

Total Operating Costs

893

157

893

157

421 30 453

3293
208

125 66 3352
208

1394 1394

170 50 220

6539

139
20

86 66

137
21

6561

INCOME LOSS FROM

OPERATIONS 2716 162 71 2805

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest expense

Earnings losses from equity

investees

Losses on redemptions or

exchanges of debt

Impairment of investments

Other income expense

Equity in net earnings of

subsidiary

637 99 718 19

129

718 11 718

Total Other Income

Expense 1757 107 197 1982 79

INCOME LOSS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES 1755 2823 359 2053 2884

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

BENEFIT 19 1018 138 27 1110

NET INCOME LOSS 1774 1805 221 2026$ 1774

34 193 227

5647$

Total Revenues

5647

16
129
16
16

1805 177 1982
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009

in millions

REVENUES
Natural gas and oil sales

Marketing gathering and

compression sales

Service operations revenue

Total Revenues

OPERATING COSTS
Production expenses

Production taxes

General and administrative

expenses

Marketing gathering and

compression expenses

Service operations expense

Natural gas and oil

depreciation depletion and

amortization

Depreciation and amortization

of other assets

Impairment of natural gas and

oil properties

Gains losses on sales of

other property and

equipment

Other impairments

Restructuring costs

Total Operating Costs

INCOME LOSS FROM
OPERATIONS

__________
OTHER INCOME EXPENSE

Interest expense

Earnings losses from equity

investees

Losses on redemptions or

exchanges of debt

Impairment of investments

Other income expense

Equity in net earnings of

subsidiary ____________

Total Other Income

Expense

INCOME LOSS BEFORE

INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

BENEFIT __________
NET INCOME LOSS _________

Net income loss attributable

to noncontrolling interest

NET INCOME LOSS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO

CHESAPEAKE

877

107

318 31

2125 201

182

1371

149 95

11000

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

5049 5049

2181 510 228 2463

190 190

7420 510 228 7702

876

107

349

10 2316

182

1371

244

11000

38 38

40 90 130

34 34

___________
16203 454 10 16647

8783 56 218 8945

652 145 685 113

39 39

40 40
162 162

685 53 42 685 11

5826 153 5979

5833 446 43 5979 343

5833 9229 13 5761 9288

3403 82 3483

5830 5826 5843 5805

25 25

5830 5826$ 17$ 5843 5830
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

REVENUES
Natural gas and oil sales

Marketing gathering and

compression sales

Service operations

revenue

OPERATING COSTS
Production expenses

Production taxes

General and administrative

expenses

Marketing gathering and

compression

expenses

Service operations

expense

Natural gas and oil

depreciation depletion

and amortization

Depreciation and

amortization of other

assets

Impairment of natural gas

and oil properties

Other impairments

Total Operating Costs

INCOME LOSS FROM
OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME

EXPENSE
Interest expense

Earnings losses from

equity investees

Losses on redemptions or

exchanges of debt

Impairment of

investments

Other income expense

Equity in net earnings of

subsidiary

Total Other Income

Expense

INCOME LOSS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

BENEFIT

NET INCOME LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2008

in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

7858$ 7858

3420 333 155 3598

173 173

11451 333 155 11629

284

889

284

17

2800
30

17 10172

14 1508 101 138 1457

630 197 558

38 38

180 180
27558

659 20
_____________

639 ______________

583 414 639 466

569 1094 105

35 435 41

604$ 659$ 64

777

Total Revenues

890

13

142

364 377

3363 3505

143 143

1970 1970

14 129 174

2800
30

______________

14 9943 232
_____________

48

271

558 21

991

54 387

723 604
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING

ACTIVITIES 4758 359 5117

CASH FLOWS FROM

IN VESTING

ACTIVITIES

Additions to natural gas

and oil properties 12187 12187
Proceeds from

divestitures of natural

gas and oil

properties 4292 4292

Additions to other

property and

equipment 561 765 1326
Other investing

activities 329 659 270 718

Cash used in investing

activities 8127 106 270 8503

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from credit

facilities borrowings 14384 733 15117

Payments on credit

facilities borrowings 12664 639 13303
Proceeds from issuance

of senior notes net of

offering costs 1967 1967

Proceeds from preferred

stock net of offering

costs 2562 2562

Cash paid to redeem

debt 3434 3434
Other financing

activities 339 1158 277 270 272

Intercompany advances

net 756 200 16 540

Cash provided by

used in financing

activities 3078 167 270 3181

Net increase decrease in

cash and cash

equivalents 291 86 205
Cash and cash

equivalents beginning of

period 293 14 307

Cash and cash

equivalents end of

period 2$ 100$ 102
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009

in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 4512 156$ 4356

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING

ACTIVITIES

Additions to natural gas

and oil properties 5840 5840
Proceeds from

divestitures of natural

gas and oil

properties 1926 1926

Additions to other

property and

equipment 894 789 1683
Other investing

activities 79 56 135

Cash used in investing

activities 4729 733 5462

CASH FLOWS FROM

FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from credit

facilities borrowings 6933 828 7761

Payments on credit

facilities borrowings 8514 1244 9758
Proceeds from issuance

of senior notes net of

offering costs 1346 1346

Proceeds from sales of

noncontrolling interest

in midstream joint

venture 588 588

Other financing

activities 276 65 62 273
Intercompany advances

net 1070 277 793

Cash provided by

financing

activities 1239 903 336

Net increase decrease in

cash and cash

equivalents 1456 14 1442
Cash and cash

equivalents beginning of

period 1749 1749

Cash and cash

equivalents end of

period 293$ 14$ 307
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2008

in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING

ACTIVITIES 156 5719 175 693$ 5357

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to natural gas

and oil properties 14697 14697
Proceeds from divestitures

of natural gas and oil

properties 7670 7670

Additions to other property

and equipment 1759 1314 3073
Other investing activities 135 135

Cash used in investing

activities
____________

8651 1314 9965

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Prnceeds frnm credit

facilities borrowings 12831 460 13291

Payments on credit

facilities borrowings 11307 11307
Proceeds from issuance of

senior notes net of

offeringcosts 2136 2136

Proceeds from issuance of

common stock net of

offering costs 2598 2598

Cash paid to redeem

debt 312 312
Other financing activities 202 131 21 50
Intercompany advances

net 4376 3025 658 693

Cash provided by used

in financing

activities 156 4680 1139 693 6356

Net increase decrease in

cash and cash

equivalents 1748 1748

Cash and cash equivalents

beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents

end of period 1749 1749
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

18 Quarterly Financial Data unaudited

Total revenues

Gross profita

Net income attributable to Chesapeake
Net income available to common

stockholders

Net earnings per common share

Basic

Diluted

Total revenues

Gross profit lossab
Net income loss attributable to

Chesapeakeb
Net income loss available to common

stockholdersb

Net earnings loss per common share

Bsic

Diluted

Total revenue less operating costs

Includes before-tax ceiling test write-down of $9.6 billion and $1 .4 billion on our natural gas and oil

properties for the quarters ended March 31 2009 and December 31 2009 respectively

19 Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB recently issued the following standards which we

reviewed to determine the potential impact on our financial statements upon adoption

In February 2010 the FASB amended its guidance on subsequent events to remove the requirement for

SEC filers to disclose the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events The guidance was

effective upon issuance We adopted this guidance in 2010

The FASB also issued new guidance requiring additional disclosures about fair value measurements

adding new requirement to disclose transfers in and out of Levels and measurements and gross

presentation of activity within Level roll forward The guidance also clarified existing disclosure

requirements regarding the level of disaggregation of fair value measurements and disclosures regarding

inputs and valuation techniques We adopted this guidance in 2010 Adoption had no impact on our financial

position or results of operations Required disclosures for the reconciliation of purchases sales issuance and

settlements of financial instruments valued with Level method are effective beginning on January 2011
and we do not expect the implementation to have material impact on our financial position or results of

operations See Note 14 for discussion regarding fair value measurements

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data for 2010 and 2009 are as follows in millions except per

share data

Quarters Ended

March 31
2010

June 30 September 30
2010 2010

December 31
2010

2798

1212

738

2012 2581

447 817

255 558

1975

329

223

732 235 515 181

1.16

1.14

0.37 0.81

0.37 0.75

0.29

0.28

Quarters Ended

March 31 June 30
2009 2009

1995 1673

9053 424

September 30
2009

1811

397

December 31
2009

2222

713

5740 243 192 524

5746 237 186 530

9.63 0.39

9.63 0.39

0.30

0.30

0.84

0.84

133



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

20 Subsequent Events

Fayetteville Shale Asset Sale

On February 21 2011 we entered into purchase and sale agreement with BHP Billiton Petroleum

wholly owned subsidiary of BHP Billiton Limited to sell all of our Fayetteville Shale assets in Central Arkansas

for $4.75 billion in cash before certain deductions and standard closing adjustments The assets include

approximately 487000 net acres of leasehold and producing natural gas properties and midstream assets with

approximately 420 miles of pipeline In the Fayetteville Shale our current net production is approximately 415

mmcfe per day As part of the transaction Chesapeake has agreed to provide essential services for up to one

year for BHP Billitons Fayetteville properties for an agreed-upon fee Closing of the transaction is subject to

customary conditions including filings under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 and

with the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States Closing is expected to occur in the first half of

2011

Niobrara Project Cooperation Agreement

On February 16 2011 CNOOC International Limited wholly owned subsidiary of CNOOC Limited

purchased 33.3% undivided interest in our 800000 net natural gas and oil leasehold acres in the DJ and

Powder River Basins in northeast Colorado and southeast Wyoming The consideration for the transaction was

$570 million in cash In addition CNOOC has agreed to fund 66.7% of our share of drilling and completion

costs until an additional $697 million has been paid which we expect to occur by year-end 2014 CNOOC also

has the right to 33.3% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the Niobrara Shale

Senior Notes Issuance

On February 11 2011 we issued $1.0 billion of 6.125% Senior Notes due 2021 in registered public

offering We used the net proceeds of $977 million from the offering to repay indebtedness outstanding under

our revolving bank credit facility
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Schedule II

CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

in millions

Additions

Balance at Charged Charged To Balance at

Beginning To Other End
Description of Period Expense Accounts Deductions of Period

December 31 2010

Allowance for doubtful accounts 24 18

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets

December 31 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts 12 12 24

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets

December 31 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts 12

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets
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ITEM Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

ITEM 9A Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be

disclosed by Chesapeake in reports filed or submitted by it under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is

recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and

Exchange Commission rules and forms As of December 31 2010 we carried out an evaluation under the

supervision and with the participation of Chesapeake management including Chesapeakes Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of Chesapeakes disclosure

controls and procedures pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15b Based upon that evaluation our

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are

effective as of December 31 2010 to ensure that information required to be disclosed by Chesapeake is

accumulated and communicated to Chesapeake management including Chesapeakes Chief Executive Officer

and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Changes in Internal Controls

No changes in the companys internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended

December 31 2010 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the companys

internal control over financial reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements annual report on internal control over financial reporting and the audit report on our internal

control over financial reporting of our independent registered public accounting firm are included in Item of

this report

ITEM 9B Other Information

Not applicable
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PART III

ITEM 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information called for by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than May 2011

ITEM 11 Executive Compensation

The information called for by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than May 2011

ITEM 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information called for by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than May 2011

ITEM 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information called for by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than May 2011

ITEM 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information called for by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than May 2011
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PART IV

ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this report

Financial Statements Chesapeakes consolidated financial statements are included in Item of this

report Reference is made to the accompanying Index to Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules Schedule II is included in Item of this report with our consolidated

financial statements No other financial statement schedules are applicable or required

Exhibits The following exhibits are filed herewith pursuant to the requirements of Item 601 of

Regulation S-K

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed Furnished

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith Herewith

3.1.1 Chesapeakes Restated Certificate of 10-0 001-13726 3.1.1 08/10/2009

Incorporation as amended

3.1.2 Certificate of Designation of 5% 10-0 001-13726 3.1.4 11/10/2008

Cumulative Convertible Preferred

Stock Series 2005B as amended

3.1.3 Certificate of Designation of 4.5% 10-0 001-13726 3.1.6 08/11/2008

Cumulative Convertible Preferred

Stock as amended

3.1.4 Certificate of Designation of 5.75% 8-K 001-13726 3.2 05/20/2010

Cumulative Non-Voting Convertible

Preferred Stock Series

3.1.5 Certificate of Designation of 5.75% 10-0 001-13726 3.1.5 08/09/2010

Cumulative Non-Voting Convertible

Preferred Stock as amended

3.2 Chesapeakes Amended and Restated 8-K 001-13726 3.1 11/17/2008

Bylaws

4.1 Indenture dated as of August 16 2005 8-K 001-13726 4.1 08/16/2005

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company

N.A as Trustee with respect to 6.5%

Senior Notes due 2017

4.2 Indenture dated as of November 8-K 001-13726 4.1.1 11/15/2005

2005 among Chesapeake as issuer

the subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee with respect to

6.875% Senior Notes due 2020

43 Indenture dated as of November 8-K 001-13726 4.1.2 11/15/2005

2005 among Chesapeake as issuer

the subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee with respect to

2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior

Notes due 2035
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed Furnished

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith Herewith

44 Indenture dated as of June 30 2006 8-K 001-13726 4.1 06/30/2006

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee with respect to

7.625% Senior Notes due 2013

45 Indenture dated as of December 8-K 001-13726 4.1 12/06/2006

2006 among Chesapeake as issuer

the subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors The Bank of

New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee AIB/BNY Fund

Management Ireland Limited as Irish

Paying Agent and Transfer Agent and

The Bank of New York London

Branch as Registrar Transfer Agent

and Paying Agent with respect to

6.25% Senior Notes due 2017

4.6 Indenture dated as of May 15 2007 8-K 001-13726 4.1 05/15/2007

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee with respect to 2.5%

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes

due 2037

47 Indenture dated as of May 27 2008 8-K 001-13726 4.1 05/29/2008

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee with respect to

7.25% Senior Notes due 2018

4.8 Indenture dated as of May 27 2008 8-K 001-13726 4.2 05/29/2008

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee with respect to

2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior

Notes due 2038

49 Indenture dated as of February 8-K 001-13726 4.1 02/03/2009

2009 among Chesapeake as issuer

the subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee with respect to 9.5%

Senior Notes due 2015

4.9.1 First Supplemental Indenture dated as 8-K 001-13726 4.2 02/17/2009

of February 10 2009 to Indenture

dated as of February 2009 with

respect to additional 9.5% Senior

Notes due 2015
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed Furnished

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith Herewith

4.10 Indenture dated as of August 2010 S-3 333-168509 4.1 08/03/2010

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and the Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company
N.A as Trustee

4.10.1 First Supplemental Indenture dated 8-A 001-13726 4.2 9/24/2010

as of August 17 2010 to Indenture

dated as of August 2010 with

respect to 6.875% Senior Notes due

2018

4.10.2 Second Supplemental Indenture 8-A 001-13726 4.3 9/24/2010

dated as of August 17 2010 to

Indenture dated as of August

2010 with respect to 6.625% Senior

Notes due 2020

4.10.3 Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated 8-A 001-13726 4.2 2/22/2011

February 11 2011 to Indenture dated

as of August 2010 with respect to

6.125% Senior Notes due 2021

4.12 Eighth Amended and Restated Credit 8-K 001-13726 4.1 12/8/2010

Agreement dated as of December

2010 among Chesapeake Energy

Corporation as the Company

Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C as

Borrower Union Bank N.A as

Administrative Agent Wells Fargo

Bank National Association The

Royal Bank of Scotland plc and BNP

Paribas as Co-Syndication Agent
Credit Agricole Corporate and

Investment Bank as Documentation

Agent and the several lenders from

time to time parties thereto

10.1.lt Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Incentive 10-Q 001-13726 10.1.1 11/09/2009

Plan as amended

10.1.2t Chesapeakes 1992 Nonstatutory 10-0 001-13726 10.1.2 02/14/1997

Stock Option Plan as amended

10.1.3t Chesapeakes 1994 Stock Option 10-0 001-13726 10.1.3 11/07/2006

Plan as amended

10.1.4t Chesapeakes 1996 Stock Option 10-0 001-13726 10.1.4 11/07/2006

Plan as amended

10.1St Chesapeakes 1999 Stock Option 10-0 001-13726 10.1.5 08/11/2008

Plan as amended

10.1.6t Chesapeakes 2000 Employee Stock 10-0 001-13726 10.1.6 08/11/2008

Option Plan as amended

10.1.7t Chesapeakes 2001 Stock Option 10-0 001-13726 10.1.8 08/11/2008

Plan as amended

10.1.8t Chesapeakes 2001 Nonqualified 10-0 001-13726 10.1.10 08/11/2008

Stock Option Plan as amended
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed Furnished

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith Herewith

10.1.9t Chesapeakes 2002 Stock Option 10-0 001-13726 10.1.11 08/11/2008

Plan as amended

10.1.lOt Chesapeakes 2002 Non- 10-0 001-13726 10.1.12 08/11/2008

Employee Director Stock Option

Plan

10.1.llt Chesapeakes 2002 Nonqualified 10-0 001-13726 10.1.13 08/11/2008

Stock Option Plan as amended

10.1.12t Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Award 10-K 001-13726 10.1.14 02/29/2008

Plan for Non-Employee Directors

as amended

10.1.13t Chesapeake Energy Corporation

Amended and Restated Deferred

Compensation Plan

10.1.14t Chesapeakes Amended and 8-K 001-13726 10.1.14 06/17/2010

Restated Long Term Incentive

Plan

10.1.14.lt Form of Restricted Stock Award

Agreement for the Long Term

Incentive Plan

10.1.14.2t Form of Non-Employee Director 8-K 001-13726 10.1.18.3 06/16/2005

Restricted Stock Award

Agreement for the Long Term

Incentive Plan

10.1.1St Founder Well Participation DEF 001-13726 04/29/2005

Program -14A

10.2ff Third Amended and Restated 10-0 001-13726 10.2.1 05/11/2009

Employment Agreement dated as

of March 2009 between Aubrey

McClendon and Chesapeake

Energy Corporation

10.2.2t Amended and Restated 8-K 001-13726 10.2.2 10/01/2009

Employment Agreement dated as

of September 30 2009 between

Marcus Rowland and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.2.3t Amended and Restated 8-K 001-13726 10.2.3 10/01/2009

Employment Agreement dated as

of September 30 2009 between

Steven Dixon and Chesapeake

Energy Corporation

10.2.4t Amended and Restated 8-K 001-13726 10.2.4 10/01/2009

Employment Agreement dated as

of September 30 2009 between

Mark Lester and Chesapeake

Energy Corporation

10.2.5t Amended and Restated 8-K 001-13726 10.2.5 10/01/2009

Employment Agreement dated as

of September 30 2009 between

Douglas Jacobson and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed Furnished

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith Herewith

10.2.61- Employment Agreement dated as of 10-0 001-13726 10.2 11/09/2010

November 2010 between Domenic

DellOsso Jr and Chesapeake

Energy Corporation

10.2.71- Employment Agreement dated as of

September 30 2009 between Martha

Burger and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation

10.2.81- Form of Employment Agreement 10-0 001-13726 10.2.7 11/09/2009

between Senior Vice President and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.31- Form of Indemnity Agreement for 10-K 001-13726 10.3 02/29/2008

officers and directors of Chesapeake

and its subsidiaries

12 Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges

and Combined Fixed Charges and

Preferred Dividends

21 Subsidiaries of Chesapeake

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers

LLP

23.2 Consent of Netherland Sewell

Associates Inc

23.3 Consent of Data Consulting

Services Division of Schlumberger

Technology Corporation

23.4 Consent of Lee Keeling and

Associates Inc

23.5 Consent of Ryder Scott Company L.P

31.1 Aubrey McClendon Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer Certification

pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Domenic DellOsso Jr Executive

Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer Certification pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

32.1 Aubrey McClendon Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer Certification

pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Domenic DellOsso Jr Executive

Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer Certification pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

99.1 Report of Netherland Sewell

Associates Inc
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Exhibit SEC File Filed Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith Herewith

99.2 Report of Data Consulting Services

Division of Schlumberger Technology

Corporation

99.3 Report of Lee Keeling and Associates

Inc

99.4 Report of Ryder Scott Company L.P

1O1.INS XBRL Instance Document

1O1.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

Document

1O1.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension

Calculation Linkbase Document

1O1.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition

Linkbase Document

1O1.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels

Linkbase Document

1O1.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension

Presentation Linkbase Document

Chesapeake agrees to furnish copy of any of its unfiled long-term debt instruments to the

Securities and Exchange Commission upon request

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CHFSAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION

Date March 12011 By
AUBREY MCCLENDON

Aubrey McClendon

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Aubrey McClendon and Domenic

DellOsso Jr and each of them either one of whom may act without joinder of the other his true and lawful

attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution for him and in his name place

and stead in any and all capacities to sign any or all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to

file the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and

Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them full power and

authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the

premises as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming

all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them or the substitute or substitutes of any or all of

them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below

by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Capacity Date

/5/ AUBREY MCCLENDON Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer
March 2011

Aubrey McClendon and Director Principal Executive Officer

/S/ DOMENIC DELLOSSO JR
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial

March 2011

Domenic DellOsso Jr Officer Principal Financial Officer

Is MICHAEL JOHNSON Senior Vice President Accounting Controller March 2011

Michael Johnson and Chief Accounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

Is RICHARD DAVIDSON Director March 2011

Richard Davidson

/5/ KATHLEEN EISBRENNER Director March 2011

Kathleen Eisbrenner

Is BURNS HARGIS Director March 2011

Burns Hargis

Is FRANK KEATING Director March 2011

Frank Keating

Is CHARI ES MAXWELL Director March 2011

Charles Maxwell

Is MERRILL MILLER JR Director March 1.2011

Merrill Miller Jr

Is DON NICKLES Director March 2011

Don Nickles

Is FREDERICK WHITTEMORE Director March 2011

Frederick Whittemore
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